Cover Page



Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/37582</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Oever, Jessica Maria Elisabeth van den Title: Noninvasive prenatal detection of genetic defects Issue Date: 2016-02-03

Noninvasive prenatal detection of genetic defects.

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit van Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof. mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 3 februari 2016 klokke 16.15 uur

door

Jessica Maria Elisabeth van den Oever

geboren te Roosendaal in 1980.

Promotor:	Prof. dr. E. Bakker
Co-promotor:	Dr. E.M.J. Boon
Leden promotiecommissie:	Prof. dr. M.H. Breuning Prof. dr. G.C.M.L. Page - Christiaens (UMCU, Utrecht) Prof. dr. D. Oepkes Prof. dr. C.M.A. van Ravenswaaij - Arts (UMCG, Groningen)

The research described in this thesis was performed at the Laboratory for Diagnostic Genome Analysis of the Leiden University Medical Center.

The printing of this thesis was financially supported by BIOKÉ, GC Biotech, NVOG and the Department of Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center.

ISBN: 978-94-6295431-1

© 2016, Jessica van den Oever

Cover design and printed by: Uitgeverij BOXPress

Contents

List of abbreviations	4
Chapter 1: General introduction	7
Chapter 2 : mRASSF1A-PAP, a novel methylation-based assay for the detection of cell-free DNA in maternal plasma	e fetal 23
Chapter 3 : Single Molecule Sequencing of Free DNA from Maternal Plasma for Nonim Trisomy 21 Detection	vasive 39
Chapter 4: Successful Noninvasive Trisomy 18 Detection Using Single Molecule Sequence	ing 55
Chapter 5 : A novel targeted approach for noninvasive detection of paternally inherited tions in maternal plasma	muta- 65
Chapter 6 : Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington Disease; detection of the pate inherited expanded CAG repeat in maternal plasma	ernally 81
Chapter 7: Discussion	93
Chapter 8: Summary	103
Samenvatting	107
References	111
Curriculum vitae	129
Publications and Presentations	133
Dankwoord	139
Appendix 1: Confined placental mosaicism	143
Appendix 2: Epigenetic allelic ratio, haplotype ratio analysis and relative mutation dosa	ge. 146
Appendix 3: Calculations for trisomy detection	149

List of abbreviations

Cf(f)DNA	Cell-free (fetal) DNA
CPM	Confined placental mosaicism
CVS	Chorionic villus sampling
DMR	Differentially methylated region
EAR	Epigenetic allelic ratio
FCT	First trimester combined test
HTT	Huntingtin gene
LNA	Locked nucleic acid
LTC	Long-term culture
MP	Microparticle
MPS	Massive parallel sequencing
MSP	Methylation specific PCR
NGS	Next Generation Sequencing
NIPD	Noninvasive prenatal diagnostics
NIPT	Noninvasive prenatal testing
NCV	Normalized chromosome value
NT	Nuchal translucency
PE	Paired-end
QF-PCR	Quantitative fluorescent PCR
(m) <i>RASSF1A</i>	(methylated) Ras association (RalGDS/AF-6) domain fami-
	ly member 1, isoform or transcript variant A
RHD	Rhesus D gene
RMD	Relative mutation dosage
RSTD	Relative sequence tag density
SMS	Single molecule sequencing
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SRY	Sex determining region Y
STC	Short-term culture
T13	Trisomy 13, Patau syndrome
T18	Trisomy 18, Edwards syndrome
T21	Trisomy 21, Down syndrome
TFM	True fetal mosaicism
WGS	Whole genome sequencing



Chapter 1

General introduction

1

Chapter 1: General introduction

1.1. Current prenatal testing in the Netherlands

In the Netherlands, prenatal screening has been offered to pregnant women since the 1970s. The main focus has been on screening for fetal aneuploidies, such as Down syndrome (trisomy 21, T21). In the past few decades, screening approaches have changed. Originally risk assessments were only based on alpha-fetoprotein concentrations in maternal serum. Currently, prenatal screening is performed by use of a first trimester combined test (FCT), together with a 20-week anomaly scan to screen for neural tube defects and other structural abnormalities. FCT is a noninvasive screening method that uses an individualized risk-calculation to estimate the chance of carrying a fetus with a fetal trisomy (GEZONDHEIDSRAAD, 2001; VER-WEIJ, 2014). In the first trimester, several parameters have been established for FCT calculations, such as biomarker measurement in maternal serum (e.g. intact or total human chorionic gonadotropin and pregnancy-associated plasma protein A) and a nuchal translucency (NT) scan. During this scan, the amount of fluid at the back of the neck of the fetus is determined. Increased amounts of this fluid will result in an increased NT and this may indicate that the fetus has a chromosomal abnormality. Both these parameters, combined with maternal age are subsequently used to calculate the *a posteriori* risk for women of carrying a fetus with fetal trisomy 13, 18 or 21 (MOL et al., 2004). Subsequently, women can be offered amniocentesis or chorionic villi sampling (CVS) for further prenatal testing. Both methods involve an invasive procedure to obtain fetal DNA for subsequent DNA analysis in the laboratory and have a small procedure-related risk of miscarriage (MUJEZINOVIC et al., 2007; TABOR et al., 2010; AKOLEKAR et al., 2014). Because of this risk, currently only women with an increased risk after FCT (i.e. an a priori risk of >1:200) or women at risk because of genetic indications (e.g. a familial monogenic disease or a previous child with a chromosomal anomaly) are offered invasive prenatal testing (www.rivm.nl).



Figure 1: Transcervical chorionic villus sampling of fetal material from the chorion membrane of the placenta (left) and amniocentesis; sampling of amniotic fluid from the uterus (right). Adapted from <u>www.hopkinsmedicine.org</u>.

CVS is usually performed around 11-14 wks of gestation and can be executed both transcervically or transabdominally. Ultrasound is used to guide the catheter/ forceps to obtain placental tissue for DNA isolation (**Fig. 1**). However, when performing genetic testing on chorionic villi DNA, false positive and false negative results are possible due to confined placental mosaicism (CPM; **Appendix 1**). In case of suspected mosaicism amniocentesis is recommended to determine the type of mosaicism (i.e. CPM or true fetal mosaicism (TFM)). With amniocentesis or amniotic fluid sampling a small amount of amniotic fluid is sampled from the amniotic sac surrounding a developing fetus (**Fig. 1**). Amniocentesis can be performed as early as 15 weeks though it is usually performed between 16 and 22 weeks of gestation.

Fetal genetic material obtained through either one of these invasive procedures is subsequently used for prenatal diagnosis in the laboratory and this analysis can be performed with cytogenetic as well as molecular techniques. Cytogenetic techniques include G-banding analysis/ karyotyping or FISH (fluorescent in situ hybridization) analysis of chromosomes and are used to facilitate interpretation of possible translocations and/or mosaic findings (Appendix 1). Both amniocytes and chorionic villi can be cultured ex vivo. For CVS analysis in general a combined approach of both direct preparation/short-term culture (STC) and long-term culture (LTC) is preferred. This culturing process on average takes about two weeks. Direct DNA isolation or DNA isolation from cultured cells for molecular analysis can be performed in a shorter time frame. Results of subsequent molecular analysis can be obtained within a few hours. An example of a molecular technique for prenatal diagnosis is quantitative fluorescent polymerase chain reaction (QF-PCR). QF-PCR was introduced as a fast, precise and cost-effective alternative to analyze the most common autosomal and sex chromosomal aneuploidies and is based on multiplex PCR amplification of multiple genetic markers on chromosome 13, 18, 21, X and Y, together with some additional controls on different autosomes. Karyotyping, which is still considered to be the gold standard for prenatal genetic testing, should be performed additionally to QF-PCR to confirm results in case of an aneuploidy. Moreover, karyotyping is performed in case of a parental/familial chromosomal anomaly such as translocations (balanced/ unbalanced) or inversions, often complimented with additional FISH analysis or chromosomal microarrays. The diagnostic accuracy of performing prenatal diagnosis on fetal material obtained in these invasive procedures is virtually 100%. However, similar to every other medical intervention, the invasive procedures used for obtaining the fetal genetic material are associated with procedure-related risks such as miscarriage (MUJEZINOVIC et al., 2007; TABOR et al., 2010; AKOLEKAR et al., 2014). Therefore, researchers have been exploring other minimally invasive or noninvasive ways to sample fetal material, to diminish such procedure associated risks of miscarriage and to have prenatal diagnosis available to more women.

In addition to invasive testing, with the start of the TRIDENT study (TRial by Dutch laboratories for Evaluation of Noninvasive prenatal Testing) in April 2014, in the Netherlands women with high risk pregnancies (i.e. *a priori* risk >1:200 in the FCT) are offered an additional option for fetal trisomy screening. During this national implementation study, women with high risk pregnancies may opt for noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT) in which fetal trisomy screening is performed by use of Next Generation Sequencing (NGS). With the availability of this additional screening method, the number of invasive procedures and subsequent risk of miscarriage can be reduced.

1.2. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis

In the past decades, a lot of effort has been put into developing tests for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) that would eliminate the small but significant risk (< 1%) of procedure-related fetal loss and would be equally reliable as the results of prenatal testing after invasive sampling (MUJEZINOVIC *et al.*, 2007; TABOR *et al.*, 2010; AKOLEKAR *et al.*, 2014). Already at the end of the 19th century, maternal blood was considered to be a useful source of fetal genetic material for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis when the first observation of fetal cells present in maternal circulation was published (SCHMORL, 1893).

1.2.1. Fetal cells

Georg Schmorl is considered to be the first researcher to document on feto-maternal cellular trafficking after identifying trophoblast cells in lung capillaries of woman dying of eclampsia (SCHMORL, 1893; LAPAIRE *et al.*, 2007). He also speculated that feto-maternal trafficking might occur in normal gestations. This theory has indeed been confirmed in the past century by many others scientists that have reported findings of a variety of fetal cells present in maternal circulation.

The presence of fetal leukocytes in maternal circulation was first described by the group of Walknowska *et al.* (WALKNOWSKA *et al.*, 1969). They identified metaphases of male origin in cultured lymphocytes isolated from blood of healthy pregnant woman, who subsequently gave birth to a male infant. Fetal leukocytes do not have a limited life span and are therefore likely to persist between pregnancies. In addition to the study of Walknowska *et al.*, Bianchi *et al.* described the prolonged persistence of male progenitor cells in a woman who had her last son 27 years prior to blood sampling (BIANCHI *et al.*, 1996). As fetal leukocytes may persist through multiple pregnancies for long periods of time, they are not likely to be considered the best source for NIPD on fetal cells, since it is very difficult to distinguish between cells derived from the current or a previous pregnancy.

In contrast to fetal leukocytes, nucleated red blood cells (NRBCs) and their precursors could be a better source of fetal genetic material for NIPD. They are of interest because they are mononuclear and present in abundance in the fetus in the first trimester, while rare in maternal blood (BIANCHI, 1995). In contrast to fetal leukocytes, NRBCs do have a limited life span with a relatively short half-life of about 25-35 days (PEARSON, 1967).

Placental trophoblast cells are another potential source of fetal material to be sampled from maternal blood. Trophoblasts are the main cellular components of the placenta and originate from the trophectoderm of the blastocyst early in pregnancy (STRASZEWSKI-CHAVEZ *et al.*, 2005). One of the potential drawbacks to the use of throphoblasts for noninvasive fetal cytogenetic diagnosis includes the previously mentioned phenomenon of CPM (**Appendix 1**). As a developing organ, the placenta undergoes constant tissue remodeling. The turnover time of a villous trophoblast cell is around 3-4 wks (HUPPERTZ *et al.*, 2004). Deportation of the detached end stage syncytial cells to the maternal lung is a process that occurs in all human pregnancies. The number of cells increases with gestation and has been described to increase even further in patients with pathologic conditions such as (pre-)eclampsia (TJOA *et al.*, 2006; BENIRSCHKE *et al.*, 2010).

Even though there are some cell types that can be a potential source of fetal genetic material to be used in NIPD, the number of fetal cells that can be isolated from maternal blood is limited. Isolation and enrichment of these cells remains therefore challenging because of their low frequency in maternal blood (OOSTERWIJK *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.2. Cell-free fetal DNA

Instead of looking for intact fetal cells, in 1997 the group of Lo *et al.* was the first to show the presence of fetal genetic material in the acellular component of blood. They demonstrated the detection of Y chromosomal sequences in plasma and serum of woman pregnant with male fetuses (Lo *et al.*, 1997). However, they were actually not the first scientists to observe elevated levels of genetic material in maternal plasma. Elevated levels of nucleic acids (DNA and RNA) in plasma of a pregnant woman had already been observed over 60 years ago by Mandel

and Métais, who were the first to measure nucleic acids in human plasma in 10 healthy subjects and 15 subjects with various conditions, including 1 pregnant female at 7 months of gestation (MANDEL *et al.*, 1948). In two independent measurements they found distinct elevated levels of nucleic acids in maternal plasma and already expressed their interest in a follow-up of this interesting study object. A few decades later increased quantities of DNA were also found in serum of cancer patients in the study of Leon *et al.* (LEON *et al.*, 1977). Reasoning that the rapidly growing fetus and placenta possessed "pseudomalignant" tumor-like qualities, the group of Lo *et al.* was the first to show that there is significantly more placental DNA present in cell-free plasma (or serum) of pregnant women as compared to the number of intact fetal cells in the cellular fraction of maternal blood during pregnancy (Lo *et al.*, 1997). Moreover, placental DNA fragments could also be detected in maternal urine (TSUI *et al.*, 2012). These circulating placental DNA fragments in the maternal circulation are (perhaps erroneously) referred to as cell free fetal DNA (cffDNA), since the placenta may not always fully reflect the actual fetal karyotype.

Low levels of circulating cell free DNA (cfDNA) in plasma are a common phenomenon in every individual as a result of clearance of cells dying of apoptosis. However, during pregnancy, total levels of circulating cfDNA increase due to the additional placental contribution. These levels of placental cffDNA have been reported to be present from as early as 4 weeks of gestation (ILLANES et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the fetal fraction or percentage of placental cffDNA in plasma is relatively small in the first trimester. The majority of total cfDNA in maternal plasma is of maternal hematopoietic origin (LUI et al., 2002). Fetal fraction is one of most crucial factors influencing NIPD or NIPT results and has been subject of study in many publications (CHU et al., 2010; JIANG et al., 2012b; CANICK et al., 2013; HUDECOVA et al., 2014). Blood withdrawal for noninvasive testing is usually performed around 10-11 weeks of gestation. The percentage of cffDNA in the first trimester is on average ~10%, but differs quite extensively in range depending on gestational age and between individuals (Lo et al., 1998; LUN et al., 2008a; Go et al., 2010; SIKORA et al., 2010; CHIU et al., 2011a; HAHN et al., 2011). Sampling later on in pregnancy (e.g. second or third trimester) will consequently result in a higher percentage of placental sequences and thus a higher fetal fraction. However, the great advantages of NIPD and NIPT is that it can be applied already very early on in gestation. Moreover, since maternal blood withdrawal has no risk for the fetus, it is preferred over invasive sampling procedures.

High maternal weight and inherent increased body-mass index (BMI) have been shown to negatively influence the amount of placental DNA recovered from maternal plasma and consequently influence the success rate of downstream testing (PALOMAKI et al., 2011; SPARKS et al., 2012a; ASHOOR et al., 2013; WANG et al., 2013; HUDECOVA et al., 2014). There is an increased turnover of adipocytes in obese women. A high level of apoptosis in maternal blood may result in a lower fetal fraction, since the total amount of maternal cfDNA in plasma increases, at the expense of the percentage of placental DNA fragments. There has been some debate about whether BMI or maternal weight alone would be the best indicator for success rate. BMI corrects for length. However, tall women may also have a higher total blood volume as compared to smaller women with similar weight. This higher blood volume may also result in a dilution effect on the percentage of cffDNA (WANG et al., 2013). For counting-based technologies such as shotgun whole genome sequencing or targeted sequencing a fetal fraction > 4% is required for analysis (EHRICH et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2012). Several studies show that the failure rate of testing with insufficient fetal fraction increases extensively with a maternal weight of 100 kg or higher (WANG et al., 2013; CANICK et al., 2013; ASHOOR et al., 2013). The ultimate covariates for the prediction of the success rate for NIPD or NIPT have not been determined yet. Preferably, covariates such as weight, height, body type and BMI should be provided and documented with each request for NIPT to determine which of these covariates would be the best predictor of the success rate and ultimately results in the best fetal fraction determination in a large data set.

Total cfDNA can be isolated from maternal plasma. Plasma separation from blood is mostly performed by centrifugation. More recently, options for microscale methods for plasma isolation have become available with microfluidic chips. Plasma can be isolated from blood cells passively either through sedimentation of cells, microfiltration of cells through pores or cell deviation of cells flowing in microchannels. Another option is active separation by use of an external field (e.g. acoustic, electric or magnetic) (KERSAUDY-KERHOAS *et al.*, 2013; KERSAU-DY-KERHOAS *et al.*, 2014). CffDNA in plasma from pregnant women appears to be stable up to 5 days after blood withdrawal (MULLER *et al.*, 2011). Maternal blood cells on the other hand are not stable. Lysis of maternal blood cells will lead to a massive increase of the total amount of cfDNA, resulting in a dilution effect of the fetal fraction. Several studies show that performing plasma separation within 24 hrs after collection is essential to prevent maternal cell lysis (MULLER *et al.*, 2011; BUYSSE *et al.*, 2013). The addition of formaldehyde may reduce or prevent cell lysis and has been described to enrich for cffDNA (DHALLAN *et al.*, 2004). However, conflicting results have been obtained in other studies (CHUNG *et al.*, 2005; CHINNAPAPAGARI *et al.*, 2005).

Enrichment of placental sequences can be achieved through an epigenetic approach by using methylation specific/dependent techniques (e.g. bisulfite conversion in combination with methylation specific PCR, restriction enzyme digestion or MeDIP (methylated DNA immunoprecepitation)) (OLD *et al.*, 2007; TONG *et al.*, 2007; PAPAGEORGIOU *et al.*, 2009). At sequence level, there are no differences between the maternal contribution to the fetal genome and the maternal genome itself. At epigenetic level however, several markers have been described that differ between mother and fetus. Epigenetic modifications are somatic alterations to the DNA that do not alter the actual genetic sequence but do affect gene expression. One of the most common and best-known forms of modifications is methylation. Cytosine methylation at the 5-carbon position is the only known stable base modification found in the mammalian genome (PATRA *et al.*, 2008). It typically occurs at the cytosine-phosphate-guanine (CpG) sites where DNA methyltransferases turn a cytosine into a 5-methylcytosine (BACHMANN *et al.*, 2012). CpG rich sites are mainly located in the promoter region of genes and DNA methylation results in differential expression of maternally and paternally inherited genes due to transcriptional silencing of either one of these genes (i.e. genomic imprinting) (BACHMANN *et al.*, 2012).

A difference in size has been observed between maternal and placental cfDNA. This difference may permit the development of size-based strategy for selective enrichment of the fetal fraction from maternal plasma (LI *et al.*, 2004; JORGEZ *et al.*, 2009; YU *et al.*, 2014). In earlier studies, a difference in size had already been noticed between circulating DNA molecules in plasma of pregnant and non-pregnant women (CHAN *et al.*, 2004). Analysis of a range of amplicon sizes targeting the *leptin* and *SRY* (sex determining region Y) genes, showed that the plasma of pregnant women contained a higher percentage of smaller size fragments (<201 bp), suggesting that the fetal/placental contribution to circulating cfDNA molecules is causative for this size difference. Post-transplantation chimerism studies in sex-mismatched bone marrow transplantation recipients showed that DNA in plasma and serum is predominantly of hematopoietic origin (LUI *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, data from paired-end (PE) massively parallel sequencing (MPS) of plasma DNA samples from sex-mismatched hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients and one liver transplant recipient indicated that non-hematopoietically

derived DNA, resembling the fetal fraction, is shorter than hematopoietically derived DNA, which can be considered the bulk of maternal cfDNA (LUI et al., 2002; ZHENG et al., 2012). Concordant to this, several studies indeed demonstrate that placental cffDNA fragments are shorter than maternal cfDNA (CHAN et al., 2004; LI et al., 2004; LO et al., 2010; FAN et al., 2010). Analysis of paired-end sequencing reads show that the entire fetal genome is represented in maternal plasma, displaying an average fetal fragment size of ~143 bp against an average maternal fragment size of ~166 bp (LO et al., 2010; ZHENG et al., 2012). These measured sizes of fragmented DNA seem to correspond to the number of bp that is packaged in a single nucleosome. A nucleosome is the fundamental repeating subunit of chromatin and consists of two of each of the histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 that come together to form a histon octamer (ANNUNZIATO, 2008). Chromosomal DNA is tightly wrapped around such a histon octamer forming a nucleosome. This way of packaging allows the DNA to be condensed into a smaller volume. An octamer binds on average 1.7 turns or 146 bp of chromosomal DNA. H1 histone with a binding capacity of minimal 20 bp stabilizes the two full turns of DNA around a single octamer, creating a nucleosome with a total length of at least 166 bp. Each chromosome consists of hundreds of thousands of nucleosomes, which are joined together by H1 bound to linker DNA (varying in size between ~20-80 bp in length) like beads on a string (OLINS et al., 2003; LUGER, 2003). The difference in average size between placental and maternal fragmented DNA is likely due to presence of linker fragments (LO et al., 2010; BEAUDET, 2011). This may also indicate that placental DNA is cleaved or degraded in a different non-hematological manner in the maternal circulation.

The kinetics of the cffDNA contribution within the maternal circulation suggests that the placenta is the predominant source of this DNA. Non-reproductive syncytial cells of the trophoblast are cleared effectively as they enter the pulmonary circulation (BENIRSCHKE, 1994). Appropriate removal of dying cells prior to the release of its intracellular components is critical for the prevention of fetal rejection (ABRAHAMS et al., 2004). The clearance of these apoptotic cells is driven by apoptosis or programmed cell death in which macrophages play a key role (ABRAHAMS et al., 2004; STRASZEWSKI-CHAVEZ et al., 2005; TJOA et al., 2006; BENIRSCHKE et al., 2010). Degeneration of these non-reproductive syncytial cells results in the release of placental cffDNA and cffRNA into the maternal circulation within microparticles that protects them from degradation by plasma nucleases (BIANCHI, 2004; BISCHOFF et al., 2005; TJOA et al., 2006; ALBERRY et al., 2007; FAAS et al., 2012; HUI et al., 2013). Concentrated plasma pellets subjected to electron microscopic analysis demonstrated the presence of nucleosomes among structures containing chromatin that are likely to be ruptured apoptotic bodies (BISCHOFF et al., 2005). In addition, the same group flow-sorted nucleic acid positive material from the acellular fraction of plasma samples taken from maternal plasma samples at 12-16 wks of gestation. Microscopic analysis revealed the presence of apoptotic bodies and nucleosomes. They further demonstrated that fetal Y chromosome sequences could be amplified from these apoptotic bodies, showing that at least a part of the circulating cfDNA is packed in apoptotic bodies or microparticles (MPs) (BISCHOFF et al., 2005; OROZCO et al., 2008). Because MPs are heterogeneous in nature, further characterization is required before clinical use. If fetal-specific MPs would express unique surface markers from their original cells (i.e. trophoblasts), these markers could be used for enrichment strategies. By isolating fetal specific MPs, the fetal fraction could be optimized (OROZCO et al., 2008). However, no such unique markers have yet been described.

Placental cffDNA is cleared rapidly from maternal plasma following delivery with a short circulation half-life of ~16 min in a range between 4-30 min. Results from quantitative detection of the Y chromosomal marker *SRY* by PCR showed that cffDNA is virtually undetectable in the maternal circulation within 2 hrs postpartum (Lo *et al.*, 1999). A more recent study by Yu *et al.* describes the use of MPS for the detection of fetal sequences in maternal plasma and urine and describes a somewhat different clearance pattern. This study shows that clearance of cffDNA occurred in 2 phases; an initial rapid phase with a mean half-life of approximately 1 hr and a subsequent slow phase with a mean half-life of approximately 13 hrs, with a complete clearance at about 1-2 days postpartum (YU *et al.*, 2013). This rapid clearance makes NIPD on cffDNA pregnancy specific and in addition, brings clear benefits of early testing, improved safety and ease of access.

1.3. The use of cffDNA in clinical practice

In the years since the discovery of cffDNA in maternal plasma, remarkable developments in noninvasive prenatal diagnosis have taken place. Early efforts focused on the detection of paternally inherited sequences absent in the maternal genome. Recent development in technologies have also enabled the detection of fetal trisomies and have allowed analysis of several monogenic disorders. Ever since, many of these applications have made the step from research to clinically applicable and available technologies.

1.3.1. Rhesus D genotyping and fetal sex determination

The first and currently leading application of NIPD in the Netherlands has been Rhesus D (*RhD*) genotyping in maternal plasma at around 27 weeks of gestation (<u>www.rivm.nl</u>). *RhD* blood group incompatibility between mother and fetus can occasionally result in maternal alloimmunization; an immune response to foreign antigens of the same species. Anti-D antibodies can subsequently cross the placenta and attack fetal red cells, causing fetal anaemia and ultimately fetal death. Knowledge of the fetal antigen status of the *RhD* locus is beneficial to facilitate pregnancy management in alloimmunized women with a heterozygote partner or for RhD negative women carrying a RhD positive foetus (MOISE, Jr., 2008). Fetal RhD genotyping is currently performed as a standard screening in the Netherlands (DE HAAS et al., 2014). Around 12 weeks of gestation, all women are screened for blood group and RhD status. Around 27 weeks of gestation additional fetal *RhD* typing is performed on cffDNA in maternal blood of RhD negative women (www.rivm.nl, www.sanquin.nl). Historically, fetal testing could only be performed after birth using cord blood (VAN DER SCHOOT et al., 2008). Performing RhD genotyping on cffDNA makes it possible to restrict immunoprofylaxis (administered antenatal in the 30th week of gestation and postnatal) only to non-immunized RhD negative women carrying a RhD positive foetus (FAAS et al., 1998; SCHEFFER et al., 2011; DE HAAS et al., 2014).

Since half of the fetal genotype is similar to the maternal genotype, most of the earlier NIPD applications were based on the detection of differences between mother and fetus, such as paternally inherited sequences. Amplification of a fetal marker that confirms the presence of cffDNA allows a negative result to be interpreted as a true negative result. Failure to detect these sequences could be due to lack of amplification of the targeted sequence or may be indicative of low concentrations or even complete absence of cffDNA in maternal plasma, and thus may lead to a false negative result.

The most studied fetal markers for male pregnancies are sequences of the Y chromosome, such as DYS14, a multicopy marker located within the TSPY(1) (testis specific protein, Y-linked (1)) gene or specific loci on the SRY gene (ARNEMANN et al., 1987; SATO et al., 2010). Both these markers have been studied extensively in fetal sex determination, which is also one of the first and well described applications for the use of cffDNA in diagnostics in addition to fetal RhD genotyping. Fetal sex determination is important in case of X-linked genetic conditions where pregnancies with male fetuses are primarily at risk. Furthermore, early determination of fetal sex is also clinically indicated for those at risk of conditions associated with ambiguous development of the external genitalia (e.g. congenital adrenal hyperplasia or CAH). Early maternal treatment with dexamethasone can reduce the degree of virilisation of female fetuses with CAH (FOREST et al., 1998; RIJNDERS et al., 2002). Noninvasive determination of fetal sex can also be performed by ultrasound at as early as 11 weeks' gestation, though not always reliably (ODEH et al., 2009). In contrast, Y chromosomal sequences in maternal plasma can be detected as early as 4 wks of gestation, although reliably from 7 wks onwards (ILLANES et al., 2007; DEVANEY et al., 2011). Both SRY and DYS14 have been used for the identification of male cffDNA in maternal plasma (ZIMMERMANN et al., 2005; BOON et al., 2007; LUN et al., 2008a; WHITE et al., 2012; KOLIALEXI et al., 2012). This was mostly performed by quantitative Real-time PCR. Even though Y chromosomal sequences can be detected with high sensitivity and specificity early in gestation, a positive result can only be obtained in pregnancies with a male fetus, and alternative markers are required to confirm the presence of female cffDNA in maternal plasma in an universal and sex independent fashion.

1.3.2. Universal fetal markers

A sex independent approach to confirm the presence of fetal DNA is to analyze panels of SNPs or insertion/deletion polymorphisms for the detection of paternally inherited sequences (ALIZADEH *et al.*, 2002; PAGE-CHRISTIAENS *et al.*; 2006; TYNAN *et al.*, 2011). However, this method of detection can be quite laborious when not all markers are informative. In this case, a large panel of different markers needs to be tested for both biological parents along with the plasma sample.

Markers that are differentially methylated between mother and fetus could also be used to confirm the presence of fetal DNA in maternal plasma in a sex-independent approach. The use of genomic imprinting in NIPD was first shown by the group of Poon *et al.* displaying methylation differences between mother and fetus in a region of the human *IGF2-H19* locus (POON *et al.*, 2002). Since it has been shown that cffDNA in maternal plasma originates from trophoblast cells of the placenta, the search for differentially methylated markers has focused on genes expressed in placental tissues (BIANCHI, 2004; BISCHOFF *et al.*, 2005; TJOA *et al.*, 2006; ALBERRY *et al.*, 2007; BENIRSCHKE *et al.*, 2010; FAAS *et al.*, 2012; HUI *et al.*, 2013). The two main fetal specific markers that have been studied in NIPD are *SERPINB5* (serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade B (ovalbumin) member 5, also known as *MASPIN* or mammary serine protease inhibitor) and *RASSF1A* (Ras association (RaIGDS/AF-6) domain family member 1, isoform or transcript variant A) (CHIM *et al.*, 2010; CHAN *et al.*, 2010; WHITE *et al.*, 2012; LEE *et al.*, 2013).

Both *SERPINB5* and *RASSF1A* are tumor suppressor genes. *SERPINB5* is located on chromosome 18q21.3 and is differentially expressed during human placental development (DOKRAS *et al.*, 2002). In maternal blood *SERPINB5* is hypermethylated, while in the placenta this gene is hypomethylated (CHIM *et al.*, 2005). In contrast to *SERPINB5*, the methylation pattern of *RASSF1A* in the developing placenta shows an opposite pattern, with fetal *RASSF1A*

being hypermethylated, while maternal blood cells are hypomethylated (CHAN et al., 2006; CHIU et al., 2007; WHITE et al., 2012). The RASSF1 locus at 3p21.3 contains eight exons. Alternative splicing and usage of two different promoters give rise to eight different transcripts; RASSF1A-RASSF1H (DONNINGER et al., 2007; RICHTER et al., 2009). The RASSF1A isoform is a 39 kDa protein and the gene is frequently inactivated by methylation rather than mutational events (AGATHANGGELOU et al., 2005). Inactivation through promoter region hypermethylation of RASSF1A has also been reported in a large variety of tumors in both adult and childhood cancers, including lung, breast, kidney, neuroblastoma and gliomas (AGATHANGGELOU et al., 2005). During fetal development, the promoter region of RASSF1A is described to be differentially methylated between mother and fetus, which makes it an interesting universal marker to quantify or confirm the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma (CHAN et al., 2006; CHIU et al., 2007; ZEJSKOVA et al., 2010; WHITE et al., 2012). Additionally, several studies show that the concentrations of fetal hypermethylated RASSF1A sequences not only increase according to advancing gestation, but also before the onset of clinical manifestation of pregnancy complications secondary to placental dysfunction, such as preeclampsia (HROMADNIKOVA et al., 2010; KIM et al., 2013; PAPANTONIOU et al., 2013).

1.3.3. Fetal aneuploidy screening

The majority of requests for prenatal diagnosis after invasive sampling are related to fetal aneuploidy testing due to aberrant results after FCT. Therefore, the need for novel reliable noninvasive sampling and/or screening methods for subsequent fetal aneuploidy detection had created a strong interest in the field of NIPT. The main focus has been on the detection of fetal T21 with a prevalence of 1 in 700 live born children, although many studies also address T18 detection, T13 detection and/or aneuploidy of the sex chromosomes (MEGARBANE *et al.*, 2009). Even though the percentage of placental cffDNA in maternal plasma is relatively small, the addition or absence of a particular chromosome in the fetus can be detected with high accuracy using various approaches, such as a targeted or whole genome sequencing approach.

Targeted approach

Besides the use as fetal specific epigenetic markers for the confirmation of the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma, several markers located on chromosome 21 or 18 have also been described for use in fetal aneuploidy detection. These markers are located in regions with a difference in methylation pattern which are described as differentially methylated regions (DMRs). *SERPINB5* has been described as a differentially methylated marker for fetal T18 detection in NIPT. The group of Tong *et al.* showed that the aneuploidy status of the fetus could be determined using bisulfite modification followed by methylation specific PCR (MSP). The epigenetic allelic ratio (EAR) of a SNP present within differentially methylated *SERPINB5* promoter sequences in maternal plasma can be calculated to determine fetal aneuploidy status for T18 in a fetus as compared to a control group of euploid fetuses (**Appendix 2**) (TONG *et al.*, 2006).

For T21 detection 3 epigenetic markers (i.e. *HLCS, PDE9A* and *DSCR4*) on chromosome 21 have been described for NIPT. The putative promoter of *HLCS* is hypermethylated in the placenta while hypomethylated in maternal blood cells. The group of Tong *et al.* first developed a male specific test for detection of T21 by comparing chromosome dosage (**Appendix 2**) of the number of copies from the *HLCS* marker to the *ZFY* (zinc finger protein, Y-linked) on chromosome Y to determine the presence of an additional copy of chromosome 21 (TONG *et al.*, 2010b). Additionally, they developed a sex independent test where they used meth-

ylation-sensitive restriction endonuclease digestion followed by Real-Time or digital PCR to analyze chromosome dosage (**Appendix 2**). Instead of using sequences on the Y-chromosome, in the subsequent study they compared the results of the digestion-resistant *HLCS* gene to a paternally inherited SNP (TONG *et al.*, 2010a). Another marker that has been described for epigenetic based T21 detection is *PDE9A*, which is hypomethylated in placental tissues and hypermethylated in maternal blood (CHIM *et al.*, 2008; LIM *et al.*, 2011b). Here, differences in levels of maternal methylated (*M-PDE9A*) and fetal unmethylated (*U-PDE9A*) levels were quantified for detection of T21 detection using quantitative MSP with two different primer sets specific for either *M-PDE9A* or *U-PDE9A* sequences after bisulfite conversion (LIM *et al.*, 2011b). Levels of *U-PDE9A* were significantly elevated in women carrying T21 fetuses as compared to women carrying normal fetuses. *DSCR4* is also considered to be a candidate fetal specific marker for fetal T21 detection and the promoter region shows a similar methylation pattern compared to *PDE9A* (Du *et al.*, 2011). Other groups have also described the search for more candidate DMR for noninvasive T21 detection (CHIM *et al.*, 2008; PAPAGEORGIOU *et al.*, 2011; LIM *et al.*, 2014).

For fetal aneuploidy detection using digital PCR the focus is not on detecting specific fetal markers, mutations or sequences. For this approach it is no longer required to distinguish between maternal or fetal sequences. Digital PCR is a single molecule counting technique that allows the quantification of DNA by counting one molecule at the time. Single molecules are isolated by dilution and individually amplified by PCR. Each PCR product is then analyzed individually. This technique is very useful in quantifying the contribution of an additional chromosome, for example an additional copy of chromosome 21 in case of fetal T21, when compared to euploid pregnancies (Lo *et al.*, 2007a; FAN *et al.*, 2007; ZIMMERMANN *et al.*, 2008; FAN *et al.*, 2009).

For identifying fetal trisomies, also SNP based approaches have been described. Total cfDNA isolated from maternal plasma is amplified in a single multiplex PCR reaction targeting 11,000 SNPs on chromosome 13, 18, 21, X and Y (ZIMMERMANN et al., 2012). Statistical methods that incorporate parental genotypes are used to determine copy number of these chromosomes. Even higher sensitivity and specificity of the detection of fetal aneuploidies could be obtained when expanding the number of polymorphic loci to 19,488 SNPs (SAMAN-GO-SPROUSE et al., 2013). Ghanta et al. analyzed highly heterozygous tandem SNP sequences as short haplotypes by using capillary electrophoresis (GHANTA et al., 2010). Heterozygous informative tandem SNPs from maternal buccal swaps were subsequently measured in maternal plasma by capillary electrophoresis and were used to determine fetal aneuploidy status through haplotype ratio analysis (Appendix 2) (GHANTA et al., 2010). A similar approach described by Sparks et al., also enriched cfDNA for chromosomes of interest (SPARKS et al., 2012b). They developed the digital analysis of selected regions (DANSR[™]) method, which was developed to reduce the amount of sequencing required for NIPT. This method selectively evaluates specific clinical relevant genomic fragments or loci for each chromosomes of interest (i.e. 13, 18 and 21) to estimate the chromosome proportion and fetal fraction by calculating the chromosome to reference chromosome ratio for each of the chromosomes of interest (e.g. chr. 21 from sample vs reference chr. 21). The DANSR method can be combined with the additional FORTE™ (fetal fraction optimized risk of trisomy evalution) algorithm to calculate the likelihood of fetal trisomy. In addition to the fetal fraction, also age-related risks are taken into account in this algorithm to provide an individualized risk score for fetal trisomy (SPARKS et al., 2012a; SPARKS et al., 2012b; JUNEAU et al., 2014).

Whole Genome approach

Instead of using specific markers or SNPs, shotgun massively parallel whole genome sequencing (WGS) permits locus independent simultaneous sequencing of extreme large guantities of fetal and maternal DNA molecules. In 2008, the first studies that described the application of WGS for fetal aneuploidy screening were published (FAN et al., 2008; CHIU et al., 2008). Since, many studies for the validation and implementation of fetal aneuploidy screening have been published (CHIU et al., 2011a; SEHNERT et al., 2011; EHRICH et al., 2011; LAU et al., 2012b; BIANCHI et al., 2012). The majority of these studies have used Illumina sequence analyzers, although the SOLiD (Sequencing by Oligonucleotide Ligation and Detection) platform and Ion Torrent have been described as well for noninvasive aneuploidy detection (FAAs et al., 2012; YUAN et al., 2013). Both SOLiD and Illumina use fluorescently labeled nucleotides for visualization. In contrast to SOLiD sequencing by ligation, the Illumina platform uses sequencing by synthesis technology, tracking the addition of fluorescently labeled nucleotides as the DNA chain is copied, in a massively parallel fashion. Also the Ion Torrent platform or ion semiconductor sequencing platform is a sequencing by synthesis method. However, this method is based on the detection of hydrogen ions that are released during dNTP incorporation. The semiconductor chip measures differences in pH with each incorporation.

After sequencing each fragment (i.e. read) can be assigned back to the chromosome of origin. If a fetal aneuploidy is present, there should be a relative excess or deficit for the chromosome in question. However, it is necessary to sequence many millions of fragments in WGS to ensure sufficient counts since, for instance, chromosome 21 represents only ~1.5% of the human genome. The count of fragments or reads mapped back to a particular chromosome can subsequently be compared with the expected counts for euploid fetuses to determine the presence of a fetal aneuploidy (**Appendix 3**). With the improvement of the techniques, the possibility of running multiple samples simultaneously (i.e. multiplexing) is available. The addition of a sample specific bar-code or tag sequence to each fragment allows the identification of the fragment to the sample of origin. Originally, the first multiplex studies described only duplexed samples (2-plex) since the total number of reads produced by the sequence analyzers was relatively low. Currently with improved technology, sufficient numbers of reads are produced to run 8-plexed, 12-plexed or even 24-plexed samples for noninvasive aneuploidy detection on the Illumina platform (LAU *et al.*, 2012b; BIANCHI *et al.*, 2014, BAYINDIR *et al.*, 2015).

In the majority of these studies for NIPT, the main focus is on T21 screening. When comparing DNA sequencing to standard prenatal aneuploidy screening (i.e. FCT), the false positive rates when using cfDNA from maternal plasma were significantly lower than those with standard first trimester screening (BIANCHI *et al.*, 2014). Both the sensitivity and specificity of fetal T21 detection exceed 99% (BENN *et al.*, 2012; MERSY *et al.*, 2013; GIL *et al.*, 2014). In addition, performance for fetal trisomy 18 and 13 screening has also been reported, with detection rates of 96.8% and 92.1% respectively (GIL *et al.*, 2014).

Preferential amplification of sequences has been observed on PCR-based MPS platforms (FAN *et al.*, 2008; DOHM *et al.*, 2008). Many studies reported have suggested that this lower performance for T18 and T13 detection is due to the guanine and cytosine (GC) content (CHEN *et al.*, 2011; BIANCHI *et al.*, 2012; LAU *et al.*, 2012b; PALOMAKI *et al.*, 2012; NORTON *et al.*, 2012; SPARKS *et al.*, 2012b). Together with the dynamics and development in the sequencing technology, bioinformatics software and analysis tools are constantly changing and improved. New algorithms used for the analysis of WGS and targeted NGS data are continuously developed and upgraded. For example, the RAPID (Reliable Accurate Prenatal non-Invasive Diagnosis) analysis method is available as RAPIDR, an open source R package for the detection of monosomy X and fetal sex in addition to trisomy 13, 18 and 21. This pipeline implements a combination of several published and validated NIPT analysis methods such as NCV (Normalized Chromosomal Value; **Appendix 3**) calculations and correction to account for GC bias (Lo *et al.*, 2014). With the WISECONDOR (WIthin SamplE COpy Number aberration DetectOR) tool, copy number aberrations can be detected and, in contrast to the RAPIDR method, analysis is no longer restricted to chromosome 13, 18 and 21 only (STRAVER *et al.*, 2014).

1.3.4. Monogenic disorders

The large majority of prenatal requests in the laboratory are related to fetal aneuploidy detection. With NIPT for common aneuploidies already available, the next step is to focus on NIPD for monogenic disorders. This research area represents a smaller part of the total diagnostic field in noninvasive prenatal genetic testing. Nevertheless, there is also a request from patients and physicians to expand the NIPD repertoire.

NIPD for single gene disorder has been described for a variety of monogenic disorders, such as achondroplasia, cystic fibrosis and α - and β -thallassaemia (GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ et al., 2002; LI et al., 2007; LIM et al., 2011a; YAN et al., 2011; PHYLIPSEN et al., 2012). NIPD can be applied for both autosomal dominant and recessive cases, most efficiently when the mother does not carry the mutant allele or carries a different mutation as the biological father (BUSTAMANTE-ARAGONES et al., 2012; DALEY et al., 2014). In addition, detection of de novo mutations can be performed as well. Several approaches to perform NIPD for the detection of paternally inherited mutations or *de novo* mutations have been described, ranging from more basic molecular methods such as quantitative PCR and QF-PCR to more complex methods such as MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ et al., 2003a; LI et al., 2007; SIR-ICHOTIYAKUL et al., 2012; CHITTY et al., 2013). The detection of maternally inherited mutations or autosomal recessive monogenic diseases with parents sharing identical mutations is more challenging in NIPD. Since maternally inherited fetal alleles are genotypically identical to the maternal background, one cannot determine fetal status by simply detecting the presence of a maternal mutation in maternal plasma. A relative mutation dosage (RMD) approach using digital PCR is an example of an approach that can be used for NIPD of monogenic diseases for cases where the mother also carries a mutation (Appendix 3) (LUN et al., 2008a; ZIMMERMANN et al., 2008; CHIU et al., 2009). By measuring the relative amounts of the maternal mutant and wild type alleles in maternal plasma, the inherited dosage of the mutant fetal allele can be determined.

1.4. Scope of the thesis

There is a growing need in the field of prenatal diagnostics for alternative laboratory tests to complement and/or replace current invasive testing. With the discovery of the presence of cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) in maternal plasma, an alternative method for obtaining fetal genetic material is now available. Many studies describing applications for the use of cffDNA show promising results for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) or noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT). The aim of this thesis is to develop and validate new applications for the use of cffDNA that may complement or replace current diagnostic tests.

In order to study the use of cffDNA, it is crucial that the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma can be confirmed. Many studies have shown that confirmation can be accomplished in a sex-dependent manner through the detection of Y-chromosomal sequences. However, in

case of a female fetus, this sex-dependent method is not informative. In **chapter 2** we describe the validation of a novel approach for the detection of fetal methylated *RASSF1A* (*mRASSF1A*) in maternal plasma. We describe the use of bisulfite conversion in combination with pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization (PAP) to confirm the presence of fetal DNA in maternal plasma in a sex-independent manner.

An application for NIPT that previously has been described is fetal trisomy screening by means of shotgun massive parallel sequencing (MPS). With this technique millions of short sequencing reads are produced that can be mapped back to the chromosome of origin to determine fetal aneuploidy status through a relative overrepresentation for chromosome 21 in case of fetal T21. Studies have reported that high-throughput next generation sequencing (NGS) platforms previously tested use a PCR step during sample preparation, which results in amplification bias in GC-rich areas of the human genome. This GC bias may result in a lower sensitivity for fetal trisomy screening. In **chapter 3** we describe an alternative method for fetal trisomy 21 (T21) detection by means of single molecule sequencing (SMS) on the Helicos platform to eliminate this bias and we compare SMS to the previously described Illumina platform. In addition to this, we also describe the application of single molecule sequencing for trisomy 18 (T18) and trisomy 13 (T13) detection in **chapter 4**.

Instead of the detection of a relative overrepresentation of an entire chromosome, NIPD can also be used for the detection of paternally inherited pathogenic repeats or alleles. Detecting low levels of fetal sequences in the excess of maternal cell-free DNA is still challenging. Whole genome shotgun NGS as currently applied for NIPT may not always be the fastest and available method of choice for the detection of merely 1 or 2 variants at a short turn-around time as is required when performing prenatal diagnostics for monogenic disorders. Moreover, the detection of large repeat sequences with NGS is currently difficult, if not impossible. In **chapter 5** we describe the development of a sensitive, mutation specific and fast alternative for NGS-mediated NIPD. We report a novel PCR based application of high-resolution melting curve analysis in combination with a blocking locked nucleic acid (LNA) probe to detect paternally inherited mutations in both autosomal dominant and recessive disorders. In **chapter 6** we additionally show the application of NIPD for the detection of paternally inherited CAG repeats in maternal plasma. We describe the validation for use of NIPD aimed at the detection of polymorphic paternally inherited CAG repeats in the Huntingtin (*HTT*) gene for fetuses at risk of Huntingon disease (HD).

A general discussion of the data is presented in **chapter 7** and a summary of the major findings of this thesis is presented in **chapter 8**.



Chapter 2

mRASSF1A-PAP, a novel methylation-based assay for the detection of cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma

Chapter 2: mRASSF1A-PAP, a novel methylation-based assay for the detection of cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma

Jessica van den Oever

Sahila Balkassmi

Tim Segboer

Joanne Verweij

Pieter van der Velden

Dick Oepkes

Bert Bakker

Elles Boon

PLoS One, 2013 Dec 31;8(12):e84051. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084051.

Abstract

Objectives: *RASSF1A* has been described to be differentially methylated between fetal and maternal DNA and can therefore be used as a universal sex-independent marker to confirm the presence of fetal sequences in maternal plasma. However, this requires highly sensitive methods. We have previously shown that Pyrophosphorolysis-activated Polymerization (PAP) is a highly sensitive technique that can be used in noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. In this study, we have used PAP in combination with bisulfite conversion to develop a new universal methylation-based assay for the detection of fetal methylated *RASSF1A* sequences in maternal plasma.

Methods: Bisulfite sequencing was performed on maternal genomic (g)DNA and fetal gDNA from chorionic villi to determine differentially methylated regions in the *RASSF1A* gene using bisulfite specific PCR primers. Methylation specific primers for PAP were designed for the detection of fetal methylated *RASSF1A* sequences after bisulfite conversion and validated.

Results: Serial dilutions of fetal gDNA in a background of maternal gDNA show a relative percentage of ~3% can be detected using this assay. Furthermore, fetal methylated *RASS-F1A* sequences were detected both retrospectively as well as prospectively in all maternal plasma samples tested (n=71). No methylated *RASSF1A* specific bands were observed in corresponding maternal gDNA. Specificity was further determined by testing anonymized plasma from non-pregnant females (n=24) and males (n=21). Also, no methylated *RASSF1A* sequences were detected here, showing this assay is very specific for methylated fetal DNA. Combining all samples and controls, we obtain an overall sensitivity and specificity of 100% (95% CI 98.4%-100%).

Conclusions: Our data demonstrate that using a combination of bisulfite conversion and PAP fetal methylated *RASSF1A* sequences can be detected with extreme sensitivity in a universal and sex-independent manner. Therefore, this assay could be of great value as an addition to current techniques used in noninvasive prenatal diagnostics.

Introduction

Over the past years, the use of cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) has proven its clinical potential in a wide range of fields. Although the possibilities for using cffDNA in NIPD are numerous, they do require highly sensitive and specific techniques to detect the low levels of fetal sequences in the pool of maternal plasma DNA early in gestation.

For the detection and/or quantification of fetal DNA, many investigators have based their strategy on the detection of Y-chromosomal-specific sequences (*SRY* and *DYS14*), or on the use of paternally inherited SNPs or polymorphic loci that are either absent or different in the mother (TANG *et al.*, 1999; ALIZADEH *et al.*, 2002; PAGE-CHRISTIAENS *et al.*, 2006; HILL *et al.*, 2010; SCHEFFER *et al.*, 2010). Even though Y-chromosomal sequences can be detected using several different techniques with high sensitivity and specificity early in gestation, a positive result can only be obtained in pregnancies with a male fetus. Additional detection of paternally inherited sequences could be used to discriminate between a true negative result in case of a female pregnancy, or a false negative result in case of low levels of circulating cffDNA. However, these methods are quite laborious since both biological parents need to be tested along with the plasma sample and not all SNPs and loci tested will be informative. Therefore, a large panel of different markers need to be tested for each individual case (SCHEFFER *et al.*, 2010).

Other fetal identifiers have been described which are based on epigenetic differences between fetus and mother. These differences are caused by so-called genomic imprinting and are characterized by differential expression of maternally and paternally inherited genes due to transcriptional silencing of either one of these genes through DNA methylation (BACHMANN et al., 2012). The use of genomic imprinting in NIPD was first shown by the group of Poon et al. displaying differences in methylation status between fetal and maternal sequences in a region of the human IGF2-H19 locus (POON et al., 2002). Since it has been shown that cffDNA in maternal plasma originates from trophoblast cells of the placenta, the search for differentially methylated patterns has focused on genes expressed in placental tissues (TJOA et al., 2006; ALBERRY et al., 2007; BIANCHI, 2004; FAAS et al., 2012; CHIM et al., 2005; CHIU et al., 2007; CHIM et al., 2008; TONG et al., 2006; TONG et al., 2007; PAPAGEORGIOU et al., 2009; BEL-LIDO et al., 2010). One of such genes that have been reported to be differentially methylated between mother (hypomethylated) and fetus (hypermethylated) is Ras-Association Domain Family Member 1, transcript variant A (RASSF1A) (CHAN et al., 2006; CHIU et al., 2007; LUN et al., 2007; DELLA et al., 2010; BELLIDO et al., 2010; ZHAO et al., 2010; TSui et al., 2007; White et al., 2012). Previous studies used these differences in methylation in RASSF1A to confirm the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma, independent of fetal sex and without the restriction of only detecting paternally inherited sequences (CHAN et al., 2006; CHIU et al., 2007; LUN et al., 2007; DELLA et al., 2010; BELLIDO et al., 2010; ZHAO et al., 2010; TSUI et al., 2007; WHITE et al., 2012). Methylation-sensitive restriction enzyme digestion, (Real-Time) methylation specific PCR (MSP), mass spectrometry and bisulfite conversion in combination with direct sequencing were the main techniques used in these studies. Some of the aforementioned techniques require a relatively high DNA input. This may indicate that not all of these techniques are sensitive enough to detect the low levels of cffDNA in maternal plasma early in gestation. We have previously shown that Pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization (PAP) is a highly sensitive method for the detection of fetal sequences in a large pool of maternal plasma (BOON et al., 2007; PHYLIPSEN et al., 2012). PAP was initially developed to detect rare known mutations with high selectivity in an excess of wild-type template (LIU et al., 2000). It utilizes unidirectional

(PAP) or bidirectional (bi-PAP) blocked oligonucleotides on the 3'end. These blocks need to be removed by pyrophosphorolysis for DNA extension to occur. This is only possible when the oligonucleotides completely match the template strand. This makes PAP a highly specific and sensitive method to use in NIPD (LIU *et al.*, 2000; BOON *et al.*, 2007; SHI *et al.*, 2007; LIU *et al.*, 2004; PHYLIPSEN *et al.*, 2012).

In this study we have used this method to develop a new universal sex-independent methylation-based assay to detect fetal methylated *RASSF1A* (*mRASSF1A*) sequences in maternal plasma for NIPD.

Materials and Methods

Samples

Written informed consent was obtained and this study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee (CME) of the Leiden University Medical Center. Maternal peripheral blood samples (10-20 mL) were collected in EDTA coated tubes from pregnant women for noninvasive fetal sexing at the Laboratory for Diagnostic Genome Analysis of the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Leiden, the Netherlands. Maternal blood samples (n=71) were drawn at a median gestational age of 10.6 weeks (range 8.0 - 18.1 wks.) and were processed within 24 hrs. after collection as described previously (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). The retrospective samples used were previously tested for fetal sexing (n=60) using a combination of Real-Time PCR and Pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization (Y-PAP) for the detection of Y-chromosomal sequences as previously described (BOON *et al.*, 2007). All fetal gender was confirmed by karyotyping or after birth. In the prospective samples (n=11) fetal sexing was determined using a combination of tests mentioned above, supplemented with Real-Time PCR detection of a panel of 8 high frequency paternal deletion/insertion polymorphisms (ALIZADEH *et al.*, 2002). As a control, anonymized plasma control samples from males (n=21) and non-pregnant females (age>48, n=24) were used.

DNA isolation

Cell-free DNA was isolated from plasma with the EZ1 Virus Mini Kit v2.0 on the EZ1 Advanced (QIAGEN, VenIo, The Netherlands; <u>www.qiagen.com</u>) according to the manufacturer's instructions with an input volume of 800 (2*400) μ L plasma and an elution volume of 120 (2*60) μ L.

Bisulfite conversion

Bisulfite conversion was performed using the EZ DNA Methylation-Gold^M kit (Zymo Research, USA) according to manufactures' instructions, with an input of 100 ng gDNA per reaction (maximum DNA reaction volume of 50 µL) and an elution volume of 10 µL. Bisulfite conversion of plasma DNA was performed as mentioned previously, with an input of 2*50 µL total cell-free DNA (cfDNA) from plasma per bisulfite reaction. (N.B. two corresponding plasma DNA samples were pooled after conversion and purified over 1 column). Elution volume used was 10 µL.

Bisulfite sequencing and mRASSF1A-PAP primer design

Two sets of Bisulfite Sequencing Primers (BSP) containing an M13 tag for Sanger sequencing were designed for two subsequent fragments (BisA 191 bp and BisB 297 bp, Fig. 1, Table 1) in the promoter region of the *RASSF1A* gene (NM_007182.4) outside predicted CpG islands or other potentially methylated cytosines using MethPrimer v1.1 beta (LI *et al.*, 2002; CHIU *et al.*, 2007; MAAT *et al.*, 2007). After bisulfite conversion, we assessed methylation patterns of these two regions by conventional Sanger sequencing using these 2 sets of BSP-M13 primers and SeqScape Software (Applied Biosystems). Three sets of fetal gDNA derived from chorionic villus samples (CVS) and corresponding maternal gDNA sequences from maternal blood cells were compared to determine differentially methylated regions of the *RASSF1A* gene at nucleotide level. Methylation specific PAP primers for the detection of *mRASSF1A* were subsequently designed and a so-called bi-PAP reaction was performed.

mRASSF1A-PAP

The *mRASSF1A*-PAP reaction mixture contained 1x PAP-PCR buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 (Gibco, Life Technologies Corporation), 80 mM $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ (J.T. Baker), 17.5 mM MgCl₂ (J.T. Baker), 125 μ M of each of the four dNTP's (Thermo Scientific), 450 μ M Na₄PPi pH 8.0 (Sigma-Aldrich)), 2.5 IU Klentaq S (ScienTech Corp), 4 μ M of each PAP-primer (Biolegio, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, Table 1) and 10 μ L of bisulfite converted cfDNA from maternal plasma. Cycling conditions were 15 s 94°C, 40 s 60°C, 40 s 64°C, 40 s 68°C and 40 s 72°C for a total of 45 cycles. PAP reaction product was visualized on a 3.5% 1x TBE agarose gel.

As an internal negative control, maternal gDNA from the buffy coat (input 100 ng) was always converted and analyzed together with the cfDNA isolated from the corresponding maternal plasma sample. A fully methylated human cell line (CpGenome, S7821, Merck Millipore) and/or a gDNA sample from CVS (both 100 ng input per reaction) were used as positive controls to check the bisulfite conversion and the PAP reaction. For the latter, this control had been converted in an independent separate reaction, aliquoted and stored at -20°C until further use.

Serial dilutions (range 1000-7 pg) of fetal gDNA from CVS in H_2O were performed to determine the analytical sensitivity of the assay. In addition, comparable serial dilutions of fetal gDNA in a background of 1000 pg maternal gDNA were performed. Input mentioned is the total amount of fetal gDNA per bisulfite conversion reaction.

Results

Determination of differentially methylated regions in RASSF1A

To determine regions in the *RASSF1A* gene which are differentially methylated between mother and fetus, bisulfite sequencing was performed on maternal gDNA and fetal gDNA from CVS (n=3 sets). Two different regions (BisA and BisB) were analyzed by conventional Sanger sequencing using two sets of BSP-M13 primers (Fig. 1, Table 1). Differentially methylated sequences were found in both regions (Fig. 2). *mRASSF1A*-PAP primers PAP primers were designed in the region covered by the BisB BSP primers and are specific for fetal methylated sequences after bisulfite conversion (Figure 3, Table 1). This region was also previously described by the group of Chiu and colleagues (CHIU *et al.*, 2007). We considered this region the most suitable for PAP primer design since it contains many methylated cytosines in the fetal (hypermethylated) sequences, while in the mother, these cytosines are unmethylated and will convert into uracil after bisulfite conversion. This resulted in 5 mismatches between each PAP primer and maternal DNA template and will increase the specificity of this assay (Fig. 3). To increase specificity of the PAP primers even more, the length of the oligonucleotides was at least 28 nt. In addition, this assay was designed as a bi-PAP, containing a 3'ddC block on both the forward as well as the reverse primer.



Figure 1: Sequences after Methprimer prediction.

Predicted sequences of the *RASSF1A* for Bisulfite Specific Primers (BSP) design using Methprimer (LI *et al.*, 2002). BSP primers are located outside differentially methylated regions. Methylated nucleotides are indicated with +, unmethylated nucleotides with : and other nucleotides with |. A: The predicted sequence of the BisB forward primer (indicated as >>>). B: The predicted sequence of the BisB reverse primer (indicated as <<<).

Analytical sensitivity and specificity of the mRASSF1A-PAP assay

The analytical sensitivity of the *mRASSF1A*-PAP assay was first determined by testing serial dilutions of gDNA derived from CVS in water. Our results show that this assay is sensitive enough to detect fetal sequences in amounts as low as 16 pg in a 50 μ L sample reaction volume (data not shown). To simulate the situation in maternal plasma, gDNA from CVS was serially diluted in a background of maternal gDNA. Our data show that in a background of 1000 pg maternal gDNA, as low as 30 pg of fetal gDNA can be detected, representing a relative percentage of around 3% (Fig. 4). These serial dilutions thus showed that this assay is highly sensitive. **A. Methylated control**



Figure 2: Differentially methylated regions after bisulfite sequencing.

Sanger sequencing results for *RASSF1A* of a fully methylated control cell line (A), maternal gDNA (B) and fetal gDNA derived from CVS (C) after bisulfite sequencing. A representative part of the complete sequence is shown. All unmethylated cytosines are converted to uracil after bisulfite sequencing. Differences between maternal and fetal (methylated) sequences are indicated with an *.

	Primer type	BSP	BSP	BSP	BSP	РАР	PAP	Polymerization	Concordance	Yes
	Product size (bp)	; 1 0			*		110	sphorolysis-activated	Confirmation	Yes
		СТТТТАТТG	AAACTCCCC	TTATTGAGTT	ACCCTTCC	r-ddC	TAA-ddC	Primer, PAP: Pyropho	Fetal Gender	Female
	nce (5'- 3')	ACTITICTALITAC	AACTCAATAAACTC	3GGGAGTTTGAGT	CCTACCCCTTAACT/	AACGCGTTGCGTAI	GAACTAAAAACGA	Bisulfite Specific F	mRASSF1A	Pos.
	Seque	ACGACGGCCAGT/	AACAGCTATGACC	ACGACGGCCAGT(AACAGCTATGAC	STTGGAGCGTGTT	TAACGAACCCCGC	cted in bold. BSP: dy.	Y-PAP	Undet.
mers.		TGTAAA	CAGGA	TGTAAA	CAGG		ACG	r sequencing is depi 3 tags. he retrospective stu	SRY Real-Time PCR	Undet.
e sequencing primers and PAP pri	Name	RASSF1A_BISaF-M13	RASSF1A-BISaR-M13	RASSF1A_BISbF-M13	RASSF1A_BISbR-M13	M-RASSF1A_PAPF2	M-RASSF1A_PAPR2	equences. M13 tag used for Sange BSP primers are including the M1 y of sample characteristics from tl	Gestational Age (range in weeks)	8.0 - 18.1
Table 1: Bisulfite	Target	RASSF1A	RASSF1A	RASSF1A	RASSF1A	RASSF1A	RASSF1A	Table 1: Primer se *Product sizes for Table 2: Summary	Samples	n = 53

Table 2: Summary of sample characteristics used in the retrospective study. Undet: Undetermined (e.g. no Y chro	determined (e.g. no Y chromosomal sequences were detected); Pos:
positive; Y. Y chromosomal sequences were detected; Y-PAP: Y-chromosomal specific PAP-assay; Karyo: Full karyotypin	ssay; Karyo: Full karyotyping performed on these samples; birth; fetal
gender confirmed at birth.	

2

Yes

Yes

Male

Pos.

≻

≻

9.0 - 15.4

n = 7

To demonstrate that this assay is also highly specific for methylated fetal DNA sequences, several controls were tested. As an internal negative control, corresponding maternal gDNA samples were always converted and analyzed in parallel to the maternal plasma samples. No *mRASSF1A* specific bands were observed in these samples. In addition, anonymized plasma samples were tested from non-pregnant females (age >48, n=24) and males (n=21). Also, no *mRASSF1A*-specific products were observed here. Therefore, the assay is also very specific since no false positives were present in all control samples tested (n=116), resulting in an analytical sensitivity and specificity of 100% (95% CI 97.4%-100%).



Figure 3: Predicted and confirmed sequences for PAP-primer design.

Sequences of the *RASSF1A* gene were analyzed after bisulfite sequencing of maternal gDNA and fetal gDNA derived from CVS. Differentially methylated regions of the BisB region predicted by MethPrimer (Li et al., 2002) could be confirmed using bisulfite sequencing. Both forward (A, upper panel, underlined) and reverse PAP-primer (B, upper panel, underlined) are specific for fetal sequences (middle panels) after bisulfite conversion and both primers have several mismatches to the maternal sequences (lower panels). Mismatches between fetal specific PAP-primers and maternal sequences are indicated with an * for each primer.

Testing of retrospective and prospective clinical samples

In a retrospective study, fifty three samples previously tested for fetal gender using a combination of Real Time PCR and Y-PAP (BOON *et al.*, 2007) and indicated as undetermined (no Y chromosomal sequences detected), were tested for the presence of cffDNA using the *mRASSF1A*-PAP assay (Table 2). Fetal *mRASSF1A* sequences were detected in all maternal plasma samples tested (n= 53). As a control, the presence of *mRASSF1A* was also confirmed in 7 samples already tested positive for Y-chromosomal sequences. In these samples the presence of fetal DNA could be confirmed both in a sex-dependent and sex-independent assay, showing that the results from the *mRASSF1A* detection are concordant with the detection of Y chromosomal sequences. The data also confirmed that since this assay is sex-independent, it can be applied to all pregnancies. Altogether, the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma was shown retrospectively with a sensitivity and specificity of 100% (95% CI 95.0%-100%).

Moreover, in a prospective study, several clinically relevant samples (n=11) were tested with the *mRASSF1A*-PAP assay in parallel to our current diagnostic protocol for fetal sexing using the detection of Y-chromosomal sequences and, in case of a negative (e.g. undetermined or no Y chromosomal sequences detected) result, additional testing for 8 paternal deletion/ insertion polymorphisms (Table 3) (ALIZADEH *et al.*, 2002; BOON *et al.*, 2007). Although a panel of high frequency polymorphisms was used, informative polymorphisms were either not present (n=4), not inherited (n=3) or results for the detection of these polymorphisms did not

meet our quality criteria (e.g. at least 2/3 Ct values < 40) used for diagnostics (n=1) (Table 3). In parallel, these samples were tested using the *mRASSF1A*-PAP. In all 11 cases tested, the presence of fetal sequences could be confirmed using this new assay. In combination with both Real-Time PCR and Y-PAP results fetal gender could be determined as female (Table 3) and in all cases, our results were concordant with fetal gender determined after additional testing later on in gestation or after birth (Table 3).



Figure 4: mRASSF1A-PAP serial dilution range of gDNA from CVS.

Serial dilutions were performed with gDNA from CVS in a background of 1000 pg maternal gDNA. Input (pg) mentioned is the total amount of fetal gDNA. M= 50 bp marker, 1= 1000 pg, 2= 500 pg, 3= 250 pg, 4= 125 pg, 5= 60 pg, 6= 30 pg, 7= 15 pg, 8= 7 pg, 9= positive control for bisulfite conversion, 10= NTC for bisulfite conversion, 11= negative control for bisulfite conversion (non-bisulfite converted fetal gDNA), 12= positive control for *mRASSF1A*-PAP, 13= NTC for *mRASSF1A*-PAP. A 110 bp product (arrow) is obtained in cases where *mRASSF1A* sequences could be detected using *mRASSF1A*-PAP.

Discussion

We have developed a novel sex- and polymorphism independent, methylation-based diagnostic test for the detection and confirmation of fetal DNA sequences in maternal plasma. In contrast to methods most widely used in noninvasive diagnostics (e.g. detection of Y chromosomal sequences or paternal polymorphisms), this assay can be applied to all pregnancies. Our test, based on the epigenetic differences between maternal (hypomethylated) and fetal (hypermethylated) *RASSF1A* sequences, was found to be 100% reliable.

Differentially methylated regions between mother and fetus have previously been identified in several genes. However, this was mainly done by techniques such as cloning, mass spectrometry and array. These techniques only produced methylation patterns without high resolution since CpG islands were analyzed as a whole (CHIM et al., 2005; CHAN et al., 2006; BELLIDO et al., 2010; DELLA et al., 2010; PAPAGEORGIOU et al., 2009; POON et al., 2002). As we were interested in designing sequence-specific primers, we needed to study these methylation patterns at nucleotide level and therefore decided to perform bisulfite sequencing. The sequences of the BSP primers are located around predicted CpGs and other possible methylated cytosines (LI et al., 2002). Since these sequences are not influenced by bisulfite conversion, it is possible to study differentially methylated regions, both before and after conversion and subsequently to design methylation specific primers for Pyrophosphorolysis-activated Polymerization (PAP) (LIU et al., 2000; LIU et al., 2004; SHI et al., 2007). PAP requires an allele specific oligo with a dideoxyoligonucleotide block at the 3'end. If and only when the sequence of the oligo completely matches the template strand, the dideoxyoligonucleotide can be removed in the presence of pyrophosphate before the oligo can be extended subsequently. We have designed the mRASSF1A-PAP primers specific to the fetal (hypermethylated) sequences after bi-

Sample	Gestational Age (weeks)	SRY Real-Time PCR	ү-рдр	# IF Pols	# IF Pols detected	mRASSF1A	Fetal Gender	Confirmation (karyo, QF-PCR, US, Birth)	Concord- ance
1	10.7	Undet.	Undet.	3 IF	0 IF ^A	Pos.	Female	QF-PCR	Yes
2	8.6	Undet.	Undet.	1 IF	0 IF ^A	Pos.	Female	QF-PCR	Yes
с	13.6	Undet.	Undet.	0 IF ^B	,	Pos.	Female	US	Yes
4	0.6	Undet.	Undet.	0 IF ^B	1	Pos.	Female	N	Yes
S	10.4	Undet.	Undet.	1 IF	1 IF	Pos.	Female	Karyo	Yes
9	8.1	Undet.	Undet.	1 IF	1 IF	Pos.	Female	QF-PCR	Yes
7	0.6	Undet.	Undet.	1 IF	0 IF ^c	Pos.	Female	US	Yes
8	14.0	Undet.	Undet.	0 IF ^B	,	Pos.	Female	Birth	Yes
6	8.3	Undet.	Undet.	2 IF	0 IF ^A	Pos.	Female	US	Yes
10	0.6	Undet.	Undet.	1 IF	1 IF	Pos.	Female	QF-PCR	Yes
11	8.7	Undet.	Undet.	0 IF ^B	ı	Pos.	Female	SU	Yes

bhism present, ^c results did not meet our quality criteria (only 1/3 Ct values $\leq t$ Judetermined (e.g. no Y chromosomal sequences were detected); IF: Informati IIItrasound	
bhism present, ^c results did not meet o Judetermined (e.g. no Y chromosoma Illitraconned	

Table 3: Sample characteristics from the prospective study.

sulfite conversion. Compared to these fetal sequences, maternal (hypomethylated) sequences will differ quite extensively after bisulfite conversion, resulting in several mismatches between each primer and the maternal DNA template. This will prevent the PAP reaction from occuring since the 3' block cannot be removed prior to extension, which makes this assay very specific. Although many other methods for minority allele enrichment have been described, PAP has been described to provide the highest selectivity (MILBURY et al., 2009). This selectivity could even be enhanced using a bidirectional modification of two opposing allele-specific 3' dideoxyoligonucleotides (MILBURY et al., 2009; LIU et al., 2000; LIU et al., 2004; SHI et al., 2007). The mRASSF1A-PAP is based on this bi-directional principle. We previously demonstrated the use of PAP for noninvasive fetal sex determination using a combination of Real-Time PCR and PAP for the detection of Y-chromosomal sequences (BOON et al., 2007). This was successfully validated in our facility by testing a large amount of samples for noninvasive fetal sexing (n=213), resulting in a diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of both 100% (95% CI 98.6%-100%) (unpublished data). Samples from the latter validation study were used for this mRASSF1A-PAP validation study as well. In daily clinical practice, we have also tested the mRASSF1A-PAP by using this assay in parallel with routine diagnostics for noninvasive fetal sexing. For the cases with undetermined results (e.g. no Y chromosomal sequences detected (BOON et al., 2007) we started out testing the *mRASSF1A*-PAP in parallel with Real-Time PCR detection of a panel of 8 high frequency paternal polymorphisms (ALIZADEH et al., 2002). In some cases, no informative polymorphisms were present that could be used for a diagnostic conclusion. Thus despite using a panel of polymorphisms, the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma could not be confirmed in 67% of the cases. mRASSF1A-PAP was also performed on these samples. In these cases mRASSF1A-PAP results were positive and fetal gender was determined and indeed confirmed as female showing that this assay could serve as a valuable supplemental test in diagnostics.

However, there are exceptions where it is preferable to use paternally inherited polymorphisms to confirm the presence of fetal DNA instead of detecting methylated *RASSF1A*. Several recent studies have reported that aberrant methylation in the promoter region of *RASSF1A* can also be used as potential marker for (early) diagnosis of several types of cancer (ZHANG *et al.*, 2013; MAJCHRZAK-CELINSKA *et al.*, 2013; PONOMARYOVA *et al.*, 2013). This could mean that there is a potential risk for false positive results in the *mRASSF1A*-PAP assay. Although this risk is considered to be small, given the prevalence of cancer in the reproductive age group, it should be taken into account when including women for NIPD. When there is a history of cancer, this should be reported to the lab which is testing the samples. In these cases, testing of paternally inherited polymorphisms to confirm the presence of fetal DNA is preferable over testing methylated *RASSF1A*.

Although the percentage cffDNA early in gestation differs between individuals, most reports agree that the fetal contribution is around 10% in the first trimester (Lo *et al.*, 1998; LUN *et al.*, 2008a; VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). On average, we isolate 2-3 ng of total cfDNA from maternal plasma, thus expecting around 200-300 pg cffDNA as input for the the *mRASS-F1A*-PAP assay. Our data show that using PAP, we can reproducibly detect amounts much lower than these average expected amounts of fetal DNA, even in the range of a few genome equivalents (30 pg). This demonstrates the extreme sensitivity of PAP. Using serial dilutions, we could even detect amounts in the range of only 1-2 genome equivalents (6-15 pg). However, since only a few copies of the gene of interest are present, these results were less reproducible. We have used this *mRASSF1A*-PAP assay as a control test in fetal sexing. However, it can also be useful in other applications such as noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT) for fetal trisomies
using Next Generation Sequencing. Since the assay is universal and sex-independent, it can be applied to all samples and reliably confirms the presence of fetal DNA within a sample.

In conclusion, this study confirmed that methylated *RASSF1A* sequences can be used as informative universal markers for detecting the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma, irrespective of fetal sex. Moreover, the PAP technique used provides an extremely sensitive method for the detection of fetal sequences in a large pool of maternal plasma DNA early in gestation. Therefore, this assay could be of great value as an addition to current techniques used in noninvasive prenatal diagnostics.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all participants in this study. We would like to thank Jennie Verdoes and Phebe Adama van Scheltema (Dept. of Obstetrics, LUMC) for including pregnant women. Hendrika Faber (Dept. of Genetics, Groningen University Medical Center), Nicolette den Hollander and Emilia Bijlsma (Dept. of Clinical Genetics, LUMC) for prenatal counseling. Furthermore, we would like to thank Christian van der Lans and the technicians of the prenatal section of the LDGA for technical assistance in the fetal sexing validation study.



Chapter 3

Single Molecule Sequencing of Free DNA from Maternal Plasma for Noninvasive Trisomy 21 Detection

Chapter 3: Single Molecule Sequencing of Free DNA from Maternal Plasma for Noninvasive Trisomy 21 Detection

Jessica van den Oever

Sahila Balkassmi

Joanne Verweij

Maarten van Iterson

Phebe Adama van Scheltema

Dick Oepkes

Jan van Lith

Mariëtte Hoffer

Johan den Dunnen

Bert Bakker

Elles Boon

Clin Chem, 2012 Apr;58(4):699-706. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2011.174698.

Abstract

Background: Noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection using free DNA from maternal plasma has recently been shown to be achievable by whole genome shotgun sequencing. The high-throughput Next Generation Sequencing platforms previously tested use a PCR step during sample preparation, which results in amplification bias in GC rich areas of the human genome. To eliminate this bias, and thereby experimental noise, we have used single molecule sequencing as an alternative method.

Methods: For noninvasive trisomy 21 detection, single molecule sequencing was performed on the Helicos platform using free DNA isolated from maternal plasma from 9 weeks of gestation onwards. Relative sequence tag density ratios were calculated and results were directly compared to the previously described Illumina GAII platform.

Results: Sequence data generated without an amplification step show no GC-bias. Therefore, using single molecule sequencing all trisomy 21 fetuses could be distinguished more clearly from euploid fetuses.

Conclusion: This study shows for the first time that single molecule sequencing is an attractive and easy to use alternative for reliable noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection in diagnostics. Using this approach, previously described experimental noise associated with PCR amplification, such as GC bias, can be overcome.

Introduction

Trisomy 21 (T21) is the most common chromosomal abnormality in live-born children. The diagnosis can be made early in pregnancy using invasive testing (e.g. chorionic villus sampling (CVS) or amniocentesis). These invasive procedures however, are associated with a risk of miscarriage. Therefore, these tests are commonly only offered to women at increased risk for fetal trisomy. Risk assessment used to be based on maternal age. More recently, this was refined by adding serum markers for trisomy and ultrasound measurement of the fetal nuchal translucency (DRISCOLL *et al.*, 2009). Current screening programs have detection rates for T21 of around 80% with a false positive rate of 5%, meaning that one in every 20 women screened is offered invasive testing with its inherent risks, while carrying a healthy fetus (WAPNER *et al.*, 2003; MUJEZINOVIC *et al.*, 2007).

The discovery of cell-free fetal (cff) DNA and RNA in maternal plasma opened possibilities for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) (Lo *et al.*, 1997). Although cffRNA has been used for noninvasive T21 detection (Lo *et al.*, 2007b; PICCHIASSI *et al.*, 2010; TSUI *et al.*, 2010; DENG *et al.*, 2011), the majority of approaches use cffDNA for NIPD of T21. In the first trimester, the percentage of cffDNA in maternal plasma is on average 1-10% and differs quite extensively in range depending on gestational age and between individuals (Go *et al.*, 2010; CHIU *et al.*, 2011b; Lo *et al.*, 1998; LUN *et al.*, 2008a; SIKORA *et al.*, 2010; HAHN *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it remains challenging to detect fetal sequences in a large pool of maternal DNA. Previously, several papers have shown that noninvasive T21 detection is possible by using single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (DHALLAN *et al.*, 2007; GHANTA *et al.*, 2010) and epigenetics (OLD *et al.*, 2007; CHIM *et al.*, 2008; TONG *et al.*, 2010b; PAPAGEORGIOU *et al.*, 2011) although these methods have a number of limitations.

In 2008, noninvasive T21 detection by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) was introduced (FAN *et al.*, 2008; CHIU *et al.*, 2008), opening a whole new way of analysis. No longer only fetal specific sequences were analyzed, but all free DNA in plasma, from both fetal and maternal origin, is sequenced with this technique. Two recent papers confirmed the potential value of NGS for noninvasive fetal T21 detection in multiplexed plasma DNA samples in a clinical setting (EHRICH *et al.*, 2011; CHIU *et al.*, 2011a). Both the Illumina Genome Analyzer (GA) II (FAN *et al.*, 2008; CHIU *et al.*, 2008; FAN *et al.*, 2010; EHRICH *et al.*, 2011; CHIU *et al.*, 2011a) and the SOLID platform (CHIU *et al.*, 2010) have been used for noninvasive T21 detection by NGS. These platforms use amplification steps by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) which are known to introduce preferential amplification of sequences depending on different GC content (FAN *et al.*, 2008; CHIANG *et al.*, 2009).

In the present study, we have tested single molecule sequencing (tSMS, Helicos Heliscope[™] Single Molecule Sequencer) for noninvasive T21 detection. The Helicos platform utilizes visual imaging across the flow cell for direct DNA measurement by recording the incorporation of fluorescently labeled nucleotides (GUPTA, 2008; MILOS, 2009). The use of single molecule sequencing has been described previously (HARRIS *et al.*, 2008) and this technique should largely overcome the limitations associated with PCR amplification and bias as mentioned above. Although the sequencing time on the Helicos platform is longer compared to the Illumina platform (4 days respectively 2 days), Helicos sample preparation is simple, 3 times faster (1 day compared to 3 days) and therefore relatively cheap. Furthermore, this method requires low amounts of DNA, which could be of special interest early in gestation. Here, we present a comparison of the application of single molecule sequencing for noninvasive T21 detection using cffDNA from maternal plasma to the previously described PCR-based Illumina NGS platform.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Pregnant women undergoing prenatal diagnosis were recruited at the Department of Obstetrics of the Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), Leiden, The Netherlands. Informed consent was obtained and this study was approved by the Institution's Medical Ethics Committee.

Sample Processing and Isolation

Maternal peripheral blood samples (10-20 mL) were collected in EDTA coated tubes at the LUMC and were processed within 24 hrs after collection. All blood samples were drawn at a median gestational age of 12 +2 weeks (range 9 +3 to 16 +6 wks). Preferably blood samples were drawn before an invasive procedure, if this was not possible samples were drawn at least 5 days after the invasive procedure to minimize any disturbance with fetal material due to this procedure.

Blood was centrifuged at 1200g (without brake) for 10 min at room temperature. Plasma was transferred to 15 mL micro centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 2400g for 20 min (with brake) at room temperature to remove residual cells. Cell-free plasma was divided into 800 μ L aliquots and stored at -80°C until further processing.

Because both sequencing platforms require different amounts of input DNA, cell-free DNA was isolated from plasma with the EZ1 Virus Mini Kit v2.0 on the EZ1 Advanced (QIAGEN, VenIo, The Netherlands; <u>www.qiagen.com</u>) for Helicos sample preparation or manually with the QiaAmp MinElute Virus Spin Kit (QIAGEN) for Illumina sample preparation according to the manufacturer's instructions.

To verify fetal gender and to measure the total quantity of cell-free DNA, we respectively performed a pyrophosphorylation-activated polymerization assay on the Y chromosome (Y-PAP) and a Real-Time Taqman PCR assay on *CCR5* for quality control purposes as described previously (BOON *et al.*, 2007). In addition, for male fetuses we estimated the percentage of cffDNA based on sequencing data of chromosome X (FAN *et al.*, 2008) and by Real-Time Taqman PCR assay on *SRY*, for which we used a standard curve from male genomic DNA to determine the range of cffDNA percentages in maternal plasma. Percentages were estimated by dividing the amount of *SRY* (pg/µL) by the maternal fraction of *CCR5* from 1 allele (*SRY*/ (0.5**CCR5*_{total} – *SRY*)), taken into account that the PCR efficiency of both genes is similar.

Library preparation and sequencing

A total of 24 plasma samples was included in this retrospective study, containing 20 samples from singleton pregnancies, of which 11 cases (5 female and 6 male fetuses) of T21, 9 cases of disomy (D21) pregnancies (1 female and 8 male fetuses) and 4 plasma control samples from anonymous adult male blood donors. All samples were de-identified to the investigators before sample preparation and data analysis. These results were not revealed to the investigators until after data analysis. Material from the invasive procedure was sent to the

Cytogenetics Lab for full karyotyping. Fetal gender was confirmed by karyotype or after birth.

All cell-free plasma DNA samples were sequenced on both the Helicos (Helicos Bio-Sciences Corporation, Cambridge, MA, USA, <u>www.helicosbio.com</u>) and the Illumina (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA, <u>www.illumina.com</u>) GA II platform. Owing to the relatively short length (FAN *et al.*, 2008) and fragmented nature of free DNA in plasma, no additional shearing step was performed during library preparation.

Helicos sample preparation was performed according to the manufacturer's ChIP-Seq Direct Tailing Procedure with an input of 400 µL plasma for DNA isolation with the EZ1 (QIA-GEN) and the maximum amount of input for tailing. As a quality control, size of the fragments and template size distribution were determined by running a High Sensitivity DNA chip on the Agilent Technologies 2100 Bioanalyzer. A standard 120-cycle run was performed on the Heliscope[™] Single Molecule Sequencer, which resulted in an average read length of 35 nucleotides.

Illumina sample preparation was performed according to the manufacturer's ChIP-Seq protocol with an input of 1600 μ L plasma per sample per column for manual DNA isolation and a maximum amount of input for this protocol. Sixteen out of 24 samples were sequenced in a duplex assay (T21 n=7, D21 n=7 and male plasma controls n=2). For this, unique synthetic 6 nucleotide barcodes (indexes) were used. The barcode was ligated to the plasma DNA molecule prior to the PCR amplification step. Indexed samples were additionally purified on a 3% TAE Agarose gel prior to the quality control run on the Bioanalyzer as mentioned above. A 36-cycle run was performed on the Illumina GA II.

Data analysis

Helicos sequencing data were analyzed with the Helicos Helisphere resequencing pipeline using default settings. Data were aligned against hg19 and gaps and repeats were filtered out. Filtered data were sorted and binned per 50 kb.

Illumina raw data from duplexed samples were pre-analyzed by splitting the data per indexed barcode with in-house Linux command lines. Sequencing data were analyzed with NextGENe software (SoftGenetics, State College, PA, USA, <u>www.softgenetics.com</u>). Data were mapped to the annotated Human Genome GFCh37-dbSNP 131(4/14/2010) (hg19) for Illumina data compatible with NextGENe software. Expression reports per 50 kb were created. Only unique reads with at most 1 mismatch, which could be aligned to the reference genome, were used for calculations.

For all samples (both T21 and D21) used for noninvasive fetal trisomy 21 detection in maternal plasma, ratios of relative sequence tag density (RSTD) were calculated. First, for each sample the total number of reads was calculated per chromosome, by summing the read counts of all 50 kb bins belonging to a particular chromosome. Second, for each sample, the total summed number of reads was normalized by the median value of the autosomes. Finally, ratios of RSTD were calculated by dividing these normalized values by the averaged normalized value of the disomy samples (FAN *et al.*, 2008) or, in addition, by the normalized average of male plasma control samples. As the data were obtained by two separate runs for both sequencing technologies, ratios were determined for each run separately.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted with PASW Statistics version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL, USA, www.spss.com), Prism 5 (version 5.00, GraphPad Software, Inc. La Jolla CA, USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u>) and R version 2.13 (R Development Core Team (2011)). R: A language environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN

Sample number	Karyotype	Maternal Age	Indication	AD Blood	CVS/ Amnio	AD Proce- dure
1	46,XY	35	Family history of mental retardation/ ICSI pregnancy	12 +2	Amnio	16 +1
2	46,XY	39	Advanced maternal age	9+6	Amnio	17 +0
m	47,XX,+21	41	Ultrasound abnormality: Hygroma colli and generalized oedema	15 +3	CVS	14 +2
4	47,XY,+21	43	Advanced maternal age	10 +2	Amnio	16 +0
ы	46,XX	40	Advanced maternal age	10 +1	Amnio	16 +0
9	46,XY	38	Advanced maternal age	11 +2	Amnio	17 +1
7	Male	39	Increased NT, advanced maternal age	9 +3	1	
∞	Male	37	Increased NT, advanced maternal age	13 +2	ı	
6	47,XY,+21	34	Ultrasound abnormality	13 +2	CVS	12 +0
10	Male	38	Increased NT, advanced maternal age	11 +0	I	1
11	47,XX+21	41	Advanced maternal age	16 +6	Amnio	16 +1
12	47,XY,+21	41	Advanced maternal age	14 +4	CVS	12 +3
13	47,XX,+21	41	Ultrasound abnormality: Hydrothorax, cystic hygroma	11 +2	CVS	11 +3
14	46,XY	40	Advanced maternal age	11 +5	CVS	11 +5
15	46,XY	39	Advanced maternal age	16 +6	Amnio	16 +6
16	47,XY,+21	38	Ultrasound abnormality	12 +2	CVS	12 +2
17	47,XY,+21	39	Ultrasound abnormality: Hygroma colli	12 +1	CVS	12 +1
18	47,XX,+21	36	Ultrasound abnormality: Hygroma colli	14 +2	CVS	14 +2
19	47,XY,+21	35	Increased NT	12 +4	CVS	12 +4
20	47,XY,+21	34	Ultrasound abnormality: Hygroma colli	13 +1	CVS	13 +1
Table 1:	AD Blood: Gest	tational age a	it the time of blood collection depicted as weeks +days, CVS: Choric	onic Villus Sar	npling, An	<i>nio</i> : Amnio-

centesis, AD Procedure: Gestational age at the time of the invasive procedure depicted as weeks +days, ICSI: Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection,

Increased NT: Increased nuchal translucency thickness.

Table 1: Overview of included maternal plasma samples.

3-900051-07-0, <u>www.R-project.org</u>). Differences between the numbers of uniquely mapped reads between groups were determined by independent samples T-test. Correlation between the number of reads and RSTD were determined by non-parametric Spearman correlation. P values of less than 0.05 are considered statistically significant.

Results

Included samples

A total of 20 maternal plasma samples were included in this study and were taken at a median gestational age of 12 +2 weeks (range 9 +3 to 16 +6 weeks). In 4 out of 20 cases blood samples were drawn after the invasive procedure (on average > 1 week afterwards). No correlation between the time of sampling (before or after the invasive procedure) and the ratios was observed. All details on the included samples are depicted in Table 1. For the noninvasive detection of fetal T21, DNA isolated from 20 maternal plasma samples and 4 anonymous male plasma controls were sequenced on both the Helicos and the Illumina GA II platform. One D21 sample, that did pass the quality controls prior to sequencing, failed the quality controls after sequencing for both platforms. For this sample hardly any reads were obtained for the Helicos platform and sequencing results from the Illumina platform showed preferential amplification of only a few regions. This sample was therefore excluded for further analysis.



Figure 1: Ratios of normalized relative sequence tag density (RSTD) from all autosomes.

Ratios are calculated against averaged normalized read counts from male plasma controls. Data are shown for each Next Generation Sequencing platform (T21 n=11 and D21 n=8). Chromosomes are ordered by increasing GC content. Upper panel: Helicos, Lower panel: Illumina GA II.

Sample statistics

For each NGS platform, the mean number of raw reads, the percentage of filtered reads and the mean and median number of uniquely mapped reads are depicted in Table 2. For Helicos, our data show one D21 sample with the overall lowest amount of reads, to have the lowest RSTD ratio, but overall we observed no correlation between RSTD ratio and the amount of uniquely mapped reads for both platforms (Helicos, Spearman r = -0.088, 95%CI [-0.532-0.394], P = 0.7210 and Illumina, Spearman r = -0.232, 95% CI [-0.629, 0.263], P = 0.3401). Furthermore, the number of uniquely mapped reads between T21 and D21 was similar (Helicos P = 0.128 and Illumina P = 0.810). When looking at the duplexed Illumina samples (n=16), no bias in read counts was observed towards any specific barcode after splitting (P= 0.9551).

The percentage of cffDNA in maternal plasma was calculated using 2 different methods. When using the method based on Illumina sequence data from chromosome X by the group of Fan *et al.* (FAN *et al.*, 2008), we estimated the percentage of fetal DNA for male pregnancies (n=6) to be on average ~7% (range 1-18%). Concordant results were obtained by Real-Time PCR on the *SRY* gene (average ~9%, range 3-18%).



Figure 2: Normalized total number of reads per chromosome against GC content.

Normalized reads are shown in order of GC content per chromosome (upper panel) and by GC percentage (lower panel) for both the Helicos (left) and Illumina (right) platform. Chromosomes subject to possible GC bias because of high GC content are depicted within dashed lines (upper and lower panel).

Noninvasive T21 detection

For the detection of noninvasive fetal T21, RSTD ratios for all 19 maternal plasma samples are shown per chromosome for each NGS platform (Fig. 1). The autosomes were ordered by increasing GC content (Fan *et al.*, 2008). The overall distribution of reads across the genome is similar between both platforms and seems independent of GC content (data not shown). However, our data show a clear difference in read coverage between platforms. For Helicos, the RSTD ratios for all chromosomes (Fig. 1), the normalized total number of reads per chromosome (Fig. 2) and the average amount of reads per bin (Fig. 3) were quite uniform between samples and virtually independent of GC content of the chromosome, while as reported before (FAN *et al.*, 2008), Illumina results showed increased read density in GC rich areas of the genome (Fig. 1-3).



Figure 3. Average read count per 50 kb bin against GC content.

For both platforms, the average number of reads per bin was determined by dividing the summed total number of reads by the number of bins. Chromosomes are ordered by GC content.

Our data show RSTD ratios for T21 samples in a range of 1.04-1.11 for Helicos and a range of 1.03-1.12 for Illumina. For D21 samples we obtained RSTD ratios from 0.98-1.01 and 0.99-1.01 respectively (Fig. 4). Our data show a clear distinction between plasma samples from women carrying a T21 fetus and woman carrying a D21 fetus for both platforms when looking at the overrepresentation of the affected chromosome (Fig. 4). All maternal plasma samples of women carrying a fetus with Down syndrome were correctly classified as T21 (n=11). In addition, all euploid samples (n=8) were correctly identified as D21, resulting in a sensitivity and specificity of both 100% (95% CI [87.0-100]). When constructing a 99% confidence interval of the distribution of RSTD from all D21 samples, all T21 samples lie outside the upper boundary of 1.01 and all D21 samples on or below this boundary. Overall, we show that noninvasive detection of T21 can be performed on both NGS platforms, although Helicos results show a better distinction between T21 and D21 samples (Fig. 4).

Platform	Mean # of raw reads	% of filtered reads	Mean # of alligned reads	Median # of alligned reads		
Helicos	1.06 x 10 ⁷ (0.46 x 10 ⁷)	35.09 (1.52)	4.65 x 10 ⁶ (3.6 x 10 ⁶)	2.65 x 10 ⁶		
Illumina	2.47 x 10 ⁷ (0.38 x 10 ⁷) ^B	76.07 (5.14) ^в	1.26 x 10 ⁷ (0.40 x 10 ⁷)	1.26 x 10 ⁷		

Table 2: Overview of mean and median number of uniquely mapped reads^A.

Table 2: ^A Results are indicated by Next Generation Sequencing Platform. Data for each platform are represented as mean (SD) for n=23 samples. ^BFor the Illumina platform, the mean number of raw reads and % filtered reads is depicted for the duplexed samples n=15 (T21 n=7, D21 n=6, male plasma control n=2).

Calculation methods

We have based our calculations on the method of Fan *et al.* (FAN *et al.*, 2008), which uses read counts to calculate ratios of RSTD. Samples can be normalized against averaged normalized RSTD from both adult male plasma controls (Fig. 1) or disomy samples (Fig. 4). Our results look similar when applying either one of these methods to data from both NGS platforms. Recently, a new calculation method for the detection of fetal chromosomal abnormalities was published by the group of Sehnert *et al.* (SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011). With this method, samples can be classified as affected (i.e. aneuploid for that chromosome) or unaffected by calculating a normalized chromosome value (NCV) using data from a previously analyzed training set consisting of unaffected samples (i.e. maternal plasma samples from women carrying a euploid fetus). When applying this new calculation method to our Illumina data, all Illumina samples were again correctly classified as either T21 or D21, within the criteria as described (See Supplemental Figure S1) (SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011). Since these criteria are only determined for Illumina data, they are not applicable on our Helicos results and thus first need to be established.



Figure 4. Ratios of normalized relative sequence tag density (RSTD) from chromosome 21.

Ratios are calculated against averaged normalized read counts from disomy samples. Data are shown for each Next Generation Sequencing platform (T21 n = 11 and D21 n = 8).

Discussion

Noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection using free DNA from maternal plasma has evolved dramatically the past few years with the introduction of NGS. The majority of studies use the Illumina GA II platform for whole genome shotgun detection of T21. Data obtained in these studies have shown that limitations due to low percentages of cffDNA in maternal plasma, no longer seem to be a major problem. However, the Illumina platform is PCR-based and the amplification step could initiate several negative side effects, such as read density bias in GC rich areas of the genome.

In this study, we show successful fetal T21 detection using free DNA from maternal plasma by single molecule sequencing on the Helicos platform and compared it to the Illumina GA II platform (FAN *et al.*, 2008; CHIU *et al.*, 2008; EHRICH *et al.*, 2011; CHIU *et al.*, 2011a). For Illumina, we could confirm previously described findings (FAN *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, we demonstrate a more distinct separation between T21 and D21 samples in Helicos data versus Illumina. We show that as early as 9 +3 wks of gestational age, cffDNA samples from maternal plasma can be classified correctly with high sensitivity and specificity. Because for single molecule sequencing only small amounts of free DNA are required as input for sample preparation and direct sequencing is performed, we hypothesize that this method might therefore be more suitable for early noninvasive aneuploidy detection.

Also, our study confirms that data obtained on the Helicos platform is not biased in GC rich areas, leading to an increased accuracy of analysis. Previously, a strong correlation between GC rich areas and read coverage was observed on the Illumina platform, with increased number of reads in areas containing elevated GC content (DOHM *et al.*, 2008; HILLIER *et al.*, 2008; FAN *et al.*, 2008). There has been discussion whether this is a biological effect relating to chromatin structure or originates from PCR artifacts introduced during sample preparation, cluster formation or the sequencing process itself. Since GC bias is not observed in single molecule sequencing it is less likely that this is a true biological effect or be due to the sequencing process. We therefore hypothesize that it is introduced in the pre-amplification step for DNA enrichment or during local amplification for cluster formation on the flow cell. The exact reason, however, remains to be elucidated.

Before implementing noninvasive trisomy detection into routine diagnostics several quality controls criteria need to be determined and validated. The QUADAS criteria can be applied, which take into account the experimental bias and variation (WHITING et al., 2003). Equally important are the quality controls before and during sample preparation. Since the percentage of cell free DNA in maternal plasma differs between samples and at different times of gestation (LO et al., 1998; LUN et al., 2008a), it is difficult to determine the most appropriate time of gestation for testing. However, for diagnostics inclusion criteria including time of gestation need to be determined. Measurement of the amount of cffDNA and its correlation to reliable diagnosis and time of gestation needs to be studied more thoroughly in large validation studies. Before sequencing isolated free DNA, combined Real-Time PCR results on CCR5 and SRY could help estimate the ratio of maternal and fetal DNA in maternal plasma, the percentage of fetal DNA and the quality of DNA as shown in our data. After sequencing, percentages of cffDNA can then be verified by using data from chromosome X as described previously (FAN et al., 2008). Both methods however are limited to male pregnancies only. When encountering samples containing low percentages of fetal sequences or large amounts of contaminating maternal sequences, restrictions for the detection limit should be taken into account. For female pregnancies a sex-and polymorphism-independent method based on epigenetic differences could be used for quantification (NYGREN *et al.*, 2010), although it needs to be established whether differences in methylation are stable and comparable between individuals to be used reliably in diagnostics.

Another issue that should be taken into account are maternal copy number variations (CNVs). These can be of particular interest for the interpretation of trisomy detection using NGS data in diagnostics. Pre-determination of CNVs in the maternal genome could be an useful control in diagnostics, because these findings may influence the interpretation of data when looking at the overrepresentation of a specific chromosome, regardless the NGS platform used.

In summary, this study shows for the first time that single molecule sequencing can be a reliable and easy-to-use alternative for noninvasive T21 detection in diagnostics. By using single molecule sequencing, previously described experimental noise associated with PCR amplification, such as GC bias, can be overcome. This method is therefore not only promising for noninvasive T21 detection, but is potentially also useful for the detection of other aneuploidies.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Jennie Verdoes for including pregnant women, Michiel van Galen for bioinformatics, Yavuz Ariyurek and Henk Buermans for technical support and BIOKÉ (The Netherlands) for NextGENe software assistance.

3

Supplemental data



Supplemental figure S1. Normalized Chromosome Value for Chromosome 21.

Normalized Chromosome Value (NCV) for chromosome 21 was calculated according to the method described in Sehnert *et al.* (SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011). An NCV > 4.0 was used to classify the sample as an uploid for chromosome 21 and an NCV < 2.5 to classify a chromosome as unaffected. Samples with an NCV between 2.5 and 4.0 were classified as "no call" (dashed lines).



Chapter 4

Successful Noninvasive Trisomy 18 Detection Using Single Molecule Sequencing

Chapter 4: Successful Noninvasive Trisomy 18 Detection Using Single Molecule Sequencing

Jessica van den Oever

Sahila Balkassmi

Lennart Johansson

Phebe Adama van Scheltema

Ron Suijkerbuijk

Mariëtte Hoffer

Richard Sinke

Bert Bakker

Birgit Sikkema-Raddatz

Elles Boon

Clin Chem, 2013 Apr;59(4):705-9. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2012.196212.

Abstract

Background: Noninvasive trisomy 21 detection using massively parallel sequencing is achievable with high diagnostic sensitivity and low false positive rates. Detection of fetal trisomy 18 and 13 has been reported as well, but seems to be less accurate using this approach. Reduced accuracy can be explained by PCR introduced guanine-cytosine (GC) bias influencing sequencing data. Previously, we demonstrated that sequence data generated by single molecule sequencing show virtually no GC bias and result in a more pronounced noninvasive detection of fetal trisomy 21. In this study, single molecule sequencing was used for noninvasive detection of trisomy 18 and 13.

Methods: Single molecule sequencing was performed on the Helicos platform using free DNA isolated from maternal plasma from 11 weeks of gestation onwards (n=17). Relative sequence tag density ratios were calculated against male control plasma samples and results were compared to those of previous karyotyping.

Results: All trisomy 18 fetuses were identified correctly with a diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of 100%. However, low diagnostic sensitivity and specificity was observed for fetal trisomy 13 detection.

Conclusions: We successfully applied single molecule sequencing in combination with relative sequence tag density calculations for noninvasive trisomy 18 detection using free DNA from maternal plasma. However, noninvasive trisomy 13 detection was not accurate and seemed to be influenced by more than just GC content.

Recent large studies have confirmed that noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) for fetal aneuploidies is achievable (FAN et al., 2008; CHIU et al., 2008; CHIU et al., 2011a; EHRICH et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2011; LAU et al., 2012a; BIANCHI et al., 2012). Using massively parallel sequencing (MPS) and subsequent quantification of chromosome specific sequences, overrepresentation of a specific chromosome can be determined with high diagnostic accuracy. Successful detection of fetal trisomy 21 (T21) in maternal plasma was shown in several clinical validation studies (CHIU et al., 2011a; PALOMAKI et al., 2011; EHRICH et al., 2011; LAU et al., 2012a; BIANCHI et al., 2012). For noninvasive detection of trisomy 18 (Edwards Syndrome, T18) and trisomy 13 (Patau Syndrome, T13), however, it seems to be more difficult to achieve similar results (CHEN et al., 2011; LAU et al., 2012a; PALOMAKI et al., 2012; BIANCHI et al., 2012). Although theoretically molecules from different regions of a genome should be sequenced uniformly by MPS, preferential amplification of sequences, depending on different guanine-cytosine (GC) content, has been observed (DOHM et al., 2008; FAN et al., 2008; vAN DEN OEVER et al., 2012). In contrast to an average GC content of chromosome 21, chromosomes 13 and 18 have a relatively low GC content (FAN et al., 2008; VAN DEN OEVER et al., 2012). Therefore, non-uniform amplification of these chromosomes could occur on PCR based MPS platforms. As a result, several studies have used specific algorithms or internal references to correct for GC content to optimize noninvasive detection rates for T18 and T13 (CHEN et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2012; SPARKS et al., 2012a; LAU et al., 2012b).

We previously demonstrated that sequence data generated by single molecule sequencing show virtually no GC bias (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). This specific method of sequencing requires no PCR amplification step during sample preparation or during flow cell processing and results in a more pronounced noninvasive detection of T21. Therefore, this approach could also be applicable for the detection of other common fetal aneuploidies such as T18 and T13.

To test this hypothesis, a retrospective study was performed on first and second trimester pregnant women with an increased risk for fetal aneuploidy based on previous serum screening and/or ultrasound results. Maternal peripheral blood samples were collected in EDTA coated tubes and processed within 24 hrs after collection. All blood samples were drawn at a median gestational age of 12 weeks + 6 days (range 11w +4d to 22w +1d, see Table 1) prior to an invasive procedure, except for one sample, which was obtained 6 days after amniocentesis. Plasma was obtained by double centrifugation of the blood samples and stored at -80°C until further processing. Material from all invasive procedures was sent to our cytogenetics laboratory for karyotyping as the gold standard.

A total of 21 plasma samples were used in this study. Four plasma control samples from anonymous male blood donors and 17 samples of singleton pregnancies (Table 1), consisting of 9 cases of T18 (2 female and 7 male fetuses), 4 cases of T13 (2 female and 2 male fetuses), and 4 euploid pregnancies (all male fetuses) were included. All maternal blood samples were processed within 24 hrs after collection. Cell-free DNA was isolated from plasma using the EZ1 Virus Mini Kit v2.0. For quality control purposes, fetal sex and the total amount of free DNA in maternal plasma were determined by Real-Time Taqman PCR assays as described previously (BOON *et al.*, 2007; VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). In addition, using this data, the percentage of cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) for male pregnancies was estimated (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). All samples were de-identified to the investigators before sample preparation and data analysis. Libraries were prepared according to manufacturer's ChipSeq protocol and a standard 120-cycle sequencing run was performed on the Helicos platform (Helicos BioSciences, <u>www.</u> <u>helicosbio.com</u>).



Figure 1. Ratios of normalized Relative Sequence Tag Density for noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection.

Ratios were calculated against anonymous male plasma controls (n=4). Samples are divided in either disomic (closed symbols) or trisomic (open symbols) for that specific chromosome. Chromosome 21 is displayed as circles, chromosome 18 as triangles and chromosome 13 as diamonds. 99% Confidence intervals for disomic samples were calculated for each chromosome and upper boundaries are depicted in the graph as a line. Euploid fetuses (n=4), T18 fetuses (n=9), T13 fetuses (n=4). ND: Not determined.

Raw data analysis was performed with the HeliSphere software package. Ratio calculations and statistics were executed as described previously (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). In short, for fetal trisomy detection, ratios of relative sequence tag density (RSTD) were calculated by dividing the normalized total summed number of reads for each sample by the normalized mean of male plasma controls for each chromosome of interest. After alignment against hg19 reference genome and filtering of gaps and repeats a mean of $1.21 \times 10^6 + 0.69 \times 10^6$ (SD) reads, with a median of 1.12×10^6 , were obtained per sample. In 11 maternal plasma samples from women carrying a male fetus, the percentage of cffDNA was estimated, resulting in a mean percentage of 11 % (Table 1).

For noninvasive T18 detection we showed that using RSTD calculations for chromosome 18, all T18 samples (n=9) were correctly identified as being aneuploid and all euploid controls and T13 samples as being disomic for chromosome 18. When constructing a 99% confidence interval from all samples disomic for chromosome 18 (n=8), all T18 samples were outside the upper boundary of the 99% CI [0.991, 1.016], while all euploid controls and T13 samples were on or below this upper boundary (Fig. 1). For noninvasive T13 detection, only 1 out of 4 T13 samples was correctly identified. False positive results (4/13) were observed in both euploid (n=2) and T18 (n=2) samples when using RSTD ratio and 99% CI calculations for chromosome

13, resulting in a diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of 25% and 69% respectively (Fig. 1). As a control we calculated RSTD ratios for chromosome 21 for all samples tested in this study (n=17) using the 99% CI previously published (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). All samples tested in this study were indeed identified as disomic for chromosome 21 (Fig 1). When calculating a 99% CI using RSTD results from this study a similar upper boundary was obtained, thus confirming this result.

As a follow up on noninvasive T21 detection using single molecule sequencing, in the present study we demonstrated successful noninvasive detection of T18 (100% diagnostic sensitivity and specificity) using free DNA from maternal plasma from 11w + 4d of gestation onwards. The mean percentage of cffDNA in maternal plasma in the first trimester was 4.03% and we observed an increase in fetal fraction during the second trimester, with a mean percentage of 21.1%. This observation is concordant with previous reports (LUN *et al.*, 2008a; LO *et al.*, 1998). Even though the percentage increased, we still observed quite a large range between individuals with an approximate 4-fold change for the second trimester pregnancies, up to a 13-fold difference between first trimester samples.

Compared to noninvasive detection of T18, our data showed low diagnostic sensitivity and specificity for detection of T13 using single molecule sequencing. Previous publications from other groups also reported reduced diagnostic sensitivity and/or specificity for noninvasive T13 detection (CHEN *et al.*, 2011; LAU *et al.*, 2012b; PALOMAKI *et al.*, 2012; BIANCHI *et al.*, 2012). However, the values were not as low as observed in this study. Furthermore, in these cases it was thought to be related to the GC content of chromosome 13 given that PCR based Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) platforms were used. As shown in our previous study, data for chromosome 13 are biased on such platforms (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). Chromosome 13, compared to 18 and 21, has the lowest GC content of all three (38.5%) (DUNHAM *et al.*, 2004). This low GC content could be reason for a misrepresentation of the amount of sequencing reads coming from these PCR based NGS platforms. However, in the current study, single molecule sequencing results were not influenced by a chromosome's GC content, implying that other factors might be involved in lowering the diagnostic sensitivity and specificity for noninvasive trisomy 13 detection.

The fetal contribution of free DNA in maternal plasma is derived from syncytiotrophoblasts undergoing apoptosis (ALBERRY et al., 2007). Placental apoptosis is a naturally occurring process during gestation in both normal and abnormal pregnancies, resulting in fragmented fetal DNA circulating in the maternal circulation (HEAZELL et al., 2008; ALBERRY et al., 2007). Some studies have demonstrated the difference in size between fetal and maternal free DNA fragments and have even shown that the entire fetal genome is present (LO et al., 2010). However, virtually no studies have considered that fetal DNA from chromosomes of different sizes and/or those of differing GC contents may fragment at different rates. Considering that chromosome 13 is the largest acrocentric chromosome with the lowest gene density among all human chromosomes (DUNHAM et al., 2004), its stability may differ from chromosome 18 and 21. A less stable chromosome is hypothesized to degrade faster, which could lead to a skewed number of DNA fragments from this particular chromosome in maternal plasma. Also, several segmental duplications with at least 90% homology and regions with a high SNP density due to the presence of paralogous sequence variants have been shown for chromosome 13 (DUNHAM et al., 2004). This may influence data analysis, resulting in improper assignment of reads to a certain chromosome during alignment. Which factors exactly play a role is not clear at this point and needs to be studied in more detail; however, our study suggests that sequencing

SRY (pg/ 10 µL)	2	4	11	10	5	5	5	6	ND	9	14	ND	ND	ND	ND	4	£
CVS/ Amnio	CVS	CVS	CVS	CVS	CVS	CVS	Amnio	CVS	CVS	Amnio	CVS	CVS	CVS	CVS	Amnio	CVS	CVS
GA Blood	12 w + 1d	12 w + 1d	12 w + 6d	13 w + 5d	11 w + 4d	11 w + 6d	22 w + 1d	13 w + 1d	11 w + 6d	21 w + 3d	12 w + 6d	13 w + 3d	13 w + 4d	11 w + 4d	15 w +2d	12 w + 3d	12 w + 3d
Indication	Ultrasound abnormality	Ultrasound abnormality	Increased NT/ serum screening	Ultrasound abnormality	Increased NT/ serum screening	Ultrasound abnormality	Ultrasound abnormality	Advanced maternal age	Ultrasound abnormality	Ultrasound abnormality	Ultrasound abnormality						
Maternal age, years	28	33	30	30	44	44	33	39	42	39	38	36	41	37	35	37	29
Karyotype	46,XY	46,XY	46,XY	46,XY	47,XY,+18	47,XX,+18	47,XX,+18	47,XX,+13	47,XX,+13	47,XY,+13	47,XY,+13						
Sample number	1	2	ю	4	5	9	7*	∞	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17

Table 1: GA blood, gestational age at the time of blood collection depicted as weeks + days; amnio, amniocentesis; CVS, chorionic villus sampling; NT, nuchal translucency measurement; SRY, fetal DNA concentrations of the SRY gene were determined by quantitative real-time Taqman PCR. *This blood sample was obtained 6 days after amniocentesis. Other blood samples were obtained prior to the invasive procedure.

Table 1. Overview of included maternal plasma samples.

data are influenced by more than just GC content alone. Data analysis for noninvasive fetal trisomy 13 detection may therefore require a different approach.

In summary, we demonstrate successful noninvasive T18 detection using a combination of single molecule sequencing and relative sequence tag density ratio calculations, while non-invasive T13 detection is not accurate using this approach.

Acknowledgements:

The authors would like to thank all participants to this study, Jennie Verdoes from the Department of Obstetrics of the LUMC for including the pregnant women and Michiel van Galen and Henk Buermans for bioinformatics support.



Chapter 5

A novel targeted approach for noninvasive detection of paternally inherited mutations in maternal plasma

Chapter 5: A novel targeted approach for noninvasive detection of paternally inherited mutations in maternal plasma

Jessica van den Oever

Ivonne van Minderhout

Kees Harteveld

Nicolette den Hollander

Bert Bakker

Nienke van der Stoep

Elles Boon

J Mol Diagn. 2015 Jul 7. pii: \$1525-1578(15)00126-9. doi: 10.1016/j. jmoldx.2015.05.006

Abstract

The challenge in noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) for monogenic disorders lies in the detection of low levels of fetal variants in the excess of maternal cell-free plasma DNA. Next Generation Sequencing (NGS), which is the main method used for noninvasive prenatal testing and diagnosis, can overcome this challenge. However this method may not be accessible to all genetic laboratories. Moreover, shotgun NGS as for instance currently applied for noninvasive fetal trisomy screening may not be suitable for the detection of inherited mutations. We have developed a sensitive, mutation specific and fast alternative for NGS-mediated NIPD using PCR methodology. For this proof of principle study, noninvasive fetal paternally inherited mutation detection was performed using cell-free DNA from maternal plasma. Preferential amplification of the paternally inherited allele was accomplished through a personalized approach using a blocking probe against maternal sequences in a high resolution melting curve analysis (HR-MCA) based assay. Enhanced detection of the fetal paternally inherited mutation was obtained for both an autosomal dominant and a recessive monogenic disorder by blocking the amplification of maternal sequences in maternal plasma.

Introduction

Since the successful introduction of noninvasive prenatal testing for fetal trisomy screening, there has also been a growing request to expand the repertoire for noninvasive prenatal diagnostics (NIPD). NIPD can be performed on small fragments of cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) that are present in maternal plasma (Lo *et al.*, 1997). On average, from about 7-9 weeks in gestation the amount of cffDNA is sufficient to be detected noninvasively in maternal plasma (HILL *et al.*, 2010). Current clinical application of NIPD include fetal sex determination, fetal Rhesus D (*RhD*) determination and the diagnosis of several monogenic disorders. For the latter, NIPD can be applied in both autosomal dominant and recessive cases, most efficiently when the mother does not carry the mutant allele and/or carries a different mutation compared to the father respectively (DALEY *et al.*, 2014; BUSTAMANTE-ARAGONES *et al.*, 2012).

One of the biggest challenges of noninvasive detection of paternally inherited sequences in the fetus, is the excess of maternal cell-free DNA (cfDNA) in plasma. Here a parallel can be drawn towards cancer genetics, which faces similar challenges in the need to detect mosaic or low level somatic mutations in the presence of excess wild-type sequences (OH et al., 2010). Deep sequencing approaches using various Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) platforms can be used to overcome these challenges for both NIPD and cancer genetics (e.g. targeted NGS approaches for both cancer detection and therapy) (CHANG et al., 2013; HAGE-MANN et al., 2013; Lo et al., 2010). Even though the application of NGS for both these purposes is expanding, currently implementation and proper validation of novel applications for NGS in diagnostics is still quite expensive, especially when this method is applied for the detection of merely 1 or 2 variants. Moreover, NGS may be less suitable for the detection of variants in certain regions of the genome, such as GC rich regions and repeat areas and may therefore not be the most eligible method of choice for mutation detection. Therefore this study is aimed to develop an alternative noninvasive paternal mutation detection method that does not require NGS. Such an alternative needs to be accessible for genetic diagnostic laboratories and needs to be sensitive enough to detect the low levels of fetal sequences in maternal plasma.

High-resolution melting curve analysis (HR-MCA) is a relatively simple, fast and low-cost technique for genotyping and mutation scanning and is frequently used in routine molecular and cancer diagnostics (MONTGOMERY et al., 2007; OH et al., 2010; ALMOMANI et al., 2009; VAN DER STOEP et al., 2009). It combines (asymmetric) PCR with a short post-PCR melting step to detect sequence variations using a saturating double-stranded DNA binding dye (Montgomery et al., 2007). Although HR-MCA is a relatively sensitive technique, the detection of mosaic or low level mutations may still be challenging and variant dependent (OUT et al., 2015). Therefore, variations in traditional HR-MCA methods have been developed to overcome this challenge (CHOU et al., 2005; OH et al., 2010; LAUGHLIN et al., 2010; WARSHAWSKY et al., 2011; MACHER et al., 2012). The majority of these studies describe the use of either peptide nucleic acid (PNA) or locked nucleic acid (LNA) probes. Addition of such probes to the PCR reaction results in clamping or blocking specific undesired PCR products by inhibiting amplification (CHOU et al., 2005; OH et al., 2010; LAUGHLIN et al., 2010; WARSHAWSKY et al., 2011). LNA is a bicyclic high affinity nucleic acid analogue that contains a ribonucleoside link between the 2'-oxygen and the 4'-carbon atoms with a methylene unit (2'-O,4'-C-methylene bridge) (MOURITZEN et al., 2003; WARSHAWSKY et al., 2011). The thermal stability, binding capacity and affinity of LNA to complementary DNA increases substantially with each LNA base incorporated, resulting in suppressed amplification of these complementary sequences (MOURITZEN et al., 2003; WAR-SHAWSKY et al., 2011). More importantly, in case of a mismatch, the LNA probe does not bind to the template with high affinity, enabling primer extension and preferential amplification of the allele of interest. This principle of allele specific blocking could be of use in NIPD to obtain preferential amplification of the paternally inherited allele through targeted blocking of the maternal allele. By first determining both parental genotypes, target specific LNA probes against maternal sequences could be designed, enabling preferential amplification and specific detection of the paternally inherited mutation in maternal plasma.

In this proof of principle study we describe a fast and sensitive alternative for NGS-mediated NIPD using a PCR-based methodology. We have explored the use of HR-MCA in combination with target specific blocking LNA probes to obtain allele specific blocking of maternal sequences for the enhanced detection of the fetal paternally inherited allele in maternal plasma. We show that this novel approach for NIPD can be applied in both an autosomal dominant and recessive monogenic disorder.

Methods

Patients

Two couples who opted for prenatal diagnosis visited the department of Clinical Genetics. Both mothers underwent an invasive procedure (chorionic villus sampling (CVS)) for prenatal diagnosis to determine fetal genotype for a familial mutation. In case 1, the father was a carrier of a pathogenic *BRCA2* mutation (c.5682C>G, p.Tyr1894*). In case 2, both parents were carriers of a different heterozygous mutation in the *HBB* gene. The mother was heterozygous for the HbC mutation (c.19G>A, p.Glu7Lys) and the father was heterozygous for the HbS mutation (c.20A>T, p.Glu7Val). A previous child was also shown to be a carrier of the HbS mutation. Maternal blood withdrawal was performed at 10+6 and 11+1 weeks of gestation for case 1 and 2 respectively after informed consent was obtained.

Sample processing

Maternal (n=2) and paternal (n=1) plasma (input 800 μ L) was isolated, processed and measured as previously described (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012). Isolated plasma DNA was concentrated to 20 μ L using the Zymo Clean & Concentrator^M -5 kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, USA). As a control, the total amount of cell-free DNA (fetal + maternal) was determined by Real Time PCR detection of *CCR5* as previously described (BOON *et al.*, 2007). A total concentration of 112 pg/ μ L and 350 pg/ μ L was obtained for the *BRCA2* and *HBB* case respectively. Genomic DNA (gDNA) from all parents was isolated from peripheral blood cells using automated isolation (QIAGEN, VenIo, the Netherlands). Fetal gDNA was isolated from CVS on the QIAcube according to manufacturer's instructions (QIAGEN, VenIo, the Netherlands).

Control samples

Several positive and negative control samples (gDNA and freshly isolated anonymized wild type (WT) plasma DNA) were used to optimize the assay. All control samples were isolated similarly to the parental DNA samples. For *BRCA2* a total of n= 20 control samples were analyzed: anonymized WT plasma DNA (n=12), WT gDNA (n=6) and gDNA from individuals heterozygous for the *BRCA2* mutation (n=4). For *HBB* a total of n=23 control samples were analyzed: anonymized WT plasma DNA (n=12), WT gDNA (n=4), gDNA heterozygous for HbC

(n=2), gDNA heterozygous for HbS (n=2), gDNA homozygous for HbC (n=1), gDNA homozygous for HbS (n=1) and gDNA from an individual compound heterozygous for HbC/HbS (n=1).

Assay design

PCR for HR-MCA was performed using target specific primers and a mutation specific unlabeled detection probe (from now on referred to as "mutation detection probe") with a 3' C3-spacer (Biolegio, Nijmegen, the Netherlands) and was executed both with and without the addition of a target specific blocking LNA probe (from now on referred to as "target blocking probe") (Exiqon, Vedbaek, Denmark) that binds to the WT or mutant maternal allele. Primer/ probe design was based on parental Sanger sequencing results of the region of interest (Table 1). Amplicons of 117 bp and 115 bp were designed for the detection of the familial *BRCA2* and *HBB* mutations respectively using LightScanner Primer Design (Idaho Tech/ BioFire Diagnostics, Salt Lake City, USA). In both cases, mutation detection probes were designed against the forward strand. Target blocking probes were designed against maternal templates in the same region as the mutation detection probes and were directed to the reverse strand.

PCR and HR-MCA

PCR and HR-MCA without target blocking probe were performed as previously described (VAN DER STOEP et al., 2009; ALMOMANI et al., 2009). In short, asymmetric PCR (to preferentially amplify the forward strand) was performed in 96-well non-transparent plates (Framestar, 4titude, Surray, United Kingdom) in a total reaction volume of 10 µL containing 1x LightScanner Master mix (Idaho Tech/ BioFire Defense), 5 pmol forward primer, 1 pmol reverse primer, 5 pmol mutation detection probe and 2 ng gDNA template. Primer specific optimal annealing temperature (Ta) for both primer sets was determined using a PCR gradient (58-64°C). Asymmetric PCR was performed with a reverse primer, forward primer and mutation detection probe ratio at 1:5:5 respectively. All samples were tested in duplicate. A range from 50 to 98°C was used for HR-MCA melting. Melt temperature (Tm) of normalized melting peaks was determined using the unlabeled probe genotyping analysis tool of the LightScanner software (Idaho Tech/ BioFire Diagnostics, Salt Lake City, USA). Target blocking probe was titrated into each reaction in a mutation detection probe to target blocking probe ratio from 1:1 to 1:10 (i.e. 5-50 pmol/reaction) and optimized for each set. Cycling protocol for testing the target blocking probe was 95°C for 5 min, 50 cycles of 10 s at 95°C, 20 s at 72°C and 30 s at the primer specific Ta of 58°C or 63°C for BRCA2 and HBB respectively to obtain target blocking probe binding prior to amplification (modified from Oh *et al.*) (OH *et al.*, 2010).

Determining the detection limit of the assay

As a control, the detection limit of the assay was determined using a mix of paternal gDNA (mutation carrier (MUT)) heterozygous for the familial mutation and maternal gDNA for each case, mimicking an artificial pregnancy (with the paternal gDNA representing the fetus). A relative serial dilution range from 33% to 1% paternal gDNA mixed into maternal gDNA was created using a total amount of ~425 pg mixed gDNA (maternal and paternal) per reaction. Both parental samples were also tested separately (100% paternal or 100% maternal gDNA). All samples were tested in duplicate using the optimal ratio of mutation detection probe to target blocking probe of 1:5 and 1:2 for *BRCA2* and *HBB* respectively in each PCR reaction.
Conditions for testing maternal plasma samples

Maternal plasma samples were tested together with corresponding parental gDNA, CVS gDNA and several positive and negative controls (see Control samples) using the cycling protocol for target blocking probes. When testing plasma samples total reaction volume was increased 1.5x enabling an input of 7.5 μ L of concentrated plasma DNA template per reaction. Plasma samples were tested at least in duplicate. Total gDNA input per reaction for control samples was 2 ng. Results were confirmed in at least 2 independent tests.

Results

Optimization of HR-MCA

To optimize parameters for HR-MCA mutation scanning using a mutation detection probe, DNA samples from all parents and several controls with known genotypes (anonymized plasma DNA and gDNA) were utilized. With the optimal Ta for the primers determined (i.e. 58°C or 63°C for *BRCA2* and *HBB* respectively), the target blocking probes specific for the maternal allele(s) were tested subsequently, together with the mutation detection probe. The selected PCR conditions used for testing the target (WT) specific blocking LNA probes enabled binding of the target blocking probe to unwanted target sequences prior to primer extension (Fig. 1). To determine optimal concentrations, target blocking probe was titrated into each PCR reaction, resulting in optimal ratios of mutation detection probe to WT target blocking probe of 1:5 and 1:2 for *BRCA2* and *HBB* respectively.



Figure 1: Principle of target blocking LNA probe binding in HR-MCA.

Target blocking probes designed against maternal wild type (WT) sequences are able to bind denatured single stranded WT sequences. No primer extension and amplification can occur (blue arrow, red cross). In case of a mutation (*) target blocking probes will not bind to paternal mutant (MUT) sequences (blue cross), enabling primer extension and amplification.

Next, we determined the detection limit of this assay. For each case, paternal (MUT) gDNA was mixed into maternal gDNA mimicking an artificial pregnancy using amounts of gDNA resembling the quantities of cfDNA found in maternal plasma early in gestation. Without the addition of a target blocking probe, a dilution effect is observed in the detection signal

of the MUT allele, while the detection signal of the WT specific melting peak was increased because of the high background of WT sequences (Fig. 2A). Without blocking, the mutant allele could no longer be detected in a relative paternal gDNA percentage of ~16% and lower (i.e. ~10 genome equivalents (GE), based on a conversion factor of 6.6 pg of DNA per cell). However, addition of a target blocking probe directed against maternal sequences resulted in preferential amplification and enhanced detection of the paternal mutation at ~1% - 2% paternal gDNA (i.e. ~0.5-2 GE) in a background of maternal sequences.



Figure 2: HR-MCA results using the *BRCA2* mutation detection probe.

Panel A: Without target blocking LNA probe: Gray: Wild type (WT) plasma DNA; Red: heterozygous paternal gDNA; Blue: control paternal gDNA (25%) diluted in WT maternal gDNA. Panel B: With target blocking LNA probe: WT signal is blocked (arrow). Gray: maternal WT gDNA; Red: heterozygous CVS gDNA; Blue: heterozygous paternal gDNA; Green: maternal plasma.

Testing maternal plasma samples

Paternal mutation detection was performed on total cfDNA from maternal plasma using a mutation detection probe and target blocking probe(s) for selective blocking of maternal template amplification during PCR amplification.

For case 1, results from WT plasma DNA show that with the use of only the *BRCA2* mutation detection probe, one WT specific normalized melting peak is present in HR-MCA, as expected in a WT individual, with a Tm calling at around 66°C (Fig. 2A, gray line). Paternal gDNA shows two melting peaks, with a Tm calling at 66°C for the WT and 72° for the *BRCA2* MUT specific peak respectively, as expected for an individual heterozygous for this mutation (Fig. 2A, red line). Similar results were obtained for paternal plasma (data not shown). As a control we mixed heterozygous paternal gDNA with maternal WT gDNA (25% paternal gDNA in 100% maternal gDNA). As expected, without the use of a target blocking probe a dilution effect of the MUT specific melting peak was observed (Fig. 2A, blue line). The detection signals were skewed towards detection of the WT specific melting peak as also previously observed in the aforementioned serial dilution range of mixed parental gDNA. To improve paternal mutation detection, we used a WT target blocking probe together with the *BRCA2* mutation de-

tection probe, resulting in inhibition of amplification of the WT *BRCA2* allele during PCR (Fig. 2B, arrow). As a result, the *BRCA2* mutation detection probe can no longer detect a WT PCR product in HR-MCA as shown for WT maternal gDNA (Fig. 2B, gray line). In CVS (red line) and paternal (blue line) gDNA samples heterozygous for the *BRCA2* mutation, only the *BRCA2* MUT specific normalized melting peak could be detected (Fig. 2B). In the maternal plasma sample, the paternally inherited mutation in the fetus could only be detected when the maternal WT template was blocked, showing that for this mutation, the addition of a single target specific blocking LNA probe is sufficient to enhance the detection of the paternally inherited *BRCA2* mutation (Fig.2B, green line).



Figure 3: Representation of the HR-MCA melting peak patterns for *HBB* from controls, parents and fetus using the HbS mutation detection probe.

Panel A: Selection of the positive and negative controls scanned for optimization of settings for HR-MCA tested without a target blocking LNA probe. Gray: Wild type (WT); Dark blue: control homozygous for HbS; Red: control homozygous for HbC; Light blue: control compound heterozygous for HbS/HbC. Panel B: Melting peak patterns of maternal (red; heterozygous for HbC), paternal and CVS gDNA (blue; both heterozygous for HbS), without addition of a target blocking LNA probe to the PCR reaction. Panel C: Samples tested with WT target blocking LNA probe directed to block only the maternal WT sequences (arrow). Gray: WT gDNA; Blue: paternal gDNA heterozygous for HbS; Red: maternal gDNA heterozygous for HbC; Green: maternal plasma. Panel D: Additional blocking with an HbC target blocking LNA probe directed to the maternal HbC allele together with a WT blocking LNA probe (arrows). Gray: maternal gDNA heterozygous for HbC; Blue: paternal gDNA heterozygous for HbS; Green: maternal gDNA

For case 2, the situation is more challenging. In this case both parents carry a different mutation in the *HBB* gene. These mutations even affect the same codon and the position of the mutations is only 1 bp apart. As a result, the template region covered by the paternal HbS mutation detection probe, also covers the adjacent maternal HbC mutation. When using only this HbS mutation detection probe (Fig. 3A and 3B, without LNA), results from parental, CVS and control gDNA samples show a specific normalized melting peak pattern in the HR-MCA assay for all 3 different alleles (HbC, WT and HbS with Tm calling at 62, 66 and 70°C respectively



Figure 4: Family pedigrees from participating couples.

Panel A: Case 1: Both father and fetus are heterozygous for BRCA2 mutation c.5682C>G, p. Tyr1894*. Panel B: Case 2: Both parents are heterozygous for a different mutation in the HBB gene. Mother is heterozygous for c.19G>A, p.Glu-7Lys (HbC), while father, daughter and the fetus are heterozygous for c.20A>T, p.Glu7Val (HbS).

(Fig. 3A and 3B). As expected, maternal gDNA shows a melting peak for the HbC and WT allele, since mother is heterozygous for HbC mutation (Fig. 3B, red line). Results from paternal gDNA (heterozygous for the HbS mutation) show two peaks for both the WT and HbS allele respectively (Fig. 3B, blue line). CVS gDNA displays a pattern similar to father (Fig. 3B, blue line).

Description	Sequences 5'- 3
BRCA2_NIPD_MCA_F	5'-CAA CGA GAA TAA ATC AAA AAT TTG-3'
BRCA2_NIPD_MCA_R	5'-TGC GTG CTA CAT TCA TCA TTA-3'
BRCA2_NIPD_MCA_P_Me*	5'-CCG TCC AAC AAT <u>C</u> CT CCG TAA CCT-3'
BRCA2_LNA (WT)	5'-T+T+G+T+TA+ <u>C</u> +G+A+G+GC-3'
HBB_NIPD_MCA_F	5'-GAC ACA ACT GTG TTC ACT AGC A-3'
HBB_NIPD_MCA_R	5'-CCA CCA ACT TCA TCC ACG TTC A-3'
HBB_NIPD_MCA_P_Me*	5'-GCA GAC TTC TCC <u>A</u> CA GGA GTC AG-3'
HBB_LNA1 (WT)	5'-+T+G+A+C+TC+C+T+G+ <u>A</u> +G-3'
HBB_LNA2 (HbC)	5'-C+T+C+C+T+ <u>A</u> +A+G+G+A+G-3'

Table 1: Primer and probe sequences.

Table 1: Primer and probe sequences used for PCR and HR-MCA.

Forward (F) and reverse (R) primers are depicted for both cases. Mutation detection probes (P) contain a 3' C3-spacer (Me*). LNA (locked nucleic acid) modified bases in the target blocking probes are depicted with + prior to the base. Target blocking probes were designed to perfectly match maternal sequences. Position of the altered nucleotide is underlined.

The addition of a WT target (*HBB*) blocking probe to the PCR reaction, completely blocked amplification of the WT *HBB* allele. As expected, no PCR product can be detected by the HbS mutation detection probe in WT control plasma DNA (data not shown) and WT gDNA (Fig. 3C, gray line and arrow), while in heterozygous maternal and paternal gDNA only the HbC and HbS MUT peaks are visible (Fig. 3C, red line (HbC) and blue line (HbS) respectively). More importantly, results from maternal plasma show that blockage of only the maternal WT *HBB* allele is not sufficient to detect the fetal paternally inherited HbS mutation (Fig. 3C, green line). In maternal plasma only the maternal HbC specific melting peak is visible, since the excess of HbC allele is not blocked by the WT *HBB* target blocking probe (Fig. 1). Hence, an HbC target

blocking probe was designed and additionally titrated into the PCR reactions together with both the HbS mutation detection probe and the WT (HBB) target blocking probe. The optimal ratio between HbS mutation detection probe, WT target blocking probe and HbC target blocking probe per reaction was shown to be 1:2:2 respectively. As expected, no signal is detected in maternal gDNA (Fig. 3D, gray line) when simultaneously blocking WT and HbC templates (Fig. 3D, arrows). In paternal gDNA only the HbS peak is visible (Fig. 3D, blue line). Subsequently, in maternal plasma the paternally inherited HbS mutation in the fetal cfDNA can now be detected after simultaneously blocking amplification of both maternal WT *HBB* and HbC allele (Fig. 3D, green line).

For both case 1 and case 2, successful detection of the fetal paternally inherited mutation in maternal plasma was achieved using this LNA-mediated targeted blocking approach in HR-MCA for NIPD. In case 1 this meant that the fetus would be affected and in case 2 the fetus would either be a carrier or affected with the disease. All results were concordant to Sanger sequencing results from CVS derived gDNA obtained after invasive procedures. (Fig. 4).

Discussion

The use of cffDNA isolated from maternal plasma for prenatal molecular testing or diagnostics has increased rapidly. Noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT) for fetal trisomy screening has been introduced successfully in the past few years. Maternal plasma is easily obtainable and very early in pregnancy sufficient amounts of cffDNA are present. All this, together with the low risk for the fetus and continuous improvements of detection methods, have provided many advances for the use of NIPD in favor of invasive testing procedures early in gestation (DALEY *et al.*, 2014).

Advantage and application of the HR-MCA approach in NIPT

In this proof of principle study, we demonstrate the use of LNA target specific blocking probes in HR-MCA. These target blocking LNA probes are directed against maternal background sequences in order to enhance the detection of fetal paternally inherited mutations in maternal plasma DNA. We choose to explore this approach since this methodology is sensitive, mutation specific and has a short turnaround time. Moreover, HR-MCA is easy to implement in diagnostics and also equipment that is required to perform HR-MCA is relatively inexpensive. This makes this method more manageable for genetic laboratories rather than for example an NGS mediated approach.

High throughput whole genome shotgun sequencing as currently performed for NIPT is not efficient for the detection of a single paternally inherited mutation since this method will require a much higher vertical coverage of the data than currently is obtained. Targeted sequencing may be a good alternative NGS method to use for mutation detection since good vertical coverage can be obtained. Pooling of multiple samples is required to obtain cost reduction. However, in case of prenatal testing, a short turnaround time is demanded. Therefore batching of samples might not always be feasible because of insufficient sample number. The advantage of HR-MCA is that it can always be performed within a short turnaround time regardless of the sample number.

When performing paternally inherited mutation detection using this novel HR-MCA based approach in NIPD, for autosomal dominant disorders it is restricted to cases where the mother does not carry the mutation, while for autosomal recessive disorders mother and

father should carry different mutations (DALEY *et al.*, 2014). In this proof of principle study, we have pursued a personalized approach and we have used these differences in parental genotype to design target blocking LNA probes for use in HR-MCA which are specifically directed against the maternal sequences. This way, amplification of maternal cfDNA in plasma, including the maternally inherited fetal allele, will be blocked, providing enhanced sensitivity and specific detection of paternally inherited mutations by mutation specific detection probes. Such an approach could be a first step towards expanding the current repertoire for NIPD towards a more general application by detecting recurrent pathogenic mutations or genotypes linked to a pathogenic haplotype.

Detection of paternally inherited mutations in maternal plasma DNA using HR-MCA.

In this study, we describe the application of this approach for 2 different cases; one autosomal dominant (BRCA2) and one autosomal recessive monogenic disorder (HBB). While for case 1 (BRCA2) maternal sequences could be blocked with the use of only a single blocking LNA probe, for case 2 (*HBB*) the situation was more challenging. Both parents were heterozygous for a different mutation in the HBB gene and these mutations involved the same codon/ amino acid by affecting a bp substitute 1 bp apart. Therefore, the template region covered by the HbS specific detection probe and the WT specific blocking LNA probe, also covered the adjacent maternal HbC mutation. Consequently, this implicated that the WT specific blocking LNA probe would have a mismatch on the other maternal (HbC) allele and amplification of this HbC allele could therefore still occur. Blocking only the maternal WT allele in this case appeared insufficient for selective detection of the paternally inherited mutation because of the excess of amplified HbC specific template in maternal plasma after PCR. Both the maternal WT and HbC alleles needed to be blocked simultaneously to provide enough background reduction of maternal cfDNA to detect the paternally inherited mutation in the fetus. Considering the recessive inheritance of the disease, additional confirmation of the actual fetal genotype through an invasive procedure was still required for this case, to determine whether the fetus would be affected or a carrier of the disease. Nevertheless, in cases where the paternally inherited mutation is excluded an invasive procedure could be avoided using this approach (in \sim 50% of the cases).

Applying HR-MCA method in NIPD.

As shown in this study, this method can be used successfully for NIPD. Do note that additional controls to confirm the presence of cffDNA in plasma are essential in NIPD to exclude false negative results, especially when no paternally inherited mutation was detected (BOON *et al.*, 2007; VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2013). Due to the fragmented nature of circulating cfDNA, there is a restriction for designing primers and probes. Fetal cfDNA is on average around 143-146 bp in size, which limits amplicon size for PCR (LO *et al.*, 2010).

HR-MCA has previously been proposed as a useful method for NIPD (YENILMEZ *et al.*, 2013; MACHER *et al.*, 2012; PHYLIPSEN *et al.*, 2012). In these studies no blocking LNA probe was used. The use of a blocking LNA probe could however be essential for the detection of fetal mutations in case of low fetal fraction or for the detection of more challenging mutations. In the study of Yenilmez and colleagues HR-MCA without a blocking LNA probe was performed and was not successful in case of early gestation (YENILMEZ *et al.*, 2013). Levels of cffDNA may differ extensively between individuals and have been described to increase as gestation progresses (Lo *et al.*, 1998; LUN *et al.*, 2008a). Early in gestation, fetal paternally inherited variants may not be distinguished from the maternal background, since the levels of cffDNA

are too low to detect. We have previously shown that the lowest detectable fraction of a variant or mosaic by a conventional HR MCA approach (without a blocking probe) is very variant dependent and can be limited to only 25% (OUT *et al.*, 2015) Therefore, it will be particularly challenging for some variants to be detected at low levels of template DNA, not only in gDNA but especially in plasma DNA. For future NIPD, the use of target blocking probes to block the amplification of undesired PCR products may therefore be extremely useful for mutation detection early in gestation, if not essential.

In summary, in this proof of principle study we have successfully demonstrated a PCRbased target specific detection HR-MCA approach that is suitable for the detection of paternally inherited mutations in cffDNA from maternal plasma by making use of a target specific LNA blocking probe. We have used a personalized approach by designing primers, paternal allele specific mutation detection probes and maternal allele specific target blocking probes based on parental sequences. The application of this method was shown for NIPD in both an autosomal dominant and recessive monogenic disorders and can be used as a sensitive and fast alternative for NGS-based approaches.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Dave van Heusden for technical assistance.



Chapter 6

Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington Disease; detection of the paternally inherited expanded CAG repeat in maternal plasma

Chapter 6: Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington Disease; detection of the paternally inherited expanded CAG repeat in maternal plasma

Jessica van den Oever

Emilia Bijlsma

Ilse Feenstra

Nienke Muntjewerff

Inge Mathijssen

Mariëtte Hoffer

Bert Bakker

Martine van Belzen

Elles Boon

Prenat Diagn, 2015 Mar 12. doi: 10.1002/pd.4593.

Abstract

Objective: With a shift towards noninvasive testing, we have explored and validated the use of noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) for Huntington disease (HD).

Methods: Fifteen couples have been included, assessing a total of n=20 pregnancies. Fetal paternally inherited CAG repeat length was determined in total cell-free DNA from maternal plasma using a direct approach by PCR and subsequent fragment analysis.

Results: All fetal HD (n=7) and intermediate (n=3) CAG repeats could be detected in maternal plasma. Detection of repeats in the normal range (n=10) was successful in n=5 cases where the paternal repeat size could be distinguished from maternal repeat patterns after fragment analysis. In all other cases (n=5) the paternal peaks coincided with the maternal peak pattern. All NIPD results were concordant with results from routine diagnostics on fetal genomic DNA from chorionic villi.

Conclusion: In this validation study we demonstrated that all fetuses at risk for HD could be identified noninvasively in maternal plasma. Additionally, we have confirmed results from previously described case reports that NIPD for HD can be performed using a direct approach by PCR. For future diagnostics, parental CAG profiles can be used to predict the success rate for NIPD prior to testing.

Introduction

Huntington disease (HD, OMIM #143100) is an autosomal dominant progressive neurodegenerative disorder, characterized by irrepressible motor symptoms, cognitive impairment and psychiatric disturbances (LANDLES *et al.*, 2004). HD is caused by the expansion of a polymorphic trinucleotide (CAG)n repeat in exon 1 of the huntingtin (*HTT*) gene (previously known as *IT15*) which is located on chromosome 4p16.3 (THE HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE COLLABORATIVE RESEARCH GROUP, 1993). CAG repeats are classified in 3 major categories: Alleles < 27 CAG repeats are classified as normal, the range between 27 and 35 as intermediate and > 36 repeats as causing HD. Repeats in the intermediate range can be unstable and may expand into the affected range over generations, predominantly upon paternal germline transmission (SEMAKA *et al.*, 2010). As a consequence, the offspring is at risk for developing HD.

Prospective parents in families with HD may opt for prenatal testing which can be accomplished via in vitro fertilization (IVF) in combination with preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) or prenatal molecular testing. The latter option can be performed either by means of a direct approach, testing the expanded CAG repeat and/or by linkage analysis of informative markers (DE DIE-SMULDERS et al., 2013). In contrast to PGD, prenatal molecular testing is offered by many labs (DE DIE-SMULDERS et al., 2013). Prenatal diagnosis for HD, as for many other genetic disorders, is performed on fetal DNA derived from invasive procedures such as chorionic villus sampling (CVS) or amniocentesis. These procedures are associated with a small but significant procedure-related risk of fetal loss of ~0.5-1% (NICOLAIDES et al., 1994; TABOR et al., 2010). After the discovery of the presence of circulating cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) in maternal plasma, a shift towards noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) occurred as an alternative for prenatal testing (Lo et al., 1997). Several NIPD studies have since been incorporated into daily clinical practice, including fetal sex determination, fetal Rhesus D (RHD) determination and the diagnosis of monogenetic disorders caused by single mutations or small duplications/ deletions (DALEY et al., 2014; VAN DEN OEVER et al., 2013). However, only a few case studies have been reporting on disorders caused by the expansion of large polymorphic trinucleotide repeats. Four previous papers from one group describe NIPD for a total of 7 unique cases of fetuses at risk for HD (GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ et al., 2003a; GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ et al., 2003b; GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ et al., 2008; BUSTAMANTE-ARAGONES et al., 2012). In these studies a direct approach for NIPD was used by determining paternally inherited fetal CAG repeat length in maternal plasma using (semi-)quantitative fluorescent polymerase chain reaction. In 5 out of these 7 cases this direct approach was applied successfully.

All diagnostic testing for HD in the Netherlands is performed in our facility. Due to a general shift towards less invasive sampling techniques in the Netherlands, there is also an appeal for NIPD for HD. Here we describe a validation study for the detection of the paternally inherited CAG repeat in maternal plasma for fetuses at risk for HD.

Patients and Methods

Patients

From 2010 onwards, pregnant couples of which the male was at risk for developing HD and opting for prenatal diagnosis, were asked to participate in this study and to provide additional blood samples for NIPD. Inclusion criteria for this study were (1) only the prospective father is a carrier for a CAG repeat in the intermediate or HD range, (2) a singleton pregnancy with a gestational age from 8 weeks onwards and (3) signed informed consent. Exclusion criteria for participation were (1) invasive procedure performed prior to blood sampling, (2) fetal demise at the time of blood sampling, (3) inability to understand the study information and (4) age at time of sampling < 18 yrs. Sixteen couples directly met all inclusion criteria mentioned above. Two cases were excluded afterwards: one pregnancy resulted in early fetal demise after blood sampling and subsequent karyotyping revealed triploidy. The blood sample from the other pregnancy did not contain fetal DNA. One couple was included later in pregnancy. In this case, a period of > 4 wks between the invasive procedure and blood sampling was considered sufficient to exclude procedure related effects on cffDNA levels in maternal plasma. In total 15 couples were included in this study assessing 20 plasma samples from singleton pregnancies (Table 1). For 14 couples, full CAG repeat profiles from genomic DNA (gDNA) analysis were available for both parents. For 1 couple only the maternal profile was known. The father was at 50% risk for developing HD and at the time of prenatal diagnosis he refrained from molecular genetic testing. Written informed consent was obtained for all cases and all procedures were approved by the ethical standards of the Medical Ethics Committee (METC) of the Leiden University Medical Center.

Sample preparation

Maternal blood withdrawal was performed from 8 weeks of gestation onwards (range 7+6 – 16+1 wks+days, see Table 1). Maternal plasma was processed within 24 hrs after withdrawal and total cell-free DNA from plasma (input 800 µL) was isolated as previously described. (VAN DEN OEVER *et al.*, 2012) Isolated cell-free DNA was concentrated to 20 µL using the Zymo Clean & Concentrator™-5 kit (Zymo Research, USA). Paternal plasma (n=4) was obtained and processed similar to maternal plasma and was used as a control during optimization. Parental gDNA was isolated from peripheral blood cells using automated isolation (QIAGEN, the Netherlands). Fetal gDNA from CVS was isolated on the QIAcube according to manufacturer's instructions (QIAGEN, the Netherlands).

PCR amplification and fragment analysis:

A combination of PCR and subsequent automated fragment analysis was used to determine CAG repeat size. PCR for NIPD was performed in a final reaction volume of 25 µL containing 5 µL of concentrated plasma DNA, 5 pmol of each primer (modified from Warner et al. (WARNER et al., 1993); FW (HD1*): 5' 6-FAM*-ATG AAG GCC TTC GAG TCC CTC AAG TCC TTC-3' and Rev (HD3): 5'-GGC GGT GGC GGC TGT TGC TGC-3' (Biolegio, the Netherlands)) and 12.5 µL OneTaq Hot Start 2x Master Mix with GC buffer (New Engeland Biolabs, USA). Cycling conditions were 94°C for 5 min, 40 cycles of 94°C 30 sec, 63°C 1 min and 68°C 2 min, followed by a final extension at 68°C for 5 min. Each maternal plasma sample was tested in duplicate. In case of inconclusive results (i.e. no paternally inherited allele was detected), the test was repeated. Subsequent automated fragment analysis was performed on the 3130XL Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, USA) using Gene Scan™ 500 LIZ Size Standard (Applied Biosystems) and data was analyzed with GeneMarker Software version 2.4.0 (Softgenetics, USA) using an empirical determined and validated panel to convert fragment length (bp) into the number of CAG repeats. Fetal gDNA from CVS and parental gDNA samples (input 1 ng gDNA per reaction) were also tested with this NIPD protocol as additional controls. Findings from NIPD on maternal plasma were compared to results from routine prenatal diagnosis using fetal gDNA from CVS. All diagnostic testing for HD in our facility is performed under the guidelines of the European Molecular Genetics Quality Network and the Clinical Molecular Genetics Society (EMQN/CMGS).



Figure 1: Representative results for direct CAG repeat analysis on maternal plasma for 3 different pregnancies.

In each panel, the top part represents the result from maternal gDNA. The bottom part represents results from maternal plasma with the fetal paternally inherited repeat size indicated with *. Panel A: Family 78457; Fragment analysis on maternal plasma shows maternal CAG repeat of 17 and 22 together with the fetal paternally inherited repeat of 40 CAG repeats (insert). Panel B: Family 56092; The maternal profile of 18 and 20 CAG repeats is shown with a third distinct peak at 15 CAG repeats corresponding to the paternally inherited allele of the fetus. Panel C: Family 8062; Results show a maternal CAG repeat of 17 and 23. The paternally inherited fetal repeat of 15 CAG repeats coincides with the maternal stutter peak pattern and could not be confirmed.

	amily num- ber	Gestational age (weeks + days)	Paternal CAG repeat sizes	Maternal CAG repeat sizes	Fetal CAG repeat sizes ^a	Repeat range of the paternally inherited repeat	NIPD: paternal allele detected?
IBIA $8+0$ ID-30 Intermediate Intermediate $12-30$ Intermediate $12-30$ Intermediate $12-30$ $12-30^{\circ}$ Intermediate $12-30^{\circ}$	8395	7 +6	Unknown	16-18	18-23	Normal	Yes
181B 8 +4 1^{-30} 1^{-31} $15 \cdot 29^5$ Intermediate ⁽⁾ 1×10^2 1361 10 +3 15 -46 17.22 15 -17 Normal No 1361 10 +3 15 -46 17.22 15 -17 Normal No 1303 11 +1 27 -45 17 -17 17 -27 Normal No 8032 11 +1 27 -45 17 -13 17 -27 Normal No 8131 11 +0 25 -42 17 -13 17 -27 17 -27 Normal No 8153 10 +1 25 -42 17 -31 17 -47 Normal No 8154 10 +1 18 -40 17 -31 17 -47 17 -40 No 8150 11 +6 17 -41 17 -41 17 -40 17 -40 No 9121 11 +6 17 -41 17 -40 17 -40 No No 9122 11 +6 17 -41 17 -40 17 -40 No No	181A	8 +0			15- 30	Intermediate	Yes
1361 10+3 15-46 17-27 15-17 Normal No 8064 16+1 $27-45$ $17-17$ $17-27$ intermediate Yes 8054 16+1 $27-45$ $17-17$ $17-27$ intermediate Yes 8032 $11+1$ $15-43$ $27-45$ $17-17$ $17-27$ intermediate Yes 8131 $11+6$ $27-49$ $17-18$ $17-27$ $15-27$ $17-27$ Yes 8593 $11+6$ $25-42$ $17-31$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes 8533 $11+6$ $18-40$ $17-32$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes 9505 $11+4$ $17-41$ $17-42$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes 94228 $11+6$ $17-48$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes Yes 9421 $11+6$ $17-43$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes Yes 9422 $91+6$ $17-42$ $17-42$ Yes <td>181B</td> <td>8 +4</td> <td>17-30</td> <td>15-17</td> <td>15-29\$</td> <td>Intermediate^l</td> <td>Yes</td>	181B	8 +4	17-30	15-17	15- 29 \$	Intermediate ^l	Yes
6064 16+1 27-45 17-17 17-27 Interrediate Yes 8032 11+1 15-43 22-25 15-2 Normal Yes 8131 11+0 20-49 17-18 15-25 15-20 Normal Yes 8131 11+0 20-49 17-18 15-20 Normal Yes 8133 10+1 20-49 17-18 17-20 Normal Yes 8457 10+1 18-40 17-21 17-42 Normal Yes 9450 11+4 17-41 15-16 17-42 Normal Yes 9422 11+6 17-41 15-16 17-42 Normal Yes 9422 11+6 17-41 15-16 17-42 Normal Yes 9423 11+6 17-42 15-16 17-43 Yes Yes 9424 11+1 17-45 15-70* Normal Yes Yes 9425 11+1 17-25 <td>1361</td> <td>10 +3</td> <td>15-46</td> <td>17-22</td> <td>15-17</td> <td>Normal</td> <td>No</td>	1361	10 +3	15-46	17-22	15 -17	Normal	No
8032 11+1 15-43 22-25 15-2 15-2 15-3 Nomal Yes 8131 11+0 20-49 17-18 18-20 Nomal Yes 8131 11+0 20-49 17-18 18-20 Nomal Yes 15936 11+0 20-49 17-31 18-20 Nomal Yes 15938 11+0 25-42 17-31 17-32 17-42 Nomal Yes 15050 11+4 17-41 17-22 17-42 17-42 Nomal Yes 9050 11+4 17-41 15-18 17-40 Yes Yes 9124 11+6 17-48 17-47 17-47 Yes Yes 9125 13-45 17-47 17-47 Yes Yes Yes 9124 11+4 17-3 17-47 Yes Yes Yes 9124 11-4 17-47 Yes Yes Yes Yes 9124	3064	16 +1	27-45	17-17	17-27	Intermediate	Yes
3131 1140 20.49 17.18 18-20 Normal Yes 553A 10+3 25.42 17.43 13.42 HD Yes 553B 11+0 25.42 17.31 17.42 HD Yes 553B 10+1 18.40 17.31 17.42 HD Yes 553B 10+1 18.40 17.22 17.42 HD Yes 8457 $11+6$ 17.41 $15-13$ 17.47^5 HD Yes 9422B $11+6$ 17.43 17.47^5 17.47^5 HD Yes 9422B $11+6$ 17.43 17.47^5 17.47^5 HD Yes 9422B $11+6$ 17.23 15.70^4 17.47^5 HD Yes 9422B $11+1$ 17.43 15.70^4 HD Yes 9323 $11+1$ 17.42 15.17 17.42 YD Yes 9334 $8+3$ <td>8032</td> <td>11 +1</td> <td>15-43</td> <td>22-25</td> <td>15-22</td> <td>Normal</td> <td>Yes</td>	8032	11 +1	15-43	22-25	15 -22	Normal	Yes
1593(1) 10+3 $10+3$ $10-3$ <	3131	11 +0	20-49	17-18	18- 20	Normal	Yes
4593B 11+0 $25-42$ $1/-31$ $17-42$ $1/-42$ $1/-40$ 1	1593A	10 +3	C L C	7 7 7	31- 42	Η	Yes
8457 $10+1$ $18-40$ $17-22$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-40$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-41$ $17-47^5$	4593B	11 +0	74-67	T 7-7 T	17- 42	Η	Yes
9050 11+4 17-41 15-18 17-18 Normal Normal No 9422A 11+6 $17-41$ 15-18 $17-47^5$ HD Yes 9422B 13+5 $17-48$ $15-17$ $17-47^5$ HD Yes 9422B 13+5 $17-48$ $15-17$ $15-70^4$ HD Yes 9422B 9+6 15-46 $17-23$ $15-70^4$ HD Yes 9052 9+6 15-46 $17-23$ $15-70^4$ HD Yes 8052 9+6 15-46 $17-23$ $17-17$ $Normal$ No 5732B $8+5$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-42$ $17-42$ $NOrmal$ No 5732B $8+3$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $NOrmal$ No 5732B $8+3$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ $NOrmal$ $NO 5732B 8+3 10+6 17-42 17-17 $	8457	10 +1	18-40	17-22	17- 40	Η	Yes
442A 11+6 $17-48$ $17-47^5$ HD Yes 3422B 13+5 $17-48$ $15-17$ $15-70^{*}$ HD Yes 3422B 13+5 $17-48$ $15-17$ $15-70^{*}$ HD Yes 3622 9+6 $17-46$ $17-23$ $17-17$ Normal No 30289 $11+1$ $17-39$ $17-22$ $17-17$ Normal No 3732A $8+5$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ Normal No 5732B $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ $17-17$ $Normal No 5732B 10+6 17-42 17-17 17-17 Normal No 5732B 10+6 17-42 17-17 17-17 Normal No 5732B 10+6 18-3 23-3-54 17-17 Normal No 033A 8+3 10+6 18-34 17-17 Normal No $	9050	11 +4	17-41	15-18	17-18	Normal	No
442B 13 +5 $17-48$ $15-1/$ $15-70^{\text{H}}$ HD Yes 3062 9+6 15-46 17-23 $15-17$ Normal No 3062 9+6 15-46 $17-23$ $17-17$ Normal No 37328 $11+1$ $17-39$ $17-12$ $17-17$ Normal No 57328 $8+5$ $17-42$ $17-12$ $17-12$ $17-12$ Normal No 57328 $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ Normal No 57328 $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ $Normal$ No 57328 $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ $Normal$ No 0334 $8+3$ $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-17$ Normal No 0335 $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{*}$ $18-10$ Normal Yes 0338 $11+4$ $18-24$ $18-23$ Normal Yes	9422A	11 +6			17- 47 \$	ΠΗ	Yes
002 $9+6$ $15-46$ $17-23$ $15-17$ Normal No 0289 $11+1$ $17-39$ $17-23$ $17-17$ Normal No 0289 $11+1$ $17-39$ $17-22$ $17-17$ Normal No 0732 $8+5$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-42$ HD Yes 0732 $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-42$ HD Yes 0334 $8+3$ $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $17-42$ $Normal$ No 0334 $8+3$ $11-4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{\#}$ HD Yes 0338 $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{\#}$ $18-20$ $Normal$ Yes 0338 $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{\#}$ $18-20$ $Normal$ Yes 0338 $11+4$ $18-36$ $18-23$ $18-23$ $18-23$ $18-23$ Yes	9422B	13 +5	1/-48	15-17	15- 70 #	Η	Yes
0289 11+1 17-39 17-12 17-17 Normal No 7732A $8+5$ $17-32$ $17-12$ $17-12$ $17-12$ $17-42$ MD Yes 7732B $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-42$ $17-42$ MD Yes 7328 $10+6$ $17-42$ $17-17$ $Normal$ $Normal$ $Normal$ $033A$ $8+3$ $18-48$ $23-53^{+}$ $17-17$ $Normal$ $Normal$ $Normal$ $033B$ $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{+}$ $18-23$ $Normal$ Yes 0338 $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{+}$ $18-23$ $Normal$ Yes 0318 $11+4$ $18-48$ $23-53^{+}$ $18-20$ $Normal$ Yes 032 $11+4$ $18-48$ $18-20$ $18-20$ $Normal$ Yes	3062	9+6	15-46	17-23	15 -17	Normal	No
	0289	11 +1	17-39	17-22	17 -17	Normal	No
$732B$ $10+6$ $1^{7}-4^{2}$ $1^{7}-1^{7}$ $17-1^{7}$ Normal No $033A$ $8+3$ $18-4^{8}$ $23-53^{4}$ HD Yes $033B$ $11+4$ $18-4^{8}$ $23-25^{3}$ $18-23^{4}$ HD Yes $033B$ $11+4$ $18-4^{8}$ $23-25^{3}$ $18-23^{4}$ $Normal$ Yes $033B$ $11+4$ $15-4^{2}$ $18-20$ $18-20$ $Normal$ Yes	5732A	8 +5	1	7 7 7	17- 42	Η	Yes
	5732B	10 +6	T/-42	11-11	17 -17	Normal	No
033B 11+4 L0-40 23-23 18-23 Normal Yes 6092 11+5 15-42 18-20 15-20 Normal Yes	033A	8 +3	10 10	33 3E	23- 53 #	Η	Yes
6092 11+5 15-42 18-20 15-20 Normal Yes	033B	11 +4	0 1 -01	67-67	18 -23	Normal	Yes
	6092	11 +5	15-42	18-20	15 -20	Normal	Yes

indicated with A and B. w+d, weeks + days (A) Fetal CAG repeat size results from chorionic villus gDNA, with the paternally inherited repeat depicted in bold. "Repeat expanded upon transmission. ⁵Repeat contracted upon transmission.

Table 1: Overview of ncluded samples.

Results

All fetal paternally inherited HD (n=7) and intermediate (n=3) CAG repeats could be detected in one or more replicates in maternal plasma (Table 1, Figure 1A). In our study, the CAG repeat had contracted upon transmission in two cases and expanded in two cases. The longest fetal repeat present in this cohort was 70 CAG repeats (Table 1). Transmission of repeats in the normal range could be detected in 50% of the cases (n=5). These repeat sizes were either at least 2 repeats larger or 3 repeats smaller than the nearest maternal CAG repeat (Figure 1B). In all other cases (n=5) results were inconclusive because either both parents shared a particular repeat size or the paternally inherited peak coincided with the maternal stutter peak profile in fragment analysis and could therefore not be distinguished (Figure 1C). All NIPD results were concordant to results obtained in routine prenatal diagnosis using fetal gDNA from CVS. The accuracy of this NIPD test is 100%, provided this test is performed in duplo or triplo.

Discussion and Conclusions

In the past few years, the use of NIPD in a clinical setting has already been established for applications such as fetal sexing and *RhD* detection. Nevertheless, little is known yet about NIPD for disorders caused by polymorphic repeat expansions, such as HD. In this validation study for NIPD of HD, we show that we can indeed detect paternally inherited CAG repeats in maternal plasma. We have hereby not only confirmed the results from previously described case studies reported by González-González *et al.* and Bustamante-Aragones *et al.*, we have also extended the number of cases tested (GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ *et al.*, 2003a; GONZALEZ-GON-ZALEZ *et al.*, 2003b; GONZALEZ-GONZALEZ *et al.*, 2008; BUSTAMANTE-ARAGONES *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, we show that NIPD for HD can also be used for successful detection of intermediate repeats in addition to normal and HD repeats. We did experience the same technical limitations for the detection of extremely large HD repeats and repeats in the normal range as previously described.

The success of detecting the paternal repeat in maternal plasma is influenced by several factors. Detection depends on the difference in size between the paternal and maternal repeats. Irrespective of the size range of the transmitted repeat (e.g. normal, intermediate or HD), our study shows that the paternal repeat can be detected in maternal plasma when there was a sufficient difference in size between paternal and maternal repeats. With respect to partially informative couples (i.e. parents share an allele size), this would mean that in NIPD only the extended paternal allele can be discriminated from the maternal profile. In case of informative couples (i.e. parents have 4 different CAG repeats) on the other hand, the terminology "informative" may be misleading in some cases. Even though in theory 4 different parental repeat sizes imply a high detection rate, results from NIPD may not always be informative when the paternal peak coincides with the stutter peak pattern of the maternal profile. Stutter peaks are a known phenomenon in repeat amplification (WALSH et al., 1996). Each peak in the stutter lacks one core repeat unit relative to the main peak. When the paternal CAG repeat size is directly adjacent to the maternal CAG repeat size, it may be very difficult to distinguish the signals. Therefore, the use of both parental gDNA profiles as a reference is very helpful in fragment analysis since patterns observed in gDNA are quite similar to patterns observed in plasma DNA. In our study, one family (#68395) was included in which the paternal genotype was unknown at the time of maternal blood sampling. Results from NIPD showed the father had transmitted a CAG repeat in the normal range, that could clearly be distinguished from the maternal profile. Shortly after fetal results from routine prenatal diagnostics were reported, he had his genotype determined. Outcome showed he actually had two CAG repeats in the normal range and both these repeats differed sufficiently from both the maternal repeats. This also illustrates that future cases where the father does not want to have his profile determined can indeed be included for NIPD. However, it may be more challenging to distinguish between a true or false negative result and couples should be informed about the limitations of performing NIPD without the accessibility of a paternal reference profile. Preferably, profiles of both parents should be available prior to the start of NIPD to determine whether couples are eligible for this test and to estimate the success rate of NIPD based on CAG repeat size differences.

Besides the difference in repeat sizes between both parents, also repeat size itself can be of influence for the success of direct analysis for NIPD. With an average size of ~143 bp, the fragmented nature of cffDNA indeed makes the detection of expanded repeats in the fetus more challenging (CHAN et al., 2004; LO et al., 2010). Expanded repeats can be unstable. When the inherited paternal allele is expanded upon transmission, there is a possibility that it becomes too large to be detected in fragmented cffDNA. Flanking primers used for detection of the CAG repeat may not be able to bind both sides of the fragment and thus amplification will be hampered. The longest repeat size described in the study by the group of Bustamante-Aragones et al. was 114 repeats and could not be detected (BUSTAMANTE-ARAGONES et al., 2008), while in our study the largest fetal CAG repeat was 70 (representing a PCR product of ~245 bp) which could be detected with NIPD. In this study we could detect all HD repeats, however such long repeats were not detected in every replicate. We therefore strongly advice to perform the test in duplo or triplo to obtain a more accurate and robust test result. Preferential amplification of small repeats (i.e. repeats in the normal range) is often observed after fragment analysis. As a consequence, there can be a large difference in the intensity of signals between different HD repeat ranges. The signal intensity of long CAG repeats is often much lower compared to the signal of smaller repeats and this phenomenon is observed in both gDNA as well as plasma DNA. In maternal plasma, the fetal contribution to the total amount of cell-free DNA is on average only ~10% in the first trimester, however this percentage may differ quite extensively between individuals (LO et al., 1998; LUN et al., 2008a). The group of Chan et al. report in their study only 20% of the total amount of fetal sequences in maternal plasma have a size >193 bp and this percentage decreases when fragments are even larger (CHAN et al., 2004). The low signal intensity of long CAG repeats together with the low amount of fetal sequences in these size ranges may explain why such long fetal repeats are not detected in every plasma DNA replicate.

Another factor to consider, especially when sampling very early in gestation, is a low amount of cffDNA in maternal plasma itself. Very low levels of cffDNA may lead to inconclusive results. In case of inconclusive results, a second blood sample could be requested to retest later in pregnancy. Nevertheless, for all inconclusive results prenatal testing through an invasive procedure is recommended.

In summary we show that in this study all fetuses at risk for HD could be identified noninvasively in maternal plasma. Moreover, we have hereby confirmed the results from previously published cases for NIPD of HD in a larger cohort. Our data also illustrates that when a paternally inherited allele in the normal range is transmitted to the fetus, the detection rate strongly depends on the size difference between paternal and maternal CAG repeats. With this validation study we show that NIPD for HD can indeed be performed through direct testing of paternally transmitted repeats in maternal plasma, although not every couple will be good candidates for this test. However, prior to testing, parental CAG profiles can be used to determine whether a couple is actually eligible for NIPD. In conclusion, we consider the approach of detecting the paternally inherited repeat in maternal plasma by means of PCR and subsequent fragment analysis very promising application for NIPD of HD.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank René Belfroid and Sandra Arkesteijn for technical assistance and Phebe Adama van Scheltema for assistance with the research protocol for the Medical Ethics Committee. Furthermore, we would like to thank all clinical geneticists from MUMC, UMCN, AMC and LUMC and all couples for participating in this study.



Chapter 7

Discussion

Discussion

Fragmented cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) present in maternal plasma is a potential source for prenatal genetic analysis of the fetus early in gestation. Although the amount of fetal fragments in maternal plasma is relatively low as compared to the excess of maternal DNA, results from the study of Lo et al. showed that the entire fetal genome is present in maternal plasma (Lo et al., 2010). In theory, this could mean that every genetic defect in the fetus can be detected in maternal plasma by noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD). Since the whole fetal genome is present, a genome wide approach for NIPD could be used. Shotgun Whole genome sequencing (WGS) has already been applied for NIPT. However, for NIPD, shotgun WGS currently has its limitations. Many millions of sequencing reads can be obtained genome wide. Yet, shotgun sequencing occurs randomly and is not mutation specific. Hence, the coverage of a mutation or region of interest may be too low for reliable NIPD. A universal approach, such as WGS, for NIPD may therefore not be achievable or the preferred method of choice yet. Novel applications as well as other approaches could be considered and explored. There is a growing demand for less invasive alternatives in prenatal diagnostics. Therefore, it is to be expected that in the near future the number of available tests will increase dramatically. In this thesis, we have described several applications that make use of cfDNA from maternal plasma in NIPD and NIPT, such as fetal trisomy screening and targeted detection of paternally inherited mutations.

Fetal markers

In both NIPD and NIPT determination of the fetal fraction in maternal plasma can be important. Male specific markers (e.g. DYS14 and SRY) are used most often for this purpose. Despite the high sensitivity and specificity obtained in diagnostic tests with these markers, a positive result can only be obtained in case of a male fetus. Preferably a universal and sex independent marker such as fetal methylated RASSF1A (mRASSF1A) should be used to confirm the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma. This universal marker is differentially expressed between mother and fetus. In **chapter 2** we have described a novel approach for the detection of mRASSF1A in maternal plasma. We have used a combination of bisulfite conversion and pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization (PAP) for the detection of mRASSF1A. Bisulfite conversion is necessary to reveal the differences in methylation of cytosines between maternal and fetal sequences. PAP is an extremely sensitive and specific technique which can be used to detect specific sequences within a high background, in this case fetal specific sequences within the maternal background. Previously, the use of PAP in NIPD has proven to be of value in fetal sexing (BOON et al., 2007). PAP has also been described for the detection of residual tumour cells in blood, serum or plasma (MAAT et al., 2008). RASSF1A is a tumour suppressor gene and RASSF1A promoter hypermethylation is associated with loss of expression in tumour cells (HONORIO et al., 2003). The fact that RASSF1A expression is also tumour related is a very important consideration. Unknown underlying malignancies or circulating tumour cells in the maternal circulation may result in false positive results, although the prevalence of cancer in the reproductive age group is considered to be small. The laboratory should therefore always be informed when women opting for NIPD have a history of cancer. Other alternative tests could then be performed to confirm the presence of cffDNA in plasma, such as the determination of paternally inherited SNPs (ALIZADEH et al., 2002; PAGE-CHRISTIAENS et al., 2006). This assay is a good, although labour intensive, alternative for the PAP assay. Also, one should keep in mind that SNPs may not always be informative. Parents could have all tested SNPs in common, or the fetus did not inherit an informative paternal SNP.

The *mRASSF1A*-PAP we currently perform for fetal sexing is merely a qualitative test, rather than quantitative. Quantitative detection of a sex independent fetal marker would be extremely beneficial in both NIPD and NIPT to determine the fetal fraction in a sample. A digitalized quantitative PAP assay has previously been described, though these assays were performed without prior bisulfite conversion of the DNA (MADIC *et al.*, 2012; SONG *et al.*, 2014; BIDARD *et al.*, 2014). It has to be elucidated whether this combination of bisulfite conversion and subsequent digitalized PAP for the detection of *mRASSF1A* in maternal plasma would work. It would be very advantageous to combine such a digitalized PAP assay with NIPD of monogenic disorders. Not only the fetal paternally inherited mutation could then be detected, also the amount of cffDNA in the sample could be determined to define fetal fraction using the same sample. This in contrast to NIPT, where the amount of fetal DNA is determined either prior or after sample prep. At present, it is not yet clear which one of these determinations is the best predictor for the actual fetal fraction of a sample, since it is also not yet clear how these results will best represent the fetal fraction in the actual NGS data.

In the last few years, the search for other differentially methylated regions (DMRs) has continued (PAPAGEORGIOU et al., 2009; IOANNIDES et al., 2014; XIANG et al., 2014). Most of this research is performed with methylated DNA immunoprecipitation sequencing (MeDIP-Seq) together with comparative arrays to provide global methylation landscapes. The differences in methylation between mother and fetus are based on relative differences in expression or methylation level. Some candidate DMRs show a high level of heterogeneity between individual fetuses. Yet, good candidate DMRs for use in NIPT or NIPD require a high level of homogeneity between individual fetuses and should be able to exclude maternal DNA easily (XIANG et al., 2014). Even though MeDIP-Seq will give a good indication of which regions are differentially methylated, for use in a PAP assay, it has to be confirmed at nucleotide level whether these regions are indeed good candidate DMRs. The focus for the discovery of novel DMRs has been on chromosome 21 and 18. These DMRs have mostly been used for fetal trisomy screening (TONG et al., 2006; CHIM et al., 2008; TONG et al., 2010a; TONG et al., 2010b). Furthermore, recent studies have shown the determination of the fetal methylome and transcriptome (LUN et al., 2013; TSUI et al., 2014). In the near future, perhaps more candidate DMRs will be discovered that can be useful for NIPD or NIPT.

NIPT

For NIPT, we have proposed Helicos Single Molecule Sequencing (SMS) as an alternative non-PCR-based sequencing platform in **chapter 3 and 4**. In contrast to PCR-based platforms, Helicos SMS data show no GC bias. In this study, SMS was successful for both T21 and T18 detection. For T13 however, it appeared less optimal. In several NIPT studies performed on PCR-based platforms, the detection rate for NIPT of fetal trisomy 13 was reported to be lower as compared to T21 and T18 detection (GIL *et al.*, 2014). In several other studies, the lower detection rate has been explained by the difference in GC content between these chromosomes, mainly because chromosome 13 has the lowest average GC content of these three chromosomes (CHEN *et al.*, 2011; BIANCHI *et al.*, 2012; LAU *et al.*, 2012b; PALOMAKI *et al.*, 2012; NORTON *et al.*, 2012; SPARKS *et al.*, 2012a). In chapter 3 we have shown that the mean number of reads per 50 kb bin increases when GC content increases on a PCR based sequencing platform. For Helicos the mean read count was not influenced by GC content, thus Helicos data display no GC bias. Therefore, the difference in GC content could not explain the lower detection rate of

T13 with SMS. Kalousek *et al.* showed that all placentas from T13 and T18 fetuses examined in their study were mosaic (KALOUSEK *et al.*, 1996). In case of such confined placental mosaicism (CPM), the presence of large quantities of cells with different karyotypes may influence results of fetal aneuploidy detection. Even though CPM occurs frequently in T13 and T18 placenta's, in our preliminary study using SMS possible CPM could also not explain lower performance observed for T13, since full karyotyping of the samples showed CPM was not present. It should however be noted, that the number of samples tested for these preliminary studies using SMS has been low. Extending this data set would be very useful to elucidate the reason for the lower detection rate of T13 screening and to investigate the role of GC content and/ or bias for this particular chromosome. Unfortunately, since 2012 Helicos services were no longer available because of bankruptcy of the company and these tests could therefore not be performed for this thesis. A revival of the company might open possibilities to run additional samples to extend this data for fetal trisomy screening by use of SMS.

We have compared Helicos SMS with the Illumina GAII platform, which was mostly used for noninvasive fetal trisomy screening at that time. Since then, many improvements in the Illumina sequencing technology have been extremely beneficial for NIPT purposes and at present, Illumina sequencers (e.g. HiSeq) are most frequently used for NIPT. Newer updates with features such as a rapid run modus and decreased turn-around time are extremely beneficial for NIPT. With the introduction of novel sequencers such as HiSeq X Ten, which combines Nano technology to obtain sufficient data for a few genomes per single run, the costs for running NIPT samples may even further be reduced (BUERMANS *et al.*, 2014; HAYDEN, 2014).

Calculation methods and downstream analysis pipelines for NIPT have been improved in the last few years. Studies that use ratio calculations for fetal trisomy detection as described in chapter 3 and 4 have not been reported since. Currently the Z-score, NCV (**Appendix 3**) and student's t-test-based methods are mostly used, either as stand-alone methods or combined (CHIU *et al.*, 2008; SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011; JIANG *et al.*, 2012a; LO *et al.*, 2014; STRAVER *et al.*, 2014; BAYINDIR *et al.*, 2015). Thousands of NIPT samples have been processed in the past few years by many different groups and all these groups have been putting a lot of effort into optimizing NIPT for use in their laboratory setting, most frequently using the Illumina platform for sequencing.

Other single molecule sequencing platforms beside Helicos SMS have been developed in the past years, although not every platform may be as suitable for NIPT purposes. The PacBio sequencer by Pacific Biosciences is a single molecule real-time (SMRT) DNA sequencing system that records light pulses emitted as a by-product of nucleotide incorporation. One of the most important features of SMRT sequencing is fast run time (within hrs) and the extremely long read length that can be obtained. Compared to the 8-9 day running time of the Helicos flow cells, the PacBio sequencer is faster and scalable in runtime, which is favourable for NIPT turn-around time. Depending upon PacBio starting library, over half of the data are in reads > 14,000 base pairs long, starting from around 3000 bp with the longest reads over 40,000 bp. Such long read lengths can indeed be beneficial for several applications, nevertheless cfDNA in maternal plasma is on average a hundredfold shorter than the reads that can be obtained with this platform. Therefore, PacBio is not a suitable platform for NIPT. Also Oxford Nanopores, a platform that uses nanopores as biosensors, has similar advantages (e.g. fast and scalable run time) as compared to the PacBio. Sequencing with the Oxford Nanopores platform can also result in very long read lengths, although in contrast to PacBio where the fragment of interest is analysed multiple times, the read length on the Nanopore platform equals fragment size. Although Nanopore sequencers seem to have good features for NIPT purposes (e.g. single molecule, base detection without labels, low GC bias, multiplexing and scalable in data output), the use of this platform for NIPT has not been described yet (BUER-MANS *et al.*, 2014; ZHANG *et al.*, 2014).

Ion Torrent Technology on the other hand has both the advantage of producing short reads in a fast and cost-efficient manner, although the total amount of data per run is relatively low compared to the previously mentioned sequencing platforms. NIPT with semiconductor sequencing has indeed been described successfully (YUAN *et al.*, 2013; LIAO *et al.*, 2014). With the Ion Proton and/or improved chips for the Ion Torrent that will yield a larger number of reads, it is possible to run multiple samples at once and to handle a true clinical throughput of multiple samples per week (WANG *et al.*, 2014; JEON *et al.*, 2014). Hence, the improved Ion Torrent and especially the Ion Proton could be good alternative sequencing platforms for NIPT purposes.

Many different factors may influence the success rate of NIPT, such as the presence of (unknown) maternal chromosomal abnormalities, CPM, true fetal mosaicism (TFM) or a vanishing twin (BIANCHI et al., 2012; HALL et al., 2013; WANG et al., 2013; FUTCH et al., 2013; LAU et al., 2014). As mentioned previously fetal fraction is one of the key factors for successful NIPT and NIPD. Fetal fraction is determined with Real-Time PCR or is calculated from NGS data. With Real-Time PCR it is difficult to determine fetal fraction when the percentage is very low. If this is the case, the data are not robust since measurement is performed in only a few copies of the fetal genome. When calculating fetal fraction from the actual sequencing data by using Y chromosomal reads, one should take into account that there is also a small percentage of reads from maternal origin that can be incorrectly assigned to the Y chromosome (CHIU et al., 2011a; HUDECOVA et al., 2014). Fetus specific Y chromosomal reads need to be deduced from the maternal background. The downside of these two methods is that they are sex dependent. In a genome wide or a targeted NGS approach, millions of reads are produced from the cfDNA present in the sample. It is generally accepted that for NIPT ~10 million unique mappable reads are required for reliable analysis. Some studies additionally stress out that for such counting-based technologies a fetal fraction of at least 4% is required for analysis (EHRICH et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2011; PALOMAKI et al., 2012). Low fetal fraction may result in sample rejection or incorrect outcome. When the percentage of fetal sequences in a sample is too low as compared to the maternal background sequences, the relative contribution of a third chromosome in case of fetal trisomy is too low for this sample to be distinguished from the euploid foetus.

As previously described for fetal markers, both the presence and in this case quantification of cffDNA should preferably be performed with a sex independent method. The DANSR assay is an example of a NGS based sex-independent approach to determine fetal fraction. Here a set of 192 SNPs-containing loci on chromosome 1-12 was assessed for fetal trisomy detection (SPARKS *et al.*, 2012a; ASHOOR *et al.*, 2013; BRAR *et al.*, 2013). This SNP based approach is a targeted approach, since analysis involves a selection of autosomes. However, for WGS such a SNP based targeted approach is not cost efficient at this moment, since it requires a much higher horizontal and especially vertical coverage of SNPs to be analysed. The study of Lo *et al.*, in which they show by using WGS that the complete fetal genome is present in maternal plasma, already indicated that extremely large amounts of reads are required in WGS to have sufficient coverage of a given SNP (Lo *et al.*, 2010). At present, sufficient sequencing depth cannot be accomplished without extremely high costs and is therefore not feasible yet. Another method to determine fetal fraction in a sex independent way that could be of interest for NIPT was described by Yu *et al.* They describe the analysis of library fragment size by determining a ratio between short fetal and longer maternal fragments (YU *et al.*, 2014). The advantage of this method is that it does not require additional experiments since library fragment size determination is widely used in standard protocols and is therefore easily applied for this purpose as well.

Monogenic disorders

For the detection of monogenic disorders, at present a genome wide approach by use of NGS is not cost-efficient. To ensure that a given mutation in the fetus will be covered sufficiently to be detected in maternal background, this would require high vertical coverage of the region of interest (Lo et al., 2010). For NIPT only ~10 million unique mappable reads are required for analysis. In the paper by LO et al. where a genome wide approach was used for the detection of a monogenic disorder, almost 4 billion reads were produced, equivalent to an average 65-fold coverage of the human genome (Lo et al., 2010). Even then, the fetal-specific read sequencing depth of a SNP ranged from only 1-8 reads per SNP. The detection of monogenic disorders by use of a genome wide approach would ultimately lead to much higher sequencing costs since the amount of data necessary for analysis is many times higher as compared to NIPT. A whole exome sequencing (WES) approach would therefore be a better alternative for NIPD of monogenic disorders. Instead of focussing on the entire genome, only the protein-coding genes are targeted, representing ~1% of the human genome. However, WES also has its limitations for NIPD. Even though mutations in exons are more likely to have severe consequences, intronic mutations can occur and these intronic mutations will not be targeted by use of exome sequencing. Targeted gene or disease specific approaches may be custom designed for some genetic conditions, targeting genes with causative mutations. However, certain regions of the genome or exome may be difficult to target, such as GC rich regions and repeats.

Instead of using NGS, in chapter 5 and 6 we have described alternative methods for the detection of monogenic disorders. Because of the wide variety in genetic defects, (e.g. point mutation or repeat expansion) each defect may require a different approach. In chapter 5 we have pursued the option of blocking the maternal background in maternal plasma to enhance the detection of the fetal paternally inherited mutation. We showed that the detection of a mutation in the fetus can be enhanced by blocking the maternal background by use of complementary locked nucleic acid (LNA) probes in high resolution melting curve analysis (HR-MCA). These short LNA probes were designed to perfectly match maternal wild-type (WT) sequences. Binding of these LNA probes subsequently resulted in prevention of PCR amplification of these maternal sequences. Moreover preferential amplification and enhanced detection of the paternally inherited allele is enabled. This method can only be applied in case of PCR based targeted detection of single mutations and possibly small insertions or duplications. LNA probes are short, only around 12 nt in size. The target mutation should therefore not exceed this size. Beside HR-MCA, the use of LNA probes in Real-Time PCR could also be an attractive application in NIPD, to block maternal sequences and monitor the mutant allele in real-time. LNA probes will only bind with high affinity to complementary sequences. Because of the LNA modifications, the probe will not interfere in the PCR itself by acting as a potential primer or target. When LNA probes are used for blocking purposes, it remains essential that the parental genotypes are known, because there are highly polymorphic regions present in the human genome. In these regions the chance is high that there is a SNP present in the maternal genome at a position covered by the LNA probe. Hence, the LNA probe will not bind and consequently no inhibition of the amplification of unwanted sequences will occur. Design of multiple LNA probes each containing one of the SNP variants could solve this problem.

As described previously for NIPT, all PCR based techniques are influenced by the GC content of the template. Therefore, GC rich areas of the human genome (e.g. promoter areas) are more difficult to amplify or target. The same holds for AT rich areas. First attempts to design HR-MCA detection and LNA probes for a familial mutation in a GC rich area in exon 4 of the NOTCH3 gene resulted in non-functional primers and a detection probe with a very high melting temperature (Tm) (unpublished data). A difference between Tm of the LNA probe and Tm of the primers is required to facilitate LNA binding and thus blocking prior to primer binding and extension of the template sequences. The restriction of the amplicon size in combination with high GC content of the template was the main reason for failure in setting up an HR-MCA assay for this particular mutation. Increasing amplicon size could facilitate in the design of primers with a lower Tm when this genomic region is less GC rich. A strategy of blocking maternal background sequences is not necessary when the focus is on detecting polymorphic paternally inherited (extended) CAG repeats such as in Huntington disease (HD). Generally the maternal repeats are in the normal range. Size selection or selective blocking of shorter repeats in PCR cannot be accomplished with a blocking approach as was described for the detection of paternally inherited mutations. Because LNA probes target a specific sequences of ~12 nt, they are not able to distinguish between shorter or longer repeats, and in theory would block every repeat.

The size of fragmented cffDNA is also a restriction in PCR-based assays in general, for example in amplicon design. The large majority of cffDNA fragments have been shown to be on average <150 bp in length (FAN et al., 2010; LO et al., 2010). This implies that these size constraints should be taken into account when designing NIPD assays to detect a given fetal target. In case a disease is caused by a repeat expansion, such as the CAG expansions in HD, the detection becomes more complex. These repeats vary greatly in length and are known to be unstable upon transmission. Therefore, repeat size is not predictable in advance and repeats may expand into a repeat size that exceeds the fragment size of cffDNA. When analysing a point mutation or small insertion or deletion, the constraint can be accommodated quite easily by designing small amplicons of ~100 bp to ensure efficient amplification of the target sequence. Fetal sequences >150 bp are also present in maternal plasma, although in minority. As shown in the original paper on the discovery of cffDNA in maternal plasma, Y chromosome specific primers designed to amplify a sequence (DYS14) with an amplicon size of 198 bp were used (Lo et al., 1990; Lo et al., 1997). This is larger than the average amplicon size for cffDNA of ~143 bp that was reported a few years later by the same group (Lo et al., 2010). These results show that there is quite a range in cffDNA size. For PCR-based approaches for mutation detection, preferably amplicon sizes should be used that do not exceed the average reported size of ~143 bp.

In **chapter 6** we have described the application of NIPD for HD by directly measuring the fetal paternally inherited CAG repeat from the Huntingtin (*HTT*) gene in maternal plasma. This has been accomplished through a PCR based approach and subsequent fragment analysis of total cfDNA. For this approach to be successful for NIPD, it requires a PCR protocol that is optimized for low DNA input. Also, the Taq polymerase should prevent preferential amplification of smaller fragment as much as possible. Even though preferential amplification could not be completely prevented, the *Taq* polymerase used in PCR for NIPD of HD shows that longer fragments are being amplified in sufficient amounts to be detected in fragment analysis. This is absolutely essential for detecting the fetal expanded paternally inherited repeats in maternal plasma. When directly targeting fetal paternally inherited CAG repeats in Huntington disease,

we showed that we could detect a trinucleotide repeat up to 53 and even 70 CAG repeats, representing cffDNA fragments with a size of >170 bp and larger. As mentioned previously, fragments of this size have indeed been reported, though with a very low occurrence, which makes the detection of such rare long fragments even more challenging (CHAN *et al.*, 2004). Besides restrictions in the maximum size of repeats in the expanded HD range, our results show that there are restrictions in detecting the paternally inherited repeats in the normal range. No paternally inherited repeat could be identified in approximately 50% of the cases presented, because the paternally inherited repeat coincided with the maternal repeat pattern. When NIPD results are inconclusive due to absent or low levels of cffDNA, prospective parents are given the option to provide a new blood sample for NIPD later on in gestation to retest for the paternally inherited fetal repeat. Nevertheless, in all cases where no paternal contribution in maternal plasma could be detected or in cases with inconclusive results, an invasive procedure to confirm the fetal genotype on fetal gDNA is indicated.

Fragment size analysis is at present the best strategy for NIPD for HD. Detection of large repeats for NIPD using other technologies such as NGS is currently difficult, if not impossible. CAG repeats that encode for long glutamine (Q) stretches are present all through the human genome. To date, a total of nine polyQ diseases have been reported (FAN *et al.*, 2014). A NGS mediated approach for repeat determination and/ or detection for NIPD of HD would require paired-end sequencing of a specified and targeted repeat, in this case the *HTT* gene. Although the repetitive sequence of a repeat is simple, errors in NGS data may interfere with correct data analysis. Moreover, since CAG repeat are common throughout the genome, bioinformatics will have to focus on HTT specific CAG repeats to determine repeat size confidently.

Concluding remarks

Noninvasive prenatal diagnostics and testing have strongly improved in time and more and more applications have become available. Since the entire fetal genome is present in maternal plasma, it is to be expected that in the future the large majority if not all of prenatal diagnostics is preferably be performed using cffDNA. Whether or not this will always be performed in a universal and genome wide approach using WGS has to be elucidated. Currently, there are still limitations in using WGS for some prenatal requests. With WGS large amounts of data can be generated, which can be useful in detecting known but also unknown variants or de novo mutations in fetuses without a prior history or predisposition of a familial mutation. However, shotgun sequencing is not mutation specific and is currently not always cost-efficient for use in the detection of these specific mutations.

The majority of prenatal requests are for fetal aneuploidy detection. In the Netherlands, during a two year national implementation study, NIPT is currently available for high risk pregnant women. It is to be expected that NIPT will soon become available for low risk pregnant women as well. In addition to this, in the near future it is desirable for genetic laboratories to have several NIPD alternatives available for prospective prenatal requests. As mentioned previously and as shown in this thesis, no universal approach, particularly for NIPD, is available yet. For each novel application, one should clearly consider the best approach in detecting the genetic defect using NIPD. Moreover, some applications (e.g. detection of point mutations) do not have to be restricted only to couples where the father is carrier of the mutant allele.

In conclusion, we show several novel applications for the use of cffDNA for NIPD and NIPT. We also show that each application at present may require a different approach. In the near future, it is to be expected that more noninvasive alternatives for a wider variety of genetic anomalies will become available for prenatal diagnostics early in gestation.



Chapter 8

Summary

Samenvatting

Summary

Current prenatal diagnostics is mainly based on obtaining fetal DNA through invasive procedures which are associated with a small, but significant risk of fetal loss. The discovery of the presence of cell-free fetal DNA (cffDNA) in maternal plasma opened possibilities for less or noninvasive alternative procedures.

CffDNA is comprised of small fragments of fetal extracellular DNA derived from placental cells that go into apoptosis. It circulates in maternal plasma and can be detected already very early in gestation. However, the majority of total cell-free DNA (cfDNA) in maternal plasma is of maternal origin and the fetal contribution is relatively small in the first trimester. Despite this high maternal background, the use of cffDNA in noninvasive prenatal diagnostics (NIPD) and noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT) has been described successfully. In this thesis, we describe novel applications and approaches for the use of cffDNA in both NIPD and NIPT.

For all these novel applications, either NIPT or NIPD, it is important to know the fetal fraction in the maternal background. Independent confirmation of the presence of fetal DNA in the sample is therefore required. Most often male specific markers (e.g. *SRY* and *DYS14*) are used to confirm the presence of cffDNA or to determine the fetal fraction in a sample. However, using these markers a positive result can only be obtained in case of a male fetus. Therefore we have developed a novel approach to detect and confirm the presence of cffDNA in maternal plasma in a sex-independent way. **Chapter 2** describes a novel assay for the detection of fetal specific methylated *RASSF1A* (*mRASSF1A*) using a combination of bisulfite conversion and pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization. *RASSF1A* is differentially methylated between mother and fetus. These differences in methylation were used to specifically detect and thus confirm the presence of fetal *mRASSF1A* sequences. We have shown that this qualitative approach to determine cffDNA in maternal plasma can be used successfully with high sensitivity and specificity and can be applied early in gestation. In the future, digitalization and thus quantification of this assay could be beneficial in the determination of the fetal fraction.

NIPT for fetal aneuploidy screening is perhaps one of the best studied applications for the use of cffDNA and is frequently performed on PCR based sequencing platforms. These platforms are known for GC content related bias in sequencing data. **Chapter 3** describes the use of Helicos Single Molecule Sequencing (SMS) as an alternative non-PCR based sequencing platform for NIPT of fetal trisomy 21 (T21). We have directly compared SMS to the PCR based Illumina platform and show that when using SMS, the mean number of sequencing reads is not influenced by GC content, thereby showing that SMS sequencing reads generated increases when GC content of the chromosome increases. Moreover, we show that when using SMS, all fetuses with T21 can be correctly identified and distinguished more clearly from euploid fetuses. In **chapter 4**, we additionally describe the use of SMS for other fetal trisomies. We show that SMS is also successful for trisomy 18 (T18) screening. However, for trisomy 13 (T13) screening SMS turns out to be less successful. To elucidate the cause of this poor performance further testing is needed.

In contrast to NIPT, NIPD for monogenic disorders currently represents only a small part of the field of noninvasive prenatal genetic testing. NIPD can be used for the detection of paternally inherited sequences. However, not all NIPD can currently be addressed by a single or universal approach, such as for instance NGS. **Chapter 5** describes the use of High-Resolution Melting Curve Analysis (HR-MCA) as a non-NGS PCR mediated alternative for the detection of paternally inherited point mutations in maternal plasma. We show that by blocking the maternal background with locked nucleic acid (LNA) blocking probes, the detection of the paternally inherited allele of the fetus can be enhanced. We show this proof of principle for both an autosomal dominant and an autosomal recessive disorder.

Chapter 6 additionally shows the use of another PCR based approach for the detection of fetal paternally inherited repeats in Huntington disease (HD). HD is caused by the expansion of a trinucleotide (CAG) repeat in the Huntingtin (*HTT*) gene. The fetal paternally inherited repeat can detected by use of a PCR based approach with primers flanking the repeat. We describe a validation study for NIPD for HD and showed that we could detect a fetal repeat of up to 70 CAG repeats in maternal plasma. In this validation study, all paternally inherited repeats for all fetuses at risk for HD could be detected. We additionally show that in cases where the fetus has inherited the normal paternal allele, the detection strongly depends on the parental genotypes.

In the future, the number of applications for NIPT and particularly NIPD is expected to increase. Even though the use of fragmented cffDNA from maternal plasma still has its challenges (e.g. relative low amounts, short in size), we show that by careful consideration of the most efficient approach for each application, these challenges may be overcome. This makes cffDNA a very potential source for use in NIPT and NIPD. Based on the ongoing improvements of these tests, both NIPT and NIPD will soon become available to more women, although a universal approach for all applications is not feasible yet. Nevertheless, it is to be expected that in the near future, the majority of prenatal diagnostics will be replaced by either NIPD or NIPT.

Samenvatting

De huidige prenatale diagnostiek is voornamelijk gebaseerd op analyse van foetaal DNA verkregen met behulp van invasieve procedures. Deze procedures zijn geassocieerd met een klein, maar significant risico op een miskraam. De ontdekking dat er kleine stukjes celvrij foetaal DNA (cffDNA) in het (bloed)plasma van moeder aanwezig zijn, opende mogelijkheden voor minder of niet invasieve alternatieven voor het verkrijgen van foetaal DNA voor prenatale diagnostiek.

CffDNA bestaat uit kleine fragmenten foetaal extracellulair DNA dat afkomstig is uit cellen van de placenta die in apoptose zijn gegaan (ofwel geprogrammeerde cel dood hebben ondergaan). Dit DNA circuleert in het plasma van de zwangere vrouw en kan al vroeg in de zwangerschap gedetecteerd worden. De meerderheid van het aanwezige cel-vrije DNA in maternaal plasma is echter van maternale origine en de bijdrage van de foetus in het eerste trimester van de zwangerschap is relatief klein. Ondanks deze hoge maternale achtergrond is het gebruik van cffDNA voor niet-invasieve prenatale diagnostiek (NIPD) en niet-invasieve prenatale testen (NIPT) al eerder succesvol beschreven. In dit proefschrift worden een aantal nieuwe applicaties en toepassingen besproken voor het gebruik van cffDNA voor zowel NIPD als NIPT.

Voor zowel NIPD of NIPT, is het van belang om de foetale fractie in de maternale achtergrond te weten. Daarom is het noodzakelijk om de aanwezigheid van cffDNA in een sample te bepalen. Voor het bevestigen van de aanwezigheid van foetaal DNA of voor het bepalen van de foetale fractie worden meestal markers gebruikt die op het Y chromosoom liggen en die dus specifiek zijn voor mannelijke sequenties, zoals SRY en DYS14. Helaas kunnen deze markers alleen een resultaat geven indien de foetus mannelijk is. Daarom is een nieuwe methode om de aanwezigheid van cffDNA te kunnen bevestigen ontwikkeld, die in elke zwangerschap gebruikt kan worden, dus ongeacht het geslacht van de foetus. In hoofdstuk 2 wordt een nieuwe test beschreven voor de detectie van foetus specifieke sequenties van gemethyleerd RASS-F1A (mRASSF1A), waarbij gebruik gemaakt wordt van een combinatie van bisulfiet omzetting en pyrophosphorolyse-geactiveerde polymerisatie (PAP). RASSF1A is differentieel gemethyleerd tussen moeder en foetus. Deze verschillen in methylatie patroon worden gebruikt om specifiek de foetale sequenties te kunnen detecteren en daarmee dus de aanwezigheid van deze sequenties te kunnen bevestigen. De resultaten laten zien dat deze kwalitatieve toepassing al vroeg in de zwangerschap met hoge sensitiviteit en specificiteit succesvol gebruikt kan worden. In de toekomst zou digitalisatie en kwantificatie van deze test tevens uitkomst kunnen bieden in het bepalen van de foetale fractie in een sample.

NIPT, voor het screenen naar foetale aneuploïdieën, is op dit moment een van de best bestudeerde toepassingen van het gebruik van cffDNA. Voor NIPT wordt meestal gebruik gemaakt van Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) platformen die PCR gebaseerd zijn. Deze platformen staan bekend om de invloed die het GC percentage van een chromosoom heeft op de hoeveelheid data die geproduceerd wordt. In **hoofdstuk 3** beschrijven we het gebruik van Helicos Single Molecule Sequencing (SMS) bij NIPT voor trisomy 21 (T21 ofwel Down Syndroom) detectie als een alternatief platform dat niet gebaseerd is op een PCR techniek. We hebben SMS een-op-een vergeleken met het PCR gebaseerde Illumina platform en laten zien dat het gemiddelde aantal sequenties bij SMS niet beïnvloed wordt door het GC percentage. Bij het Illumina platform daarentegen zien we dat het gemiddeld aantal sequenties toeneemt bij toenemend GC percentage. Daarbij laten we ook zien dat bij SMS alle T21 foetussen correct geïdentificeerd worden en zelfs nog beter te onderscheiden zijn van euploïde foetusen als
vergeleken met het Illumina platform. In **hoofdstuk 4** laten we bovendien de toepassing van SMS zien voor het screenen naar andere trisomieën. Het gebruik van SMS is ook succesvol voor trisomie 18 (T18 ofwel Edward's syndroom) screening. Voor trisomie 13 (T13 ofwel syndroom van Patau) is deze methode minder succesvol. Om de exacte reden van deze mindere prestatie beter te kunnen duiden, zou verder onderzoek uitgevoerd moeten worden.

In tegenstelling tot NIPT, beslaat NIPD voor monogene erfelijke aandoeningen slechts een klein deel van het veld van niet-invasief prenataal testen. NIPD kan gebruikt worden voor de detectie van paternaal overgeërfde sequenties. Momenteel is het nog niet mogelijk om alle NIPD uit te voeren met één enkele of universele aanpak, zoals bijvoorbeeld het gebruik van NGS. In **hoofdstuk 5** wordt het gebruik van PCR en hoge resolutie smelt curve analyse (HR-MCA) als een alternatief voor NGS beschreven. Door het blokken van de maternale achtergrond tijdens de PCR met behulp van een LNA probe, wordt de detectie van het paternaal overgeërfde allel in de foetus sterk verbeterd. Als "proof of principle" tonen we dit voor zowel een autosomaal dominant als een autosomaal recessief overervende aandoening aan.

Daarnaast wordt in **hoofdstuk 6** nog een andere PCR gebaseerde toepassing getoond voor de ziekte van Huntington (HD) en de detectie van het paternale allel in de foetus. HD wordt veroorzaakt door een expansie van een trinucleotide (CAG) herhaling/repeat in het huntingtine gen (*HTT*). De paternale overgeërfde repeat in de foetus kan worden gedetecteerd met behulp van een PCR waarbij gebruik gemaakt wordt van primers die rondom de repeat liggen. In deze validatie studie voor NIPD van HD konden we een foetale repeat van tot wel 70 CAG herhalingen aantonen in maternaal plasma. Bovendien laten we zien dat we bij alle foetussen die risico lopen op het krijgen van HD, de paternaal overgeërfde repeat werd aangetoond. Bij de foetussen die het normale allel van vader hebben gekregen, blijkt de detectie ervan sterk afhankelijk te zijn van het genotype van beide ouders.

Het is zeer waarschijnlijk dat het aantal toepassingen voor NIPT en zeker voor NIPD de komende tijd sterk zal toenemen. Ondanks het feit dat het gebruik van gefragmenteerd cffD-NA uit maternaal plasma nog steeds uitdagingen kent (bijvoorbeeld de relatief lage hoe- veelheid en de korte lengte), laat dit proefschrift zien dat deze uitdagingen overwonnen kunnen worden door voor iedere toepassing de meest efficiënte aanpak te gebruiken. Kortom, cffDNA is een uitermate geschikte bron van foetaal DNA voor NIPT en NIPD. Met het verbeteren van de huidige technieken, zullen zowel NIPT als NIPD in de toekomst voor meer vrouwen beschikbaar komen, alhoewel het op dit moment nog niet mogelijk lijkt om hiervoor een universele aanpak voor te gebruiken. Desalniettemin is de verwachting dat in de toekomst het merendeel van invasieve procedures voor prenatale diagnostiek vervangen gaat worden door NIPD of NIPT.



References

References

- Abrahams VM, Kim YM, Straszewski SL, Romero R, Mor G. 2004. Macrophages and apoptotic cell clearance during pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 51:275-282.
- Agathanggelou A, Cooper WN, Latif F. 2005. Role of the Ras-association domain family 1 tumor suppressor gene in human cancers. Cancer Res 65:3497-3508.
- Akolekar R, Beta J, Picciarelli G, Ogilvie C, D'Antonio F. 2014. Procedure-related risk of miscarriage following amnioce tesis and chorionic villus sampling: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.
- Alberry M, Maddocks D, Jones M, Abdel HM, Abdel-Fattah S, Avent N, Soothill PW. 2007. Free fetal DNA in maternal plasma in anembryonic pregnancies: confirmation that the origin is the trophoblast. Prenat Diagn 27:415 418.
- Alizadeh M, Bernard M, Danic B, Dauriac C, Birebent B, Lapart C, Lamy T, Le Prise PY, Beauplet A, Bories D, Semana G, Quelvennec E. 2002. Quantitative assessment of hematopoietic chimerism after bone marrow transpla tation by real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction. Blood 99:4618-4625.
- Almomani R, van der Stoep N, Bakker E, den Dunnen JT, Breuning MH, Ginjaar IB. 2009. Rapid and cost effective dete tion of small mutations in the DMD gene by high resolution melting curve analysis. Neuromuscul Disord 19:383-390.

Annunziato AT. 2008. DNA Packaging: Nucleosomes and Chromatin. Nature Education 1:26.

- Arnemann J, Epplen JT, Cooke HJ, Sauermann U, Engel W, Schmidtke J. 1987. A human Y-chromosomal DNA sequence expressed in testicular tissue. Nucleic Acids Res 15:8713-8724.
- Ashoor G, Syngelaki A, Poon LC, Rezende JC, Nicolaides KH. 2013. Fetal fraction in maternal plasma cell-free DNA at 11-13 weeks' gestation: relation to maternal and fetal characteristics. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 41:26-32.

Bachmann N, Bergmann C. 2012. Epigenetics and imprinting. Arch Pediatr 19:1145-1147.

Bayindir B, Dehaspe L, Brison N, Brady P, Ardui S, Kammoun M, van d, V, Lichtenbelt K, Van Den Bogaert K, Van HJ, Peeters H, Van EH, de RT, Legius E, Devriendt K, Vermeesch JR. 2015. Noninvasive prenatal testing using a novel analysis pipeline to screen for all autosomal fetal aneuploidies improves pregnancy management. Eur J Hum Genet 23:1286-1293.

Beaudet AL, 2011. Progress toward noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. Clin Chem 57:802-804.

Bellido ML, Radpour R, Lapaire O, De B, I, Hosli I, Bitzer J, Hmadcha A, Zhong XY, Holzgreve W. 2010. MALDI-TOF mass array analysis of RASSF1A and SERPINB5 methylation patterns in human placenta and plasma. Biol Reprod 82:745-750.

Benirschke K. 1994. Anatomical relationship between fetus and mother. Ann N Y Acad Sci 731:9-20.

- Benirschke K, Willes L. 2010. Deportation of trophoblastic emboli to maternal lung: A source of cell-free DNA in ma ternal blood? Chimerism 1:15-18.
- Benn P, Cuckle H, Pergament E. 2012. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis for Down syndrome: the paradigm will shift, but slowly. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 39:127-130.

Bianchi DW. 1995. Prenatal diagnosis by analysis of fetal cells in maternal blood. J Pediatr 127:847-856.

Bianchi DW. 2004. Circulating fetal DNA: its origin and diagnostic potential-a review. Placenta 25 Suppl A:S93-S101.

- Bianchi DW, Parker RL, Wentworth J, Madankumar R, Saffer C, Das AF, Craig JA, Chudova DI, Devers PL, Jones KW, Oliver K, Rava RP, Sehnert AJ. 2014. DNA sequencing versus standard prenatal aneuploidy screening. N Engl J Med 370:799-808.
- Bianchi DW, Platt LD, Goldberg JD, Abuhamad AZ, Sehnert AJ, Rava RP. 2012. Genome-wide fetal aneuploidy detection by maternal plasma DNA sequencing. Obstet Gynecol 119:890-901.
- Bianchi DW, Zickwolf GK, Weil GJ, Sylvester S, DeMaria MA. 1996. Male fetal progenitor cells persist in maternal blood for as long as 27 years postpartum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:705-708.
- Bianchi DW, Zickwolf GK, Yih MC, Flint AF, Geifman OH, Erikson MS, Williams JM. 1993. Erythroid-specific antibodies enhance detection of fetal nucleated erythrocytes in maternal blood. Prenat Diagn 13:293-300.
- Bidard FC, Madic J, Mariani P, Piperno-Neumann S, Rampanou A, Servois V, Cassoux N, Desjardins L, Milder M, Vauch er I, Pierga JY, Lebofsky R, Stern MH, Lantz O. 2014. Detection rate and prognostic value of circulating tumor cells and circulating tumor DNA in metastatic uveal melanoma. Int J Cancer 134:1207-1213.
- Bischoff FZ, Lewis DE, Simpson JL. 2005. Cell-free fetal DNA in maternal blood: kinetics, source and structure. Hum Reprod Update 11:59-67.
- Boon EM, Schlecht HB, Martin P, Daniels G, Vossen RH, den Dunnen JT, Bakker B, Elles R. 2007. Y chromosome detec tion by Real Time PCR and pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerisation using free fetal DNA isolated from maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 27:932-937.
- Brar H, Wang E, Struble C, Musci TJ, Norton ME. 2013. The fetal fraction of cell-free DNA in maternal plasma is not affected by a priori risk of fetal trisomy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 26:143-145.
- Buermans HP, den Dunnen JT. 2014. Next generation sequencing technology: Advances and applications. Biochim Biophys Acta 1842:1932-1941.
- Bustamante-Aragones A, Rodriguez de AM, Perlado S, Trujillo-Tiebas MJ, Arranz JP, Diaz-Recasens J, Troyano-Luque J, Ramos C. 2012. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of single-gene disorders from maternal blood. Gene 504:144-149.
- Bustamante-Aragones A, Trujillo-Tiebas MJ, Gallego-Merlo J, Rodriguez de AM, Gonzalez-Gonzalez C, Cantalapiedra D, Ayuso C, Ramos C. 2008. Prenatal diagnosis of Huntington disease in maternal plasma: direct and indirect study. Eur J Neurol 15:1338-1344.
- Buysse K, Beulen L, Gomes I, Gilissen C, Keesmaat C, Janssen IM, Derks-Willemen JJ, de LJ, Feenstra I, Bekker MN, van Vugt JM, Geurts van KA, Vissers LE, Faas BH. 2013. Reliable noninvasive prenatal testing by massively parallel sequencing of circulating cell-free DNA from maternal plasma processed up to 24h after venipunc ture. Clin Biochem 46:1783-1786.
- Canick JA, Palomaki GE, Kloza EM, Lambert-Messerlian GM, Haddow JE. 2013. The impact of maternal plasma DNA fetal fraction on next generation sequencing tests for common fetal aneuploidies. Prenat Diagn 33:667-674.
- Chan KC, Ding C, Gerovassili A, Yeung SW, Chiu RW, Leung TN, Lau TK, Chim SS, Chung GT, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2006. Hypermethylated RASSF1A in maternal plasma: A universal fetal DNA marker that improves the reliability of noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. Clin Chem 52:2211-2218.
- Chan KC, Zhang J, Hui AB, Wong N, Lau TK, Leung TN, Lo KW, Huang DW, Lo YM. 2004. Size distributions of maternal and fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 50:88-92.
- Chang F, Li MM. 2013. Clinical application of amplicon-based next-generation sequencing in cancer. Cancer Genet 206:413-419.

- Chen EZ, Chiu RW, Sun H, Akolekar R, Chan KC, Leung TY, Jiang P, Zheng YW, Lun FM, Chan LY, Jin Y, Go AT, Lau ET, To WW, Leung WC, Tang RY, Au-Yeung SK, Lam H, Kung YY, Zhang X, van Vugt JM, Minekawa R, Tang MH, Wang J, Oudejans CB, Lau TK, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2011. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of fetal trisomy 18 and trisomy 13 by maternal plasma DNA sequencing. PLoS One 6:e21791.
- Chiang DY, Getz G, Jaffe DB, O'Kelly MJ, Zhao X, Carter SL, Russ C, Nusbaum C, Meyerson M, Lander ES. 2009. High-res olution mapping of copy-number alterations with massively parallel sequencing. Nat Methods 6:99-103.
- Chim SS, Jin S, Lee TY, Lun FM, Lee WS, Chan LY, Jin Y, Yang N, Tong YK, Leung TY, Lau TK, Ding C, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2008. Systematic search for placental DNA-methylation markers on chromosome 21: toward a maternal plas ma-based epigenetic test for fetal trisomy 21. Clin Chem 54:500-511.
- Chim SS, Tong YK, Chiu RW, Lau TK, Leung TN, Chan LY, Oudejans CB, Ding C, Lo YM. 2005. Detection of the placental epigenetic signature of the maspin gene in maternal plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:14753-14758.
- Chinnapapagari SK, Holzgreve W, Lapaire O, Zimmermann B, Hahn S. 2005. Treatment of maternal blood samples with formaldehyde does not alter the proportion of circulatory fetal nucleic acids (DNA and mRNA) in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 51:652-655.
- Chitty LS, Khalil A, Barrett AN, Pajkrt E, Griffin DR, Cole TJ. 2013. Safe, accurate, prenatal diagnosis of thanatophoric dysplasia using ultrasound and free fetal DNA. Prenat Diagn 33:416-423.
- Chiu RW, Akolekar R, Zheng YW, Leung TY, Sun H, Chan KC, Lun FM, Go AT, Lau ET, To WW, Leung WC, Tang RY, Au-Yeung SK, Lam H, Kung YY, Zhang X, van Vugt JM, Minekawa R, Tang MH, Wang J, Oudejans CB, Lau TK, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2011a. Non-invasive prenatal assessment of trisomy 21 by multiplexed maternal plasma DNA sequencing: large scale validity study. BMJ 342:c7401.
- Chiu RW, Cantor CR, Lo YM. 2009. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis by single molecule counting technologies. Trends Genet 25:324-331.
- Chiu RW, Chan KC, Gao Y, Lau VY, Zheng W, Leung TY, Foo CH, Xie B, Tsui NB, Lun FM, Zee BC, Lau TK, Cantor CR, Lo YM. 2008. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of fetal chromosomal aneuploidy by massively parallel genomic se quencing of DNA in maternal plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:20458-20463.
- Chiu RW, Chim SS, Wong IH, Wong CS, Lee WS, To KF, Tong JH, Yuen RK, Shum AS, Chan JK, Chan LY, Yuen JW, Tong YK, Weier JF, Ferlatte C, Leung TN, Lau TK, Lo KW, Lo YM. 2007. Hypermethylation of RASSF1A in human and rhesus placentas. Am J Pathol 170:941-950.
- Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2011b. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis by fetal nucleic acid analysis in maternal plasma: the coming of age. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 16:88-93.
- Chiu RW, Sun H, Akolekar R, Clouser C, Lee C, McKernan K, Zhou D, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2010. Maternal plasma DNA analysis with massively parallel sequencing by ligation for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of trisomy 21. Clin Chem 56:459-463.
- Chou LS, Meadows C, Wittwer CT, Lyon E. 2005. Unlabeled oligonucleotide probes modified with locked nucleic acids for improved mismatch discrimination in genotyping by melting analysis. Biotechniques 39:644, 646, 648.
- Chu T, Bunce K, Hogge WA, Peters DG. 2010. A novel approach toward the challenge of accurately quantifying fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 30:1226-1229.
- Chung GT, Chiu RW, Chan KC, Lau TK, Leung TN, Lo YM. 2005. Lack of dramatic enrichment of fetal DNA in maternal plasma by formaldehyde treatment. Clin Chem 51:655-658.
- Daley R, Hill M, Chitty LS. 2014. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis: progress and potential. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 99:F426-F430.

- de Die-Smulders CE, de Wert GM, Liebaers I, Tibben A, Evers-Kiebooms G. 2013. Reproductive options for prospec tive parents in families with Huntington's disease: clinical, psychological and ethical reflections. Hum Re prod Update 19:304-315.
- de Haas M, Finning K, Massey E, Roberts DJ. 2014. Anti-D prophylaxis: past, present and future. Transfus Med 24:1-7.
- Della RF, Mastrovito P, Campanile C, Conti A, Papageorgiou EA, Hulten MA, Patsalis PC, Carter NP, D'Esposito M. 2010. Differential DNA methylation as a tool for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD) of X chromosome aneu ploidies. J Mol Diagn 12:797-807.
- Deng YH, Yin AH, He Q, Chen JC, He YS, Wang HQ, Li M, Chen HY. 2011. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of trisomy 21 by reverse transcriptase multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification. Clin Chem Lab Med 49:641-646.
- Devaney SA, Palomaki GE, Scott JA, Bianchi DW. 2011. Noninvasive fetal sex determination using cell-free fetal DNA: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 306:627-636.
- Dhallan R, Au WC, Mattagajasingh S, Emche S, Bayliss P, Damewood M, Cronin M, Chou V, Mohr M. 2004. Methods to increase the percentage of free fetal DNA recovered from the maternal circulation. JAMA 291:1114-1119.
- Dhallan R, Guo X, Emche S, Damewood M, Bayliss P, Cronin M, Barry J, Betz J, Franz K, Gold K, Vallecillo B, Varney J. 2007. A non-invasive test for prenatal diagnosis based on fetal DNA present in maternal blood: a prelimi nary study. Lancet 369:474-481.
- Dohm JC, Lottaz C, Borodina T, Himmelbauer H. 2008. Substantial biases in ultra-short read data sets from highthroughput DNA sequencing. Nucleic Acids Res 36:e105.
- Dokras A, Gardner LM, Kirschmann DA, Seftor EA, Hendrix MJ. 2002. The tumour suppressor gene maspin is differen tially regulated in cytotrophoblasts during human placental development. Placenta 23:274-280.

Donninger H, Vos MD, Clark GJ. 2007. The RASSF1A tumor suppressor. J Cell Sci 120:3163-3172.

Driscoll DA, Gross SJ. 2009. Screening for fetal aneuploidy and neural tube defects. Genet Med 11:818-821.

- Du Y, Zhang J, Wang H, Yan X, Yang Y, Yang L, Luo X, Chen Y, Duan T, Ma D. 2011. Hypomethylated DSCR4 is a placen ta-derived epigenetic marker for trisomy 21. Prenat Diagn 31:207-214.
- Dunham A, Matthews LH, Burton J, Ashurst JL, Howe KL, Ashcroft KJ, Beare DM, Burford DC, Hunt SE, Griffiths-Jones S, Jones MC, Keenan SJ, Oliver K, Scott CE, Ainscough R, Almeida JP, Ambrose KD, Andrews DT, Ashwell RI, Babbage AK, Bagguley CL, Bailey J, Bannerjee R, Barlow KF, Bates K, Beasley H, Bird CP, Bray-Allen S, Brown AJ, Brown JY, Burrill W, Carder C, Carter NP, Chapman JC, Clamp ME, Clark SY, Clarke G, Clee CM, Clegg SC, Cobley V, Collins JE, Corby N, Coville GJ, Deloukas P, Dhami P, Dunham I, Dunn M, Earthrowl ME, Ellington AG, Faulkner L, Frankish AG, Frankland J, French L, Garner P, Garnett J, Gilbert JG, Gilson CJ, Ghori J, Graf ham DV, Gribble SM, Griffiths C, Hall RE, Hammond S, Harley JL, Hart EA, Heath PD, Howden PJ, Huckle EJ, Hunt PJ, Hunt AR, Johnson C, Johnson D, Kay M, Kimberley AM, King A, Laird GK, Langford CJ, Lawlor S, Leon gamornlert DA, Lloyd DM, Lloyd C, Loveland JE, Lovell J, Martin S, Mashreghi-Mohammadi M, McLaren SJ, McMurray A, Milne S, Moore MJ, Nickerson T, Palmer SA, Pearce AV, Peck AI, Pelan S, Phillimore B, Porter KM, Rice CM, Searle S, Sehra HK, Shownkeen R, Skuce CD, Smith M, Steward CA, Sycamore N, Tester J, Thomas DW, Tracey A, Tromans A, Tubby B, Wall M, Wallis JM, West AP, Whitehead SL, Willey DL, Wilming L, Wray PW, Wright MW, Young L, Coulson A, Durbin R, Hubbard T, Sulston JE, Beck S, Bentley DR, Rogers J, Ross MT. 2004. The DNA sequence and analysis of human chromosome 13. Nature 428:522-528.
- Ehrich M, Deciu C, Zwiefelhofer T, Tynan JA, Cagasan L, Tim R, Lu V, McCullough R, McCarthy E, Nygren AO, Dean J, Tang L, Hutchison D, Lu T, Wang H, Angkachatchai V, Oeth P, Cantor CR, Bombard A, van den Boom D. 2011. Noninvasive detection of fetal trisomy 21 by sequencing of DNA in maternal blood: a study in a clinical setting. Am J Obstet Gynecol.

- Faas BH, Beuling EA, Christiaens GC, von dem Borne AE, van der Schoot CE. 1998. Detection of fetal RHD-specific sequences in maternal plasma. Lancet 352:1196.
- Faas BH, de Ligt J., Janssen I, Eggink AJ, Wijnberger LD, van Vugt JM, Vissers L, Geurts van KA. 2012. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of fetal aneuploidies using massively parallel sequencing-by-ligation and evidence that cell-free fetal DNA in the maternal plasma originates from cytotrophoblastic cells. Expert Opin Biol Ther 12 Suppl 1:S19-S26.
- Fan HC, Blumenfeld YJ, Chitkara U, Hudgins L, Quake SR. 2008. Noninvasive diagnosis of fetal aneuploidy by shotgun sequencing DNA from maternal blood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:16266-16271.
- Fan HC, Blumenfeld YJ, Chitkara U, Hudgins L, Quake SR. 2010. Analysis of the size distributions of fetal and maternal cell-free DNA by paired-end sequencing. Clin Chem 56:1279-1286.
- Fan HC, Blumenfeld YJ, El-Sayed YY, Chueh J, Quake SR. 2009. Microfluidic digital PCR enables rapid prenatal diagnosis of fetal aneuploidy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 200:543-547.
- Fan HC, Ho LI, Chi CS, Chen SJ, Peng GS, Chan TM, Lin SZ, Harn HJ. 2014. Polyglutamine (PolyQ) diseases: genetics to treatments. Cell Transplant 23:441-458.
- Fan HC, Quake SR. 2007. Detection of aneuploidy with digital polymerase chain reaction. Anal Chem 79:7576-7579.
- Forest MG, Morel Y, David M. 1998. Prenatal treatment of congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Trends Endocrinol Metab 9:284-289.
- Futch T, Spinosa J, Bhatt S, de FE, Rava RP, Sehnert AJ. 2013. Initial clinical laboratory experience in noninvasive prena tal testing for fetal aneuploidy from maternal plasma DNA samples. Prenat Diagn 33:569-574.

Gezondheidsraad. Prenatale screening: Downsyndroom, neuralebuisdefecten, routine-echoscopie.

- Ghanta S, Mitchell ME, Ames M, Hidestrand M, Simpson P, Goetsch M, Thilly WG, Struble CA, Tomita-Mitchell A. 2010. Non-invasive prenatal detection of trisomy 21 using tandem single nucleotide polymorphisms. PLoS One 5:e13184.
- Gil MM, Akolekar R, Quezada MS, Bregant B, Nicolaides KH. 2014. Analysis of cell-free DNA in maternal blood in screening for aneuploidies: meta-analysis. Fetal Diagn Ther 35:156-173.
- Go AT, van Vugt JM, Oudejans CB. 2010. Non-invasive aneuploidy detection using free fetal DNA and RNA in maternal plasma: recent progress and future possibilities. Hum Reprod Update.
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez MC, Garcia-Hoyos M, Trujillo MJ, Rodriguez de AM, Lorda-Sanchez I, Diaz-Recasens J, Gallardo E, Ayuso C, Ramos C. 2002. Prenatal detection of a cystic fibrosis mutation in fetal DNA from maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 22:946-948.
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez MC, Garcia-Hoyos M, Trujillo-Tiebas MJ, Bustamante AA, Rodriguez de AM, Diego AD, Diaz-Re casens J, Ayuso C, Ramos C. 2008. Improvement in strategies for the non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington disease. J Assist Reprod Genet 25:477-481.
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez MC, Trujillo MJ, Rodriguez de AM, Garcia-Hoyos M, Lorda-Sanchez I, Diaz-Recasens J, Ayuso C, Ramos C. 2003a. Huntington disease-unaffected fetus diagnosed from maternal plasma using QF-PCR. Prenat Diagn 23:232-234.
- Gonzalez-Gonzalez MC, Trujillo MJ, Rodriguez de AM, Ramos C. 2003b. Early Huntington disease prenatal diagnosis by maternal semiquantitative fluorescent-PCR. Neurology 60:1214-1215.
- Gonzalgo ML, Jones PA. 1997. Rapid quantitation of methylation differences at specific sites using methylation-sensi tive single nucleotide primer extension (Ms-SNuPE). Nucleic Acids Res 25:2529-2531.

- Grati FR. 2014. Chromosomal Mosaicism in Human Feto-Placental Development: Implications for Prenatal Diagnosis. J Clin Med 2014:809-837.
- Gupta PK. 2008. Single-molecule DNA sequencing technologies for future genomics research. Trends Biotechnol 26:602-611.
- Hagemann IS, Cottrell CE, Lockwood CM. 2013. Design of targeted, capture-based, next generation sequencing tests for precision cancer therapy. Cancer Genet 206:420-431.
- Hahn S, Lapaire O, Tercanli S, Kolla V, Hosli I. 2011. Determination of fetal chromosome aberrations from fetal DNA in maternal blood: has the challenge finally been met? Expert Rev Mol Med 13:e16.
- Hall AL, Drendel HM, Verbrugge JL, Reese AM, Schumacher KL, Griffith CB, Weaver DD, Abernathy MP, Litton CG, Vance GH. 2013. Positive cell-free fetal DNA testing for trisomy 13 reveals confined placental mosaicism. Genet Med 15:729-732.
- Harris TD, Buzby PR, Babcock H, Beer E, Bowers J, Braslavsky I, Causey M, Colonell J, Dimeo J, Efcavitch JW, Giladi E, Gill J, Healy J, Jarosz M, Lapen D, Moulton K, Quake SR, Steinmann K, Thayer E, Tyurina A, Ward R, Weiss H, Xie Z. 2008. Single-molecule DNA sequencing of a viral genome. Science 320:106-109.
- Hayden EC. 2014. Technology: The \$1,000 genome. Nature 507:294-295.
- Heazell AE, Crocker IP. 2008. Live and let die regulation of villous trophoblast apoptosis in normal and abnormal pregnancies. Placenta 29:772-783.
- Hill M, Finning K, Martin P, Hogg J, Meaney C, Norbury G, Daniels G, Chitty L. 2010. Non-invasive prenatal determina tion of fetal sex: translating research into clinical practice. Clin Genet.
- Hillier LW, Marth GT, Quinlan AR, Dooling D, Fewell G, Barnett D, Fox P, Glasscock JI, Hickenbotham M, Huang W,
 Magrini VJ, Richt RJ, Sander SN, Stewart DA, Stromberg M, Tsung EF, Wylie T, Schedl T, Wilson RK, Mardis ER.
 2008. Whole-genome sequencing and variant discovery in C. elegans. Nat Methods 5:183-188.
- Honorio S, Agathanggelou A, Schuermann M, Pankow W, Viacava P, Maher ER, Latif F. 2003. Detection of RASSF1A ab errant promoter hypermethylation in sputum from chronic smokers and ductal carcinoma in situ from breast cancer patients. Oncogene 22:147-150.
- Hromadnikova I, Zejskova L, Kotlabova K, Jancuskova T, Doucha J, Dlouha K, Krofta L, Jirasek JE, Vlk R. 2010. Quan tification of extracellular DNA using hypermethylated RASSF1A, SRY, and GLO sequences--evaluation of diagnostic possibilities for predicting placental insufficiency. DNA Cell Biol 29:295-301.
- Hudecova I, Sahota D, Heung MM, Jin Y, Lee WS, Leung TY, Lo YM, Chiu RW. 2014. Maternal plasma fetal DNA fractions in pregnancies with low and high risks for fetal chromosomal aneuploidies. PLoS One 9:e88484.
- Hui L, Bianchi DW. 2013. Recent advances in the prenatal interrogation of the human fetal genome. Trends Genet 29:84-91.
- Huppertz B, Kingdom JC. 2004. Apoptosis in the trophoblast--role of apoptosis in placental morphogenesis. J Soc Gynecol Investig 11:353-362.
- Illanes S, Denbow M, Kailasam C, Finning K, Soothill PW. 2007. Early detection of cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plas ma. Early Hum Dev 83:563-566.
- Ioannides M, Papageorgiou EA, Keravnou A, Tsaliki E, Spyrou C, Hadjidaniel M, Sismani C, Koumbaris G, Patsalis PC. 2014. Inter-individual methylation variability in differentially methylated regions between maternal whole blood and first trimester CVS. Mol Cytogenet 7:73.

- Jeon YJ, Zhou Y, Li Y, Guo Q, Chen J, Quan S, Zhang A, Zheng H, Zhu X, Lin J, Xu H, Wu A, Park SG, Kim BC, Joo HJ, Chen H, Bhak J. 2014. The feasibility study of non-invasive fetal trisomy 18 and 21 detection with semiconductor sequencing platform. PLoS One 9:e110240.
- Jiang F, Ren J, Chen F, Zhou Y, Xie J, Dan S, Su Y, Xie J, Yin B, Su W, Zhang H, Wang W, Chai X, Lin L, Guo H, Li Q, Li P, Yuan Y, Pan X, Li Y, Liu L, Chen H, Xuan Z, Chen S, Zhang C, Zhang H, Tian Z, Zhang Z, Jiang H, Zhao L, Zheng W, Li S, Li Y, Wang J, Wang J, Zhang X. 2012a. Noninvasive Fetal Trisomy (NIFTY) test: an advanced nonin vasive prenatal diagnosis methodology for fetal autosomal and sex chromosomal aneuploidies. BMC Med Genomics 5:57.
- Jiang P, Chan KC, Liao GJ, Zheng YW, Leung TY, Chiu RW, Lo YM, Sun H. 2012b. FetalQuant: deducing fractional fetal DNA concentration from massively parallel sequencing of DNA in maternal plasma. Bioinformatics 28:2883-2890.
- Jorgez CJ, Bischoff FZ. 2009. Improving enrichment of circulating fetal DNA for genetic testing: size fractionation fol lowed by whole gene amplification. Fetal Diagn Ther 25:314-319.
- Juneau K, Bogard PE, Huang S, Mohseni M, Wang ET, Ryvkin P, Kingsley C, Struble CA, Oliphant A, Zahn JM. 2014. Mi croarray-based cell-free DNA analysis improves noninvasive prenatal testing. Fetal Diagn Ther 36:282-286.
- Kalousek DK, Vekemans M. 1996. Confined placental mosaicism. J Med Genet 33:529-533.
- Kersaudy-Kerhoas M, Amalou F, Che A, Kelly J, Liu Y, Desmulliez MP, Shu W. 2014. Validation of a fully integrated plat form and disposable microfluidic chips enabling parallel purification of genome segments for assembly. Biotechnol Bioeng 111:1627-1637.
- Kersaudy-Kerhoas M, Sollier E. 2013. Micro-scale blood plasma separation: from acoustophoresis to egg-beaters. Lab Chip 13:3323-3346.
- Kim MJ, Kim SY, Park SY, Ahn HK, Chung JH, Ryu HM. 2013. Association of fetal-derived hypermethylated RASSF1A concentration in placenta-mediated pregnancy complications. Placenta 34:57-61.
- Kolialexi A, Tounta G, Apostolou P, Vrettou C, Papantoniou N, Kanavakis E, Antsaklis A, Mavrou A. 2012. Early non-in vasive detection of fetal Y chromosome sequences in maternal plasma using multiplex PCR. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 161:34-37.
- Landles C, Bates GP. 2004. Huntingtin and the molecular pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Fourth in molecular medicine review series. EMBO Rep 5:958-963.
- Lapaire O, Holzgreve W, Oosterwijk JC, Brinkhaus R, Bianchi DW. 2007. Georg Schmorl on trophoblasts in the maternal circulation. Placenta 28:1-5.
- Lau TK, Chan MK, Salome Lo PS, Connie Chan HY, Kim Chan WS, Koo TY, Joyce Ng HY, Pooh RK. 2012a. Clinical utility of noninvasive fetal trisomy (NIFTY) test early experience. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.
- Lau TK, Chen F, Pan X, Pooh RK, Jiang F, Li Y, Jiang H, Li X, Chen S, Zhang X. 2012b. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of common fetal chromosomal aneuploidies by maternal plasma DNA sequencing. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.
- Lau TK, Cheung SW, Lo PS, Pursley AN, Chan MK, Jiang F, Zhang H, Wang W, Jong LF, Yuen OK, Chan HY, Chan WS, Choy KW. 2014. Non-invasive prenatal testing for fetal chromosomal abnormalities by low-coverage whole-genome sequencing of maternal plasma DNA: review of 1982 consecutive cases in a single center. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 43:254-264.
- Laughlin TS, Moliterno AR, Stein BL, Rothberg PG. 2010. Detection of exon 12 Mutations in the JAK2 gene: enhanced analytical sensitivity using clamped PCR and nucleotide sequencing. J Mol Diagn 12:278-282.

- Lee dE, Kim SY, Lim JH, Park SY, Ryu HM. 2013. Non-invasive prenatal testing of trisomy 18 by an epigenetic marker in first trimester maternal plasma. PLoS One 8:e78136.
- Leon SA, Shapiro B, Sklaroff DM, Yaros MJ. 1977. Free DNA in the serum of cancer patients and the effect of therapy. Cancer Res 37:646-650.
- Li LC, Dahiya R. 2002. MethPrimer: designing primers for methylation PCRs. Bioinformatics 18:1427-1431.
- Li Y, Page-Christiaens GC, Gille JJ, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. 2007. Non-invasive prenatal detection of achondroplasia in size-fractionated cell-free DNA by MALDI-TOF MS assay. Prenat Diagn 27:11-17.
- Li Y, Zimmermann B, Rusterholz C, Kang A, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. 2004. Size separation of circulatory DNA in maternal plasma permits ready detection of fetal DNA polymorphisms. Clin Chem 50:1002-1011.
- Liao C, Yin AH, Peng CF, Fu F, Yang JX, Li R, Chen YY, Luo DH, Zhang YL, Ou YM, Li J, Wu J, Mai MQ, Hou R, Wu F, Luo H, Li DZ, Liu HL, Zhang XZ, Zhang K. 2014. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of common aneuploidies by sem iconductor sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:7415-7420.
- Lim JH, Kim MJ, Kim SY, Kim HO, Song MJ, Kim MH, Park SY, Yang JH, Ryu HM. 2011a. Non-invasive prenatal detection of achondroplasia using circulating fetal DNA in maternal plasma. J Assist Reprod Genet 28:167-172.
- Lim JH, Kim SY, Park SY, Lee SY, Kim MJ, Han YJ, Lee SW, Chung JH, Kim MY, Yang JH, Ryu HM. 2011b. Non-invasive epi genetic detection of fetal trisomy 21 in first trimester maternal plasma. PLoS One 6:e27709.
- Lim JH, Lee dE, Park SY, Kim dJ, Ahn HK, Han YJ, Kim MY, Ryu HM. 2014. Disease specific characteristics of fetal epige netic markers for non-invasive prenatal testing of trisomy 21. BMC Med Genomics 7:1.
- Liu Q, Sommer SS. 2000. Pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization (PAP): application to allele-specific amplifica tion. Biotechniques 29:1072-6, 1078, 1080.
- Liu Q, Sommer SS. 2004. PAP: detection of ultra rare mutations depends on P* oligonucleotides: "sleeping beauties" awakened by the kiss of pyrophosphorolysis. Hum Mutat 23:426-436.
- Lo KK, Boustred C, Chitty LS, Plagnol V. 2014. RAPIDR: an analysis package for non-invasive prenatal testing of aneu ploidy. Bioinformatics 30:2965-2967.
- Lo YM, Chan KC, Sun H, Chen EZ, Jiang P, Lun FM, Zheng YW, Leung TY, Lau TK, Cantor CR, Chiu RW. 2010. Maternal plas ma DNA sequencing reveals the genome-wide genetic and mutational profile of the fetus. Sci Transl Med 2:61ra91.
- Lo YM, Corbetta N, Chamberlain PF, Rai V, Sargent IL, Redman CW, Wainscoat JS. 1997. Presence of fetal DNA in ma ternal plasma and serum. Lancet 350:485-487.
- Lo YM, Lun FM, Chan KC, Tsui NB, Chong KC, Lau TK, Leung TY, Zee BC, Cantor CR, Chiu RW. 2007a. Digital PCR for the molecular detection of fetal chromosomal aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:13116-13121.
- Lo YM, Patel P, Sampietro M, Gillmer MD, Fleming KA, Wainscoat JS. 1990. Detection of single-copy fetal DNA se quence from maternal blood. Lancet 335:1463-1464.
- Lo YM, Tein MS, Lau TK, Haines CJ, Leung TN, Poon PM, Wainscoat JS, Johnson PJ, Chang AM, Hjelm NM. 1998. Quan titative analysis of fetal DNA in maternal plasma and serum: implications for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. Am J Hum Genet 62:768-775.
- Lo YM, Tsui NB, Chiu RW, Lau TK, Leung TN, Heung MM, Gerovassili A, Jin Y, Nicolaides KH, Cantor CR, Ding C. 2007b. Plasma placental RNA allelic ratio permits noninvasive prenatal chromosomal aneuploidy detection. Nat Med 13:218-223.

- Lo YM, Zhang J, Leung TN, Lau TK, Chang AM, Hjelm NM. 1999. Rapid clearance of fetal DNA from maternal plasma. Am J Hum Genet 64:218-224.
- Luger K. 2003. Structure and dynamic behavior of nucleosomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13:127-135.
- Lui YY, Chik KW, Chiu RW, Ho CY, Lam CW, Lo YM. 2002. Predominant hematopoietic origin of cell-free DNA in plasma and serum after sex-mismatched bone marrow transplantation. Clin Chem 48:421-427.
- Lun FM, Chiu RW, Allen Chan KC, Yeung LT, Kin LT, Dennis Lo YM. 2008a. Microfluidics digital PCR reveals a higher than expected fraction of fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 54:1664-1672.
- Lun FM, Chiu RW, Leung TY, Leung TN, Lau TK, Lo YM. 2007. Epigenetic analysis of RASSF1A gene in cell-free DNA in amniotic fluid. Clin Chem 53:796-798.
- Lun FM, Chiu RW, Sun K, Leung TY, Jiang P, Chan KC, Sun H, Lo YM. 2013. Noninvasive prenatal methylomic analysis by genomewide bisulfite sequencing of maternal plasma DNA. Clin Chem 59:1583-1594.
- Lun FM, Tsui NB, Chan KC, Leung TY, Lau TK, Charoenkwan P, Chow KC, Lo WY, Wanapirak C, Sanguansermsri T, Cantor CR, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2008b. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of monogenic diseases by digital size selection and relative mutation dosage on DNA in maternal plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:19920-19925.
- Maat W, Kilic E, Luyten GP, de KA, Jager MJ, Gruis NA, van der Velden PA. 2008. Pyrophosphorolysis detects B-RAF mutations in primary uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 49:23-27.
- Maat W, van der Velden PA, Out-Luiting C, Plug M, Dirks-Mulder A, Jager MJ, Gruis NA. 2007. Epigenetic inactivation of RASSF1a in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48:486-490.
- Macher HC, Martinez-Broca MA, Rubio-Calvo A, Leon-Garcia C, Conde-Sanchez M, Costa A, Navarro E, Guerrero JM. 2012. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A using COLD-PCR combined with HRM genotyping analysis from maternal serum. PLoS One 7:e51024.
- Madic J, Piperno-Neumann S, Servois V, Rampanou A, Milder M, Trouiller B, Gentien D, Saada S, Assayag F, Thuleau A, Nemati F, Decaudin D, Bidard FC, Desjardins L, Mariani P, Lantz O, Stern MH. 2012. Pyrophosphoroly sis-activated polymerization detects circulating tumor DNA in metastatic uveal melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:3934-3941.
- Majchrzak-Celinska A, Paluszczak J, Kleszcz R, Magiera M, Barciszewska AM, Nowak S, Baer-Dubowska W. 2013. Detec tion of MGMT, RASSF1A, p15INK4B, and p14ARF promoter methylation in circulating tumor-derived DNA of central nervous system cancer patients. J Appl Genet 54:335-344.
- Mandel P, Métais P. 1948. Les acides nucleiques du plasma sanguin chez l'Homme. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 142:241-243.
- Megarbane A, Ravel A, Mircher C, Sturtz F, Grattau Y, Rethore MO, Delabar JM, Mobley WC. 2009. The 50th anniversa ry of the discovery of trisomy 21: the past, present, and future of research and treatment of Down syn drome. Genet Med 11:611-616.
- Mersy E, Smits LJ, van Winden LA, de Die-Smulders CE, Paulussen AD, Macville MV, Coumans AB, Frints SG. 2013. Non invasive detection of fetal trisomy 21: systematic review and report of quality and outcomes of diagnostic accuracy studies performed between 1997 and 2012. Hum Reprod Update 19:318-329.
- Milbury CA, Li J, Makrigiorgos GM. 2009. PCR-based methods for the enrichment of minority alleles and mutations. Clin Chem 55:632-640.
- Milos PM. 2009. Emergence of single-molecule sequencing and potential for molecular diagnostic applications. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 9:659-666.

Moise KJ, Jr. 2008. Management of rhesus alloimmunization in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 112:164-176.

- Mol BW, Opmeer BC, Veersema D, Mulders LGM. 2004. Gebruik van kansschattingen in diagnostische processen in de Verloskunde en Gynaecologie. Maxima Medisch Centrum, Medisch Journaal 33.
- Montgomery J, Wittwer CT, Palais R, Zhou L. 2007. Simultaneous mutation scanning and genotyping by high-resolu tion DNA melting analysis. Nat Protoc 2:59-66.
- Mouritzen P, Nielsen AT, Pfundheller HM, Choleva Y, Kongsbak L, Moller S. 2003. Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using locked nucleic acid (LNA). Expert Rev Mol Diagn 3:27-38.
- Mujezinovic F, Alfirevic Z. 2007. Procedure-related complications of amniocentesis and chorionic villous sampling: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 110:687-694.
- Muller SP, Bartels I, Stein W, Emons G, Gutensohn K, Legler TJ. 2011. Cell-free fetal DNA in specimen from pregnant women is stable up to 5 days. Prenat Diagn.
- Nicolaides K, Brizot ML, Patel F, Snijders R. 1994. Comparison of chorionic villus sampling and amniocentesis for fetal karyotyping at 10-13 weeks' gestation. Lancet 344:435-439.
- Norton ME, Brar H, Weiss J, Karimi A, Laurent LC, Caughey AB, Rodriguez MH, Williams J, III, Mitchell ME, Adair CD, Lee H, Jacobsson B, Tomlinson MW, Oepkes D, Hollemon D, Sparks AB, Oliphant A, Song K. 2012. Non-In vasive Chromosomal Evaluation (NICE) Study: results of a multicenter prospective cohort study for detec tion of fetal trisomy 21 and trisomy 18. Am J Obstet Gynecol 207:137-138.
- Nygren AO, Dean J, Jensen TJ, Kruse S, Kwong W, van den Boom D, Ehrich M. 2010. Quantification of fetal DNA by use of methylation-based DNA discrimination. Clin Chem 56:1627-1635.
- Odeh M, Granin V, Kais M, Ophir E, Bornstein J. 2009. Sonographic fetal sex determination. Obstet Gynecol Surv 64:50-57.
- Oh JE, Lim HS, An CH, Jeong EG, Han JY, Lee SH, Yoo NJ. 2010. Detection of low-level KRAS mutations using PNA-medi ated asymmetric PCR clamping and melting curve analysis with unlabeled probes. J Mol Diagn 12:418-424.
- Old RW, Crea F, Puszyk W, Hulten MA. 2007. Candidate epigenetic biomarkers for non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome. Reprod Biomed Online 15:227-235.
- Olins DE, Olins AL. 2003. Chromatin history: our view from the bridge. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:809-814.
- Oosterwijk JC, Mesker WE, Ouwerkerk MC, Knepfle CF, van der Burg MJ, Wiesmeijer CC, Beverstock GC, Losekoot M, Bernini LF, Van Ommen GJ, van de Kamp JJ, Kanhai HH, Tanke HJ. 1996. Detection of fetal erythroblasts in maternal blood by one-step gradient enrichment and immunocytochemical recognition. Early Hum Dev 47 Suppl:S95-S97.
- Orozco AF, Jorgez CJ, Horne C, Marquez-Do DA, Chapman MR, Rodgers JR, Bischoff FZ, Lewis DE. 2008. Membrane pro tected apoptotic trophoblast microparticles contain nucleic acids: relevance to preeclampsia. Am J Pathol 173:1595-1608.
- Out AA, van Minderhout IJ, van der Stoep N, van Bommel LS, Kluijt I, Aalfs C, Voorendt M, Vossen RH, Nielsen M, Vasen HF, Morreau H, Devilee P, Tops CM, Hes FJ. 2015. High-resolution melting (HRM) re-analysis of a polyposis patients cohort reveals previously undetected heterozygous and mosaic APC gene mutations. Fam Cancer.
- Page-Christiaens GC, Bossers B, van der Schoot CE, de HM. 2006a. Use of bi-allelic insertion/deletion polymorphisms as a positive control for fetal genotyping in maternal blood: first clinical experience. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1075:123-129.

- Palomaki GE, Deciu C, Kloza EM, Lambert-Messerlian GM, Haddow JE, Neveux LM, Ehrich M, van den Boom D, Bom bard AT, Grody WW, Nelson SF, Canick JA. 2012. DNA sequencing of maternal plasma reliably identifies trisomy 18 and trisomy 13 as well as Down syndrome: an international collaborative study. Genet Med 14:296-305.
- Palomaki GE, Kloza EM, Lambert-Messerlian GM, Haddow JE, Neveux LM, Ehrich M, van den Boom D, Bombard AT, Deciu C, Grody WW, Nelson SF, Canick JA. 2011. DNA sequencing of maternal plasma to detect Down syn drome: an international clinical validation study. Genet Med 13:913-920.
- Papageorgiou EA, Fiegler H, Rakyan V, Beck S, Hulten M, Lamnissou K, Carter NP, Patsalis PC. 2009. Sites of differential DNA methylation between placenta and peripheral blood: molecular markers for noninvasive prenatal di agnosis of aneuploidies. Am J Pathol 174:1609-1618.
- Papageorgiou EA, Karagrigoriou A, Tsaliki E, Velissariou V, Carter NP, Patsalis PC. 2011. Fetal-specific DNA methylation ratio permits noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of trisomy 21. Nat Med 17:510-513.
- Papantoniou N, Bagiokos V, Agiannitopoulos K, Kolialexi A, Destouni A, Tounta G, Kanavakis E, Antsaklis A, Mavrou A. 2013. RASSF1A in maternal plasma as a molecular marker of preeclampsia. Prenat Diagn:1-6.
- Patra SK, Szyf M. 2008. DNA methylation-mediated nucleosome dynamics and oncogenic Ras signaling: insights from FAS, FAS ligand and RASSF1A. FEBS J 275:5217-5235.
- Pearson HA. 1967. Life-span of the fetal red blood cell. J Pediatr 70:166-171.
- Phylipsen M, Yamsri S, Treffers EE, Jansen DT, Kanhai WA, Boon EM, Giordano PC, Fucharoen S, Bakker E, Harteveld CL. 2012. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis of beta-thalassemia and sickle-cell disease using pyrophosphoroly sis-activated polymerization and melting curve analysis. Prenat Diagn 32:578-587.
- Picchiassi E, Coata G, Centra M, Pennacchi L, Bini V, Di Renzo GC. 2010. Identification of universal mRNA markers for noninvasive prenatal screening of trisomies. Prenat Diagn 30:764-770.
- Ponomaryova AA, Rykova EY, Cherdyntseva NV, Skvortsova TE, Dobrodeev AY, Zav'yalov AA, Bryzgalov LO, Tuzikov SA, Vlassov VV, Laktionov PP. 2013. Potentialities of aberrantly methylated circulating DNA for diagnostics and post-treatment follow-up of lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer 81:397-403.
- Poon LL, Leung TN, Lau TK, Chow KC, Lo YM. 2002. Differential DNA methylation between fetus and mother as a strat egy for detecting fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 48:35-41.
- Richter AM, Pfeifer GP, Dammann RH. 2009. The RASSF proteins in cancer; from epigenetic silencing to functional characterization. Biochim Biophys Acta 1796:114-128.
- Rijnders RJ, Christiaens GC, Bossers B, van der Schoot CE. 2002. [Congenital adrenal hyperplasia: clinical aspects and neonatal screening]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 146:1713-1714.
- Samango-Sprouse C, Banjevic M, Ryan A, Sigurjonsson S, Zimmermann B, Hill M, Hall MP, Westemeyer M, Saucier J, Demko Z, Rabinowitz M. 2013. SNP-based non-invasive prenatal testing detects sex chromosome aneuploi dies with high accuracy. Prenat Diagn 33:643-649.
- Sato Y, Shinka T, Sakamoto K, Ewis AA, Nakahori Y. 2010. The male-determining gene SRY is a hybrid of DGCR8 and SOX3, and is regulated by the transcription factor CP2. Mol Cell Biochem 337:267-275.
- Scheffer PG, van der Schoot CE, Page-Christiaens GC, Bossers B, van EF, de HM. 2010. Reliability of fetal sex determi nation using maternal plasma. Obstet Gynecol 115:117-126.
- Scheffer PG, van der Schoot CE, Page-Christiaens GC, de HM. 2011. Noninvasive fetal blood group genotyping of rhesus D, c, E and of K in alloimmunised pregnant women: evaluation of a 7-year clinical experience. BJOG 118:1340-1348.

Schmorl G. 1893. Untersuchungen über Puerperal-Eklampsie. Leipzig: Verlag FCW Vogel.

- Sehnert AJ, Rhees B, Comstock D, de FE, Heilek G, Burke J, Rava RP. 2011. Optimal Detection of Fetal Chromosomal Abnormalities by Massively Parallel DNA Sequencing of Cell-Free Fetal DNA from Maternal Blood. Clin Chem.
- Semaka A, Collins JA, Hayden MR. 2010. Unstable familial transmissions of Huntington disease alleles with 27-35 CAG repeats (intermediate alleles). Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 153B:314-320.
- Shi J, Liu Q, Sommer SS. 2007. Detection of ultrarare somatic mutation in the human TP53 gene by bidirectional py rophosphorolysis-activated polymerization allele-specific amplification. Hum Mutat 28:131-136.
- Sikora A, Zimmermann BG, Rusterholz C, Birri D, Kolla V, Lapaire O, Hoesli I, Kiefer V, Jackson L, Hahn S. 2010. Detec tion of increased amounts of cell-free fetal DNA with short PCR amplicons. Clin Chem 56:136-138.
- Simoni G, Fraccaro M. 1992. Does confined placental mosaicism affect the fetus? Hum Reprod 7:139-140.
- Sirichotiyakul S, Charoenkwan P, Sanguansermsri T. 2012. Prenatal diagnosis of homozygous alpha-thalassemia-1 by cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 32:45-49.
- Song N, Zhong X, Li Q. 2014. Real-time bidirectional pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization for quantitative detection of somatic mutations. PLoS One 9:e96420.
- Sparks AB, Struble CA, Wang ET, Song K, Oliphant A. 2012a. Noninvasive prenatal detection and selective analysis of cell-free DNA obtained from maternal blood: evaluation for trisomy 21 and trisomy 18. Am J Obstet Gynecol 206:319.
- Sparks AB, Wang ET, Struble CA, Barrett W, Stokowski R, McBride C, Zahn J, Lee K, Shen N, Doshi J, Sun M, Garrison J, Sandler J, Hollemon D, Pattee P, Tomita-Mitchell A, Mitchell M, Stuelpnagel J, Song K, Oliphant A. 2012b. Selective analysis of cell-free DNA in maternal blood for evaluation of fetal trisomy. Prenat Diagn 32:3-9.
- Straszewski-Chavez SL, Abrahams VM, Mor G. 2005. The role of apoptosis in the regulation of trophoblast survival and differentiation during pregnancy. Endocr Rev 26:877-897.
- Straver R, Sistermans EA, Reinders MJ. 2014. Introducing WISECONDOR for noninvasive prenatal diagnostics. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 14:513-515.
- Tabor A, Alfirevic Z. 2010. Update on procedure-related risks for prenatal diagnosis techniques. Fetal Diagn Ther 27:1-7.
- Tang NL, Leung TN, Zhang J, Lau TK, Lo YM. 1999. Detection of fetal-derived paternally inherited X-chromosome poly morphisms in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 45:2033-2035.
- The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. 1993. A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. Cell 72:971-983.
- Tjoa ML, Cindrova-Davies T, Spasic-Boskovic O, Bianchi DW, Burton GJ. 2006. Trophoblastic oxidative stress and the release of cell-free feto-placental DNA. Am J Pathol 169:400-404.
- Tong YK, Chiu RW, Akolekar R, Leung TY, Lau TK, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2010a. Epigenetic-genetic chromosome dosage approach for fetal trisomy 21 detection using an autosomal genetic reference marker. PLoS One 5:e15244.
- Tong YK, Chiu RW, Leung TY, Ding C, Lau TK, Leung TN, Lo YM. 2007. Detection of restriction enzyme-digested target DNA by PCR amplification using a stem-loop primer: application to the detection of hypomethylated fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 53:1906-1914.

- Tong YK, Ding C, Chiu RW, Gerovassili A, Chim SS, Leung TY, Leung TN, Lau TK, Nicolaides KH, Lo YM. 2006. Noninvasive prenatal detection of fetal trisomy 18 by epigenetic allelic ratio analysis in maternal plasma: Theoretical and empirical considerations. Clin Chem 52:2194-2202.
- Tong YK, Jin S, Chiu RW, Ding C, Chan KC, Leung TY, Yu L, Lau TK, Lo YM. 2010b. Noninvasive prenatal detection of trisomy 21 by an epigenetic-genetic chromosome-dosage approach. Clin Chem 56:90-98.
- Tsui DW, Chan KC, Chim SS, Chan LW, Leung TY, Lau TK, Lo YM, Chiu RW. 2007. Quantitative aberrations of hypermeth ylated RASSF1A gene sequences in maternal plasma in pre-eclampsia. Prenat Diagn 27:1212-1218.
- Tsui DW, Lam YM, Lee WS, Leung TY, Lau TK, Lau ET, Tang MH, Akolekar R, Nicolaides KH, Chiu RW, Lo YM, Chim SS. 2010. Systematic identification of placental epigenetic signatures for the noninvasive prenatal detection of Edwards syndrome. PLoS One 5:e15069.
- Tsui NB, Jiang P, Chow KC, Su X, Leung TY, Sun H, Chan KC, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2012. High resolution size analysis of fetal DNA in the urine of pregnant women by paired-end massively parallel sequencing. PLoS One 7:e48319.
- Tsui NB, Jiang P, Wong YF, Leung TY, Chan KC, Chiu RW, Sun H, Lo YM. 2014. Maternal plasma RNA sequencing for genome-wide transcriptomic profiling and identification of pregnancy-associated transcripts. Clin Chem 60:954-962.
- Tynan JA, Mahboubi P, Cagasan LL, van den Boom D, Ehrich M, Oeth P. 2011. Restriction enzyme-mediated enhanced detection of circulating cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma. J Mol Diagn 13:382-389.
- van den Oever JM, Balkassmi S, Segboer T, Verweij EJ, van der Velden PA, Oepkes D, Bakker E, Boon EM. 2013. Mrass f1a-pap, a novel methylation-based assay for the detection of cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma. PLoS One 8:e84051.
- van den Oever JM, Balkassmi S, Verweij EJ, van Iterson M, Adama van Scheltema PN, Oepkes D, van Lith JM, Hoffer MJ, den Dunnen JT, Bakker E, Boon EM. 2012. Single molecule sequencing of free DNA from maternal plas ma for noninvasive trisomy 21 detection. Clin Chem 58:699-706.
- van der Schoot CE, Hahn S, Chitty LS. 2008. Non-invasive prenatal diagnosis and determination of fetal Rh status. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 13:63-68.
- van der Stoep N, van Paridon CD, Janssens T, Krenkova P, Stambergova A, Macek M, Matthijs G, Bakker E. 2009. Diag nostic guidelines for high-resolution melting curve (HRM) analysis: an interlaboratory validation of BRCA1 mutation scanning using the 96-well LightScanner. Hum Mutat 30:899-909.
- Verweij, E. J. NIPT: non-invasive prenatal testing: towards implementation in the Netherlands. Thesis, 2014.
- Walknowska J, Conte FA, Grumbach MM. 1969. Practical and theoretical implications of fetal-maternal lymphocyte transfer. Lancet 1:1119-1122.
- Walsh PS, Fildes NJ, Reynolds R. 1996. Sequence analysis and characterization of stutter products at the tetranucleo tide repeat locus vWA. Nucleic Acids Res 24:2807-2812.
- Wang E, Batey A, Struble C, Musci T, Song K, Oliphant A. 2013. Gestational age and maternal weight effects on fetal cell-free DNA in maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 33:662-666.
- Wang Y, Wen Z, Shen J, Cheng W, Li J, Qin X, Ma D, Shi Y. 2014. Comparison of the performance of Ion Torrent chips in noninvasive prenatal trisomy detection. J Hum Genet 59:393-396.
- Wapner R, Thom E, Simpson JL, Pergament E, Silver R, Filkins K, Platt L, Mahoney M, Johnson A, Hogge WA, Wilson RD, Mohide P, Hershey D, Krantz D, Zachary J, Snijders R, Greene N, Sabbagha R, MacGregor S, Hill L, Gagnon A, Hallahan T, Jackson L. 2003. First-trimester screening for trisomies 21 and 18. N Engl J Med 349:1405-1413.
 Warner JP, Barron LH, Brock DJ. 1993. A new polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay for the trinucleotide

repeat that is unstable and expanded on Huntington's disease chromosomes. Mol Cell Probes 7:235-239.

- Warshawsky I, Mularo F. 2011. Locked nucleic acid probes for enhanced detection of FLT3 D835/I836, JAK2 V617F and NPM1 mutations. J Clin Pathol 64:905-910.
- White HE, Dent CL, Hall VJ, Crolla JA, Chitty LS. 2012. Evaluation of a novel assay for detection of the fetal marker RASSF1A: facilitating improved diagnostic reliability of noninvasive prenatal diagnosis. PLoS One 7:e45073.
- Whiting P, Rutjes AW, Reitsma JB, Bossuyt PM, Kleijnen J. 2003. The development of QUADAS: a tool for the quality assessment of studies of diagnostic accuracy included in systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol 3:25.
- Xiang Y, Zhang J, Li Q, Zhou X, Wang T, Xu M, Xia S, Xing Q, Wang L, He L, Zhao X. 2014. DNA methylome profiling of maternal peripheral blood and placentas reveal potential fetal DNA markers for non-invasive prenatal test ing. Mol Hum Reprod 20:875-884.
- Yan TZ, Mo QH, Cai R, Chen X, Zhang CM, Liu YH, Chen YJ, Zhou WJ, Xiong F, Xu XM. 2011. Reliable detection of paternal SNPs within deletion breakpoints for non-invasive prenatal exclusion of homozygous alpha-thalassemia in maternal plasma. PLoS One 6:e24779.
- Yenilmez ED, Tuli A, Evruke IC. 2013. Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis experience in the Cukurova Region of Southern Turkey: detecting paternal mutations of sickle cell anemia and beta-thalassemia in cell-free fetal DNA using high-resolution melting analysis. Prenat Diagn 33:1054-1062.
- Yu SC, Chan KC, Zheng YW, Jiang P, Liao GJ, Sun H, Akolekar R, Leung TY, Go AT, van Vugt JM, Minekawa R, Oudejans CB, Nicolaides KH, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2014. Size-based molecular diagnostics using plasma DNA for noninva sive prenatal testing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:8583-8588.
- Yu SC, Lee SW, Jiang P, Leung TY, Chan KC, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2013. High-resolution profiling of fetal DNA clearance from maternal plasma by massively parallel sequencing. Clin Chem 59:1228-1237.
- Yuan Y, Jiang F, Hua S, Du B, Hao Y, Ye L, Liu J, Feng K, Huang X, Yi X, Wang W, Yang L, Mu F, Liu C, Liang Y. 2013. Feasibil ity study of semiconductor sequencing for noninvasive prenatal detection of fetal aneuploidy. Clin Chem 59:846-849.
- Zejskova L, Jancuskova T, Kotlabova K, Doucha J, Hromadnikova I. 2010. Feasibility of fetal-derived hypermethylated RASSF1A sequence quantification in maternal plasma--next step toward reliable non-invasive prenatal diag nostics. Exp Mol Pathol 89:241-247.
- Zhang Q, Hu G, Yang Q, Dong R, Xie X, Ma D, Shen K, Kong B. 2013. A multiplex methylation-specific PCR assay for the detection of early-stage ovarian cancer using cell-free serum DNA. Gynecol Oncol 130:132-139.
- Zhang X, Wang Y, Fricke BL, Gu LQ. 2014. Programming nanopore ion flow for encoded multiplex microRNA detection. CS Nano 8:3444-3450.
- Zhao F, Wang J, Liu R, Yang J, Cui K, Wu Y, Guo J, Mu Y, Wang X. 2010. Quantification and application of the placental epigenetic signature of the RASSF1A gene in maternal plasma. Prenat Diagn 30:778-782.
- Zheng YW, Chan KC, Sun H, Jiang P, Su X, Chen EZ, Lun FM, Hung EC, Lee V, Wong J, Lai PB, Li CK, Chiu RW, Lo YM. 2012. Nonhematopoietically derived DNA is shorter than hematopoietically derived DNA in plasma: a trans plantation model. Clin Chem 58:549-558.
- Zimmermann B, El-Sheikhah A, Nicolaides K, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. 2005. Optimized real-time quantitative PCR meas urement of male fetal DNA in maternal plasma. Clin Chem 51:1598-1604.
- Zimmermann B, Hill M, Gemelos G, Demko Z, Banjevic M, Baner J, Ryan A, Sigurjonsson S, Chopra N, Dodd M, Levy B, Rabinowitz M. 2012. Noninvasive prenatal aneuploidy testing of chromosomes 13, 18, 21, X, and Y, using targeted sequencing of polymorphic loci. Prenat Diagn 32:1233-1241.

Zimmermann BG, Grill S, Holzgreve W, Zhong XY, Jackson LG, Hahn S. 2008. Digital PCR: a powerful new tool for non invasive prenatal diagnosis? Prenat Diagn 28:1087-1093.



Curriculum vitae

Curriculum vitae

Jessica Maria Elisabeth van den Oever werd geboren op 11 mei 1980 te Roosendaal, gemeente Roosendaal en Nispen. In 1997 behaalde zij haar HAVO diploma aan het Gertrudiscollege te Roosendaal, waarna zij in datzelfde jaar startte met de opleiding Biologie en Medisch Laboratorium Onderzoek aan de Hogeschool Brabant, Faculteit Techniek en Natuur te Etten-Leur (tegenwoordig onderdeel van Avans Hogeschool gevestigd te Breda).

Tijdens haar afstudeerstage op de afdeling Klinische Genetica van de Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam onder supervisie van Dr. Rob Willemsen, deed zij onderzoek naar het fragiele X syndroom. Hiervoor bestudeerde zij het transport van FMRP in een PC12 neuronale cellijn.

Na het behalen van haar diploma, startte zij in 2001 met haar studie Biologie aan de Universiteit Leiden via een HBO-instroom programma. Ter afronding van deze studie werd stage gelopen bij de sectie Moleculaire Biologie van het instituut voor Moleculaire Plantkunde bij de Faculteit Biologie van Universiteit Leiden. Onder begeleiding van Prof. Herman Spaink en Prof. Michael Richardson werd gestart met een pilot studie met vertebraten waarbij er onderzoek gedaan werd naar het expressie patroon van Selenium Binding Protein in zebravissen.

In 2005 begon zij als research analist op het project "Immunomodulatory properties of Mesenchymal Stem Cells" op de afdeling Immunohematologie en bloedtransfusie (IHB) van het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum (LUMC) onder begeleiding van Prof. Wim Fibbe, Dr. Alma Nauta en Dr. Kirsten Canté-Barrett. Vanaf 2007 was zij tevens werkzaam als research analist op het project "Mechanismen van cytokine-geïnduceerde hematopoietische stam- en progenitorcel mobilisatie" onder begeleiding van Prof. Wim Fibbe en Dr. Melissa van Pel. Daarnaast heeft zij in die periode gewerkt als interim proefdiercoördinator voor de afdeling IHB.

Eind 2008 begon zij als research analist op het project "Gene expression profiling in a chronic restraint stress rat model" bij de afdeling Medische Farmacologie van het Leiden/ Amsterdam Center for Drug Research (LACDR)/ LUMC onder begeleiding van Dr. Nicole Datson en Prof. Ron de Kloet.

In oktober 2010 werd gestart met het promotie onderzoek "Noninvasive prenatal detection of genetic defects" bij de afdeling Klinische Genetica op het Laboratorium voor Diagnostische Genoomanalyse (LDGA) van het LUMC te Leiden. Onder leiding van Dr. Elles Boon en Prof. Bert Bakker werden de experimenten verricht die staan beschreven in dit proefschrift. Van juli t/m september 2015 heeft zij onder supervisie van Prof. Joris Vermeesch gewerkt als interim project manager voor targeted NIPT bij het Centrum Menselijke Erfelijkheid van de Katholieke Universiteit Leuven in België.



Publications and Presentations

Publications

• Brison, N., Van Den Bogaert, K., **van den Oever, J.M.**, Dehaspe, L., Janssens, K., Blaumeiser, B., Peeters, H., Van Esch, H., de Ravel, T., Legius, E., Devriendt, K., Vermeesch, J.R., *Maternal incidental findings during non-invasive prenatal testing for fetal aneuploidies,* submitted.

• Van den Oever, J.M., van Minderhout, I.J.H.M, Harteveld, C.L., den Hollander, N.S., Bakker, E., van der Stoep, N., Boon, E.M.J., *A novel targeted approach for noninvasive detection of paternally inherited mutations in maternal plasma*, J Mol Diagn. 2015.

• Van den Oever, J.M., Bijlsma, E.K., Feenstra, I., Muntjewerff, N., Mathijssen, I.B., Bakker, E., van Belzen, M.J., Boon, E.M.J., *Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington disease: detection of the paternally inherited expanded CAG repeat in maternal plasma*, Prenat. Diagn. 2015.

• Van den Oever, J.M., Balkassmi, S., Segboer, T., Verweij, E.J., van der Velden, P.A., Oepkes, D., Bakker, E., Boon, E.M., *Mrassf1a-pap, a novel methylation-based assay for the detection of cell-free fetal DNA in maternal plasma*, PloS One, 2013.

• Datson, N.A., **van den Oever, J.M**., Korobko, O.B., Margarinos, A.M., de Kloet, E.R., McEwen, B.S., *Previous history of chronic stress changes the transcriptional response to glucocorticoid challenge in the dentate gyrus region of the male rat hippocampus*, Endocrinology 2013.

• Van den Oever, J.M., Balkassmi, S., Johansson, L.F., Adama van Scheltema, P.N., Suijkerbuijk, R.F., Hoffer, M.J., Sinke, R.J., Bakker, E., Sikkema-Raddatz, B., Boon, E.M., *Succesful noninvasive trisomy 18 detection using single molecule sequencing*, Clin Chem 2013.

• Polman, J.A., Hunter, R.G., Speksnijder, N., van den Oever, J.M., Korobko, O.B., McEwen, B.S., de Kloet, E.R., Datson, N.A., *Glucocorticoids modulate the mTOR pathway in the hippocampus: differential effects depending on stress history*, Endocrinology 2012.

• Van den Oever, J.M., Balkassmi, S., Verweij, E.J., van Iterson, M., Adama van Scheltema, P.N., Oepkes, D., van Lith, J.M., Hoffer, M.J. den Dunnen J.T., Bakker, E., Boon, E.M., *Single molecule sequencing of free DNA from maternal plasma for noninvasive trisomy 21 detection*, Clin Chem 2012.

• Verweij, E.J., van den Oever, J.M., de Boer, M.A., Boon, E.M., Oepkes, D., *Diagnostic accuracy of noninvasive detection of fetal trisomy 21 in maternal blood: a systematic review*, Fetal Diagn Ther 2012.

• De Jager, S.C., Canté-Barrett, K., Bot, I., Husberg, C., van Puijvelde, G.H., van Santbrink, P.J., Yndestad, A., van den Oever, J.M., Kuiper, J., van Berkel, T.J., Lipp, M., Zwaginga, J.J., Fibber, W.E., Aukrust, P., Biessen, E.A., *Impaired effector memory T-cell regulation facilitates* graft versus host disease in CCR7-deficient bone marrow transplant chimeras, Transplantation, 2009.

Presentations

• Invited speaker: Prenatal Molecular Diagnostics; Trends, advances & prospects, Lisbon, April 2015.

• Noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Huntington disease in the Netherlands: DHDRN, Amsterdam, mei 2014.

• Invited speaker: Werkgroep prenatale diagnostiek en therapie/ werkgroep foetale

echoscopie: *Gemetyleerd RASSF1A: een universele biomarker ter bevestiging van de aanwezigheid van foetaal DNA in maternaal bloed*; najaarssymposium, Utrecht, oktober 2013.

• Single Molecule Sequencing of Free DNA from maternal plasma for noninvasive trisomy testing: Medical Genetics Centre PhD student workshop, Luxemburg, mei 2013

• Invited speaker: *Noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection using Next Generation Sequencing: towards application in diagnostics*; Integrated Data Analysis meeting organised by the dept. of Epidemiology in collaboration with SASC, LUMC, Leiden, november 2012.

• Invited speaker: *Noninvasive fetal aneuploidy detection using Helicos: Third generation vs Next Generation Sequencing:* NBIC *Next Generation Sequencing meeting,* Leuven, juni 2012.

• Noninvasive fetal sexing and maternal discrimination tests: a validation study for application and implementation in diagnostics; NVHG voorjaarssymposium, Veldhoven, maart 2011.

Grants/ Awards:

- VIVA400 Award 2015 nominee in the category "Knappe koppen".
- Travel grant Stichting Simonsfonds (2014).



Dankwoord

Eindelijk is het dan zover. Jaren van hard werken en studeren worden beloond met een mooi slot; een proefschrift. Ook al staat mijn naam op de voorkant, promoveren doe je niet alleen. Daarom wil ik via dit dankwoord iedereen bedanken die op welke wijze dan ook betrokken is geweest bij de totstandkoming hiervan. Er zijn ook een aantal mensen die ik graag persoonlijk zou willen bedanken:

Elles, wat ben ik ongelofelijk blij en trots dat ik je eerste OIO mocht zijn. Mede dankzij jouw tomeloze enthousiasme en passie zijn de jaren op het lab omgevlogen. Bedankt voor je hulp, advies en steun. De sushi diners om te vieren dat er weer een paper geaccepteerd was, waren een welkom excuus om de deur van het lab eens een keertje wat vroeger achter ons dicht te trekken. Jij hebt afgelopen jaar een nieuwe stap gemaakt in jouw carrière en helaas zien we je daardoor minder vaak. Maar gelukkig is er altijd een reden voor sushi te verzinnen.

Bert, als promotor heb je mij de kans gegeven om als promovendus aan de slag te gaan op het lab. Bedankt! Ik kon altijd bij je binnenlopen voor een vraag, advies of een praatje. Zeker tijdens een overleg verbaasde ik me toch elke keer dat je precies dat ene boek of proefschrift wist te pakken waar de benodigde informatie in stond. Bij deze kan er nog een exemplaar aan de verzameling worden toevoegd.

Nicole, bedankt voor onze gesprekken tijdens onze samenwerking. Ze hebben me doen inzien dat promoveren wel eens een goede vervolgstap voor mij zou zijn. En ik heb er zeker geen spijt van gehad. Joris, bedankt dat je het vertrouwen had in mij, en mij de kans hebt geboden om een paar maanden in Leuven te werken. Niet alleen heb ik een toptijd gehad bij het CME, het heeft me ook geholpen om goed na te kunnen denken over mijn toekomst na het behalen van mijn PhD.

De "borrelclub", bedankt dat jullie me regelmatig van het lab haalden om wat iets leuks te gaan doen. Dat had ik echt even nodig!

De collega's van het LDGA voor al jullie hulp, het beantwoorden van mijn vragen, jullie geduld als ik weer eens met samples kwam waar iets aparts mee moest gebeuren en alle leuke gesprekken tijdens de pauzes. Speciaal een bedankje voor de collega's van sectie Prenataal die de meeste, zo niet alle samples uit dit proefschrift wel voorbij hebben zien komen. Zonder jullie hulp, harde werk en enthousiasme zou dit proefschrift niet zijn wat het nu is.

Dan mijn paranimfen. Sahila, eind 2010 zijn we samen aan deze uitdaging begonnen. Dankzij al jouw voorwerk had ik een vliegende start. Ook al zijn onze wegen (en werkzaamheden) daarna wat verder uit elkaar gaan lopen, het stond al heel lang vast dat jij een van mijn paranimfen zou worden. En gelukkig zei je "ja"! En Nienke, mijn vraagbaak en ervaringsdeskundige wat betreft het promoveren. Bedankt voor al je feedback, adviezen en antwoorden op al mijn vragen. Vergeleken met jouw promotie zijn we voor deze een stuk minder op pad geweest. En al heeft het even geduurd, nu dan eindelijk zelf ook een keer paranimf. Fijn dat ook jij naast me staat vandaag.

Lieve familie en schoonfamilie, "mijn boekje" is eindelijk klaar. Bedankt voor al jullie interesse in de afgelopen jaren!

Pa en ma, ik weet dat jullie trots op me zijn. Ook al is het weer een behoorlijke reis, fijn dat jullie er vandaag weer bij zijn in dit voor jullie reeds bekende gebouw.

En tot slot Danny, mijn grote steun en toeverlaat. Promoveren is niet altijd even makkelijk. Fijn dat je daar altijd begrip voor hebt gehad. Bedankt voor je onvoorwaardelijke steun, positiviteit en optimisme, zeker tijdens het afgelopen jaar.



Appendices
Appendix 1: Confined placental mosaicism

Placental villi obtained with CVS can be analyzed by two distinct culturing methods. With a semi-direct method (short-term culture or STC) cells from the invading cytotrophoblast are analyzed. After culture (long-term culture or LTC) cells of the mesenchymal lineage are evaluated. Distinction between these two culturing methods and knowledge of the origin of the cells is very important for interpretation of the outcome of prenatal genetic testing on CVS material, since cells of different embryogenic progenitors are analyzed for chromosomal analysis of the fetus with these two distinct culturing methods (BIANCHI *et al.*, 1993). When culturing is successful and sufficient sample is provided, preferably a combination of both STC and LTC should be used to interpret prenatal findings.

In the majority of pregnancies the karyotype of the placental cells is similar to the karyotype of the fetus. However, in ~2% of the pregnancies studied by CVS a cytogenetic abnormality is found, most often a trisomy (KALOUSEK *et al.*, 1996). The existence of a discrepancy between the karyotype from chorionic tissue and embryonic/fetal tissue is caused by complex developmental events during early embryogenesis. When a trisomy is formed soon after fertilization before the trophoblast and the inner cell mass are differentiated, the discrepancy (or mosaic) can be generalized to both placenta and fetal tissues. When it is formed after the separation of the fetal and placental compartments, the abnormal tissue may be confined to either the placenta (**confined placental mosaicism** or **CPM**) or the fetus, but not necessarily to both tissues (SIMONI *et al.*, 1992). Therefore, in case of mosaicism it is very important to distinguish between a true fetal mosaicism (TFM) and CPM and confirmatory karyotyping on amniocytes is required to asses which type of mosaicism is present. Mosaicism can be classified according to the distribution of the abnormal cell line (Table 1) (GRATI, 2014).

Туре	Nature	Trophoblast (direct)	Mesenchyme (culture)	Amniocytes
I	СРМ	Abnormal	Normal	Normal
П	СРМ	Normal	Abnormal	Normal
	СРМ	Abnormal	Abnormal	Normal
IV	TFM	Abnormal	Normal	Abnormal
v	TFM	Normal	Abnormal	Abnormal
VI	TFM	Abnormal	Abnormal	Abnormal
Evaluated in:		CVS(STC)/ NIPT	CVS (LTC)	Amniocentesis

 Table 1: Different types of mosaic outcome: (CPM; confined placental mosaisicm, TFM; true fetal mosaicism) found after chorionic villous and amniocytes karyotyping. Adapted from (GRATI, 2014).

Since cffDNA is derived from trophoblast cells, the presence of a possible CPM can also influence results of noninvasive prenatal testing (NIPT) for common fetal aneuploidies. Due to feto-placental mosaicism potential false positive (CPM type I or III) and false negative (TFM type V) results may occur for mosaics in which the trophoblast is cytogenetically discrepant from the fetus. Even though a discrepancy between karyotypes occurs only in around 2% of the cases, in the majority of cases, the mosaicism is confined to the placenta (i.e. CPM type I, ~35%). CPM type III and TFM type V are found in around 10% and 6% of the cases respectively (GRATI, 2014). For NIPT, additional genetic analysis of either amniocytes or a combination of STC and LTC is therefore required to determine fetal karyotype in case of an aberrant result.

Appendix 2: Epigenetic allelic ratio, haplotype ratio analysis and relative mutation dosage.

Analysis of the epigenetic allelic ratio (EAR) is a method to assess copy number of a particular chromosome of interest for fetal aneuploidy detection by determining the ratio of an informative single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) on fetal alleles. This SNP is present within a fetal specific amplified DNA molecule in a differentially methylated region (DMSR) on the chromosome of interest. Bisulfite converted DNA samples are amplified with methylation specific PCR (MSP). Subsequently, methylation differences are assessed with allele-specific primer extension. This primer extension utilizes internal primers which anneal to a PCR-generated template and terminate immediately 5' adjacent to the informative single base variation (GONZALGO *et al.*, 1997). Extension of these allele specific primers can distinguish between an allele with a nucleotide that is not affected by the conversion (allele A) and an allele with a polymorphism that is affected by the bisulfite conversion (allele B with an unmethylated cytosine (C) which is converted into a thymidine). The extension reactions are designed to generate products of distinct masses (and thus distinct peaks) when analyzing the alleles with Mass Spectrometry.

In euploid fetuses there are equal amounts of allele A and B. Therefore, the theoretical relative peak frequency of allele A and B is both 50% (or 0.5). The EAR can subsequently be calculated by dividing the relative peak frequency of A by the relative peak frequency of B (1). Hence, for euploid fetuses, the EAR is 1.

In case of a fetus with a trisomy, instead of two alleles, three alleles are present. Moreover, there is an overrepresentation of one of these alleles (e.g. either allele A (AAB) or allele B (ABB)). For AAB, there is twice the amount of A alleles contributing to the total amount of three alleles (e.g. twice as much A compared to B). Therefore, the contribution of A relative to the total amounts of alleles is 2 out of 3 (i.e. 67% or 0.67), while relative the B allele is present in only 1 of the 3 alleles (i.e. a relative peak frequency of 33% or 0.33 for B). Therefore, the EAR for AAB is 2 (i.e. 0.67/0.33). In case a fetal trisomy with only one A allele and two B alleles (i.e. ABB), the relative contribution for A is 0.33 and 0.67 for B, resulting in an EAR for ABB of 0.5 (i.e. 0.33/0.67). An EAR that has deviated from 1 (i.e. euploid fetus) is indicative for a fetal trisomy. Adapted from (TONG *et al.*, 2006).

(1)
$$EAR = \frac{Relative \ peak \ frequency \ A}{Relative \ peak \ frequency \ B}$$

Another method for fetal aneuploidy detection is the determination of the **haplotype ratio** (HR). In HR analysis only highly heterozygous tandem SNPs on the chromosomes of interest exhibiting three different alleles (haplotypes) are considered informative (i.e. two different maternal alleles and a third distinctive paternally inherited fetal allele) (**Fig. 1**). In contrast to EAR, for HR it is not required to have SNPs only present in DMR, since this method is not based on differences in methylation.

For HR, first Multiplexed Linear Amplification (MLA) is performed on DNA from maternal buccal swaps. This linear amplification product is used as a template in a "sequence specific" PCR and Cycling Temperature Capillary Electrophoresis (CTCE). When results of the maternal buccal swaps indicate that the maternal tandem SNP status is homozygous, the SNPs are not informative. When the maternal SNPs are heterozygous, maternal plasma can be processed similar to the maternal buccal DNA and analyzed subsequently. Fetal chromosome dosage can

be determined by calculating HR using the area under the curve of the three distinct peaks (p1, p2 and p3) in the electropherogram after CTCE (8). As a control, gDNA from maternal buccal swabs or maternal lymphocytes is analyzed and compared to the mixed profile of both mother and fetus in maternal plasma (**Fig. 1**). The maternal contribution to the fetal haplotype can be (quantitatively) compared to the paternally inherited haplotype (yellow peaks) to determine fetal aneuploidy status. In **Fig. 1**, each peak is schematically represented as a triangle and represents one haplotype; either only from the mother (e.g. no fetal contribution; white), only the fetus (e.g. the paternally inherited haplotype; only yellow) or a shared haplotype between mother and fetus (white and yellow). In a maternal plasma sample from a mother carrying a euploid fetus, the presence of three different alleles are informative (Figure 1 A and B). There is a unique non-shared maternal haplotype (white), a haplotype that is shared between mother and fetus (white and yellow) and a distinct unique paternally inherited haplotype (yellow). In a euploid fetus the paternally inherited peak p3 is equal to the relative difference between p1 and p2, resulting in HR = 1 (2). Both maternal and paternal contribution to the fetal genotype is equal.



Figure 1: Theoretical CTCE electropherogram output from maternal buccal swab and maternal plasma using tandem SNP analysis. Adapted from (GHANTA et al., 2010).

In case of a plasma sample from a mother carrying a fetus with a trisomy, the CTCE electropherogram shows an uneven contribution between paternal (p3) and maternal haplotypes (p1 and/or p2) of the fetus. Fetal trisomy can be caused either by a familial form (e.g. Robersonian translocation) or, in the majority of cases, by a meiotic nondisjunction event. A normale gamete (ovum or sperm) has one copy of each chromosome, containing 23 chromosomes in total (n). With nondisjunction, chromosomes fail to separate normally, resulting in a gain or loss of a chromosome in a gamete.

(2)
$$HR = \frac{(|p1 - p2|)}{p3}$$

Nondisjunction can occur both in mitosis and meiosis. Failure of sister chromatids to separate during mitosis may lead to mosaicism. Failure of a pair of homologue chromosomes to separate in meiosis I (i.e. primary nondisjunction) will result in both members of this homologues pair to be present into the same daughter cell (Fig. 2 left) resulting in a fertilized egg with an abnormal number of chromosomes (i.e. aneuploidy). Failure of the sister chromatids to separate during meiosis II (i.e. secondary nondisjunction) will result in both daughter chromosomes going into the same gamete, also resulting in an abnormal number of chromosome in the fertilized cell (Fig. 2 right).



Figure 2: Nondisjunction occurring at meiosis I (left) and meiosis II (right). Nondisjunction in meiosis I will lead to two gametes with an extra chromosome (n+1) and two gametes with a missing chromosome (n-1). After fertilization this will result in a trisomy or monosomy respectively. Nondisjunction in meiosis II will lead to two normal gametes (n) and two abnormal gametes with either an extra chromosome (n+1) or missing one chromosome (n-1).

In case of fetal trisomy, the CTCE plots can also provide information about whether primary or secondary nondisjunction has occurred. When both maternal haplotypes (p1 and p2) are shared in the fetus, nondisjunction occurred during maternal meiosis I. The HR value for maternal meiosis I equals 0 (p1 = p2; therefore the relative difference between p1 and p2 = 0) (Figure 1 C). With secondary maternal nondisjunction, three alleles with different areas are reported whereas p1 or p2 is equal to twice the area of p3, resulting in HR = 2 (Figure 1 D). Adapted from (GHANTA *et al.*, 2010)

In addition to previous described methods used for fetal aneuploidy detection, also digital PCR can be used for fetal aneuploidy detection to determine the relative overrepresentation of a chromosome by calculating relative chromosome dosage (RCD). With RCD the total copy number of a chromosome is assessed in a sample to determine whether this chromosome is overrepresented when compared to a reference chromosome. However, the use of digital PCR is not only restricted to fetal aneuploidy detection in NIPT. Similar to RCD, the principle of digital relative mutation dosage (RMD) can also be applied to NIPD of monogenic diseases. With digital RMD it is no longer required to test only for paternally inherited mutations or fetal sequences that are different (e.g. methylated *RASSF1A*) or absent (e.g. *SRY*) in the mother. With RMD it is possible to compare and measure relative amounts of both the maternal mutant (M) and wild type alleles (N) in maternal plasma to determine the inherited dosage of the mutant allele by the fetus (**Fig. 3**). Therefore, it is no longer necessary to distin-

guish between fetal and maternal sequences. Digital RMD, performed by digital PCR, determines whether the M or N alleles are in balance in maternal plasma (**Fig. 3**). When a pregnant woman and her fetus are both heterozygous for a certain mutation, the amounts of the M allele and N allele are in balance (M=N). When the fetus is homozygous for the mutation, there will be an over-representation of the mutant allele (M>N). When the fetus is wild type, there will be an under-representation of the mutant allele (M<N) in the RMD. Adapted from (CHIU *et al.*, 2009; LUN *et al.*, 2008b).



Figure 3: Relative mutation dosage of mutant (M) and normal (N) wild type alleles. Adapted from (CHIU et al., 2009)

Appendix 3: Calculations for trisomy detection

Relative sequence tag density (RSTD):

Shotgun sequencing of numerous of short cfDNA sequences produced after massive parallel sequencing (MPS) are mapped to the chromosome of origin. For each chromosome, these short sequence fragments or reads are counted and summed. In addition, the median of these summed reads from all the autosomes was calculated. To correct for input, for each sample the sum of the reads per chromosome is normalized by dividing this value by the median of all autosomes; the sequence tag density (STD). Male plasma samples or maternal plasma samples from women carrying male euploid fetuses can be used as a reference. STD was also calculated for the controls or reference samples, by first calculating the average of summed tags per chromosome from all reference samples. Subsequently, the median is determined over the values of the autosomes. The average of summed tags per chromosome is normalized by dividing this number by the median value of the autosomes (3). Relative sequence tag density (RSTD) can be determined for each sample by calculating ratios between normalized value per chromosome from each maternal plasma sample and normalized value per chromosome form (FAN *et al.*, 2008).

By determining these ratios, the over- or underrepresentation of any chromosome in maternal plasma contributed by an aneuploidy fetus can be detected. This method does not

require the differentiation between maternal and fetal sequence tags. When a woman carries a healthy fetus, both mother and fetus have 2 copies of each autosome. The RSTD between the normalized value for each autosome as compared to the normalized value of the controls is therefore ~1.

(3) Normalized chr N =
$$\frac{\sum tags chr N}{median autosomes}$$

(4)
$$RSTD = \frac{Normalized \ chr \ N_{sample}}{Normalized \ chr \ N_{controls}}$$

A fetus with a trisomy (e.g. trisomy 21) has an additional copy of chromosome 21 as compared to mother. Theoretically, the RSTD of chromosome 21 between mother and this affected fetus would be 1.5 (e.g. the mother has 2 copies of chromosome 21 while the fetus has 3 copies). However, in maternal plasma, the fetal contribution to cfDNA in maternal plasma is only ~10% in the first trimester. Therefore, the RSTD for a plasma sample from a fetus with trisomy 21 is expected to be between 1 and 1.5 due to the relatively small contribution of the additional fetal chromosome 21 as compared to the maternal background (**Table 2**).

Sample	Fetal DNA content	↑ chr 21 (21)	↑ chr 21 (fold)
CVS	100 %	50 %	1.5
Maternal plasma	~10 %	5 %	1.05

 Table 2: Theoretical example of fold increase of chromosome 21 in fetal trisomy 21 in gDNA from chorionic villus sampling (CVS) and maternal plasma.

Z-scores:

In fetal trisomy detection, the Z-score refers to the number of standard deviations that the percentage of reads from a particular chromosome in a test sample differs from the mean % of that particular chromosome in a reference data set. Such reference set contains plasma samples from pregnancies of women carrying euploid fetuses. The advantage of a reference set and reference values is that they have to be established only once for a certain run setting. It is therefore no longer required to run control samples together with unknown samples.

For Z-score calculations, first the % representation of unique sequences mapped to a chromosome is calculated by dividing the number of unique count for chromosome N (chr N) by the total counts from that sample (5). Subsequently, the difference between % chr N (x) and the mean % of chr N (μ) in the reference set is determined and divided by the standard deviation (SD; σ) of the % chr N in the reference set to determine the Z score for chromosome N (6). With this Z-score, disease status of the fetus is determined by looking at the overrepresentation of a certain chromosome. For example, a maternal plasma sample with a % chr 21 that is > 3 SD from the mean of the % chr 21 of the euploid reference set is considered to be a fetal trisomy 21 (Adapted from (CHIU *et al.*, 2008) and ISPD preconference NGS Course, 2012).

(5)
$$\% chr N = \frac{Unique \ count \ for \ chr \ N}{Total \ unique \ count}$$

 $chr N Z - score for test sample = \frac{\% chr N_{sample} - mean \% chr N_{reference}}{SD \% chr N_{reference}}$ (6)

Or

$$Z = \frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}$$

NCV:

Normalized chromosome value (NCV) calculations are based on correction for the intrarun and interrun sequencing variation in the chromosomal distribution of sequence reads. These variations may obscure the effects of fetal aneuploidy on the distribution of mapped sequence sites. For NCV calculations, a chromosome ratio is calculated (7), in which the count of mapped sites for the chromosome of interest is normalized to counts of another predetermined chromosome (or set of chromosomes) of the same sample (8); Modified from (SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011).

Sehnert *et al.* used a training set, consisting of pregnancies with unaffected fetuses. For each chromosomes of interest (e.g. chr 13, 18, and 21) they determined the denominator chromosome that minimized the variation of the chromosome ratios within and between the runs (**Table 3**). They also used the training set to determine parameters and boundaries for sample classification (i.e.. mean, SD and NCV classification). An NCV > 4.0 classifies the chromosome as affected (i.e. aneuploidy for that chromosome). An NCV < 2.5 classifies the chromosome as unaffected. Samples with an NCV between 2.5 and 4.0 were classified as "no call". Similar to Z-score calculations, this method does not require additional control sample to be sequenced together with maternal plasma samples when all parameters and boundaries have been established. Adapted and modified from (SEHNERT *et al.*, 2011).

(7)
$$ratio chr N = \frac{\# reads_{numerator}}{\# reads_{denominator}}$$

(8)

MOV obs $M = 1$	$ratio chr N - mean \ ratio_{trainingset}$
$N \cup V \cup U \cap N = 1$	$SD \; ratio_{trainingset}$

Chromosome of interest	Numerator (chromosome mapped sites)	Denominator (chromosome mapped sites)
21	21	9
18	18	8
13	13	Sum (2-6)

Table 3: Numerator and denominator combinations for noninvasive trisomy detection.

Note: Determination of appropriate control groups and calculation methods that have been addressed in Appendix 3 were used for fetal aneuploidy detection as described in chapters 3 and 4.

